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IMMUNOGEN, INC.

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
AS OF SEPTEMBER 30, 2003 AND JUNE 30, 2003

 

  

September 30,
2003

 

June 30,
2003

 

  
(Unaudited)

   

      
ASSETS

     

Cash and cash equivalents
 

$ 5,450,276
 

$ 10,132,389
 

Marketable securities
 

101,892,139
 

91,140,757
 

Accounts receivable
 

795,680
 

674,458
 

Unbilled revenue
 

1,887,276
 

105,351
 

Inventory, net
 

5,592,056
 

5,620,713
 

Prepaid and other current assets, net
 

583,711
 

978,723
 

Total current assets
 

116,201,138
 

108,652,391
 

      
Property and equipment, net

 

9,149,657
 

9,045,847
 

Other assets
 

333,700
 

333,700
 

Total assets
 

$ 125,684,495
 

$ 118,031,938
 

      
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

     

Accounts payable
 

$ 1,282,398
 

$ 148,888
 

Accrued compensation
 

924,946
 

392,201
 

Other current accrued liabilities
 

1,849,023
 

2,514,824
 

Current portion of deferred revenue
 

4,585,933
 

2,754,799
 

Total current liabilities
 

8,642,300
 

5,810,712
 

      
Deferred revenue

 

18,482,552
 

9,495,545
 

Other long term liabilities
 

57,514
 

46,551
 

Total liabilities
 

27,182,366
 

15,352,808
 

      
Stockholders’ equity:

     

Common stock, $.01 par value; authorized 75,000,000 shares; issued and outstanding 44,264,825 shares and
44,261,334 shares as of September 30, 2003 and June 30, 2003

 

442,648
 

442,613
 

Additional paid-in capital
 

317,048,421
 

317,035,931
 

Treasury stock
 

(11,071,417) (11,071,417)
Accumulated deficit

 

(207,985,168) (203,858,754)
Accumulated other comprehensive income

 

67,645
 

130,757
 

Total stockholders’ equity
 

98,502,129
 

102,679,130
 

Total liabilities and stockholders’ equity
 

$ 125,684,495
 

$ 118,031,938
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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IMMUNOGEN, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2003 AND 2002

(UNAUDITED)
 

  

Three Months Ended
September 30,

 

  
2003

 
2002

 

      
Revenues:

     

Clinical materials reimbursement
 

$ 1,948,700
 

$ 826,269
 

Research and development support
 

1,207,681
 

—
 

License fees and milestone payments
 

646,326
 

1,479,671
 

Development fees
 

87,476
 

40,370
 

      
   



Total revenues 3,890,183 2,346,310
      
Expenses:

     

Cost of clinical materials reimbursed
 

1,758,809
 

752,396
 

Research and development
 

4,771,367
 

4,109,351
 

General and administrative
 

1,834,223
 

1,742,374
 

      
Total expenses

 

8,364,399
 

6,604,121
 

      
Loss from operations

 

(4,474,216) (4,257,811)
      

Interest income, net
 

379,372
 

892,407
 

Net realized gains (losses) on investments
 

(21,873) 153,450
 

Other income
 

593
 

12,692
 

      
Loss before income tax expense

 

(4,116,124) (3,199,262)
      

Income tax expense
 

10,290
 

22,275
 

      
Net loss

 

$ (4,126,414) $ (3,221,537)
      
Basic and diluted net loss per common share

 

$ (0.10) $ (0.08)
      
Basic and diluted weighted average common shares outstanding

 

40,589,012
 

42,825,811
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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IMMUNOGEN, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE THREE MONTHS ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2003 AND 2002

(UNAUDITED)

  
Three Months Ended September 30,

 

  
2003

 
2002

 

      
Cash flows from operating activities:

     

Net loss
 

$ (4,126,414) $ (3,221,537)
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by (used for) operating activities:

     

Depreciation and amortization
 

229,287
 

285,072
 

(Gain) loss on sale of marketable securities
 

21,873
 

(153,450)
Compensation for stock options, stock and stock units

 

21,463
 

11,994
 

Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
     

Accounts receivable
 

(121,222) (547,406)
Unbilled revenue

 

(1,781,925) 117,497
 

Inventory
 

28,657
 

(1,228,146)
Prepaid and other current assets

 

395,012
 

(590,019)
Other assets

 

—
 

(290,000)
Accounts payable

 

1,133,510
 

178,423
 

Accrued compensation
 

532,745
 

(1,143,733)
Other current accrued liabilities

 

(665,801) 1,552,066
 

Deferred revenue
 

10,818,141
 

(784,289)
Net cash provided by (used for) operating activities

 

6,485,326
 

(5,813,528)
      
Cash flows from investing activities:

     

Proceeds from maturities or sales of marketable securities
 

91,428,415
 

92,059,231
 

Purchases of marketable securities
 

(102,264,782) (82,045,418)
Capital expenditures

 

(333,097) (797,803)
Deposit on construction in progress

 

—
 

(1,850,000)
Net cash provided by (used for) investing activities

 

(11,169,464) 7,366,010
 

      
Cash flows from financing activities:

     

Repurchases of common stock
 

—
 

(2,546,112)
Proceeds from stock options exercised

 

2,025
 

—
 

Net cash provided by (used for) financing activities
 

2,025
 

(2,546,112)
      
Net change in cash and cash equivalents

 

(4,682,113) (993,630)
      
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning balance

 

10,132,389
 

16,233,408
 

      
Cash and cash equivalents, ending balance

 

$ 5,450,276
 

$ 15,239,778
 

      
Supplemental disclosure:

     
   



Cash paid for income taxes $ — $ 29,000
      
Non cash activities:

     

Repurchases of common stock included in other accrued liabilities
 

$ —
 

$ 572,602
 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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IMMUNOGEN, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
 

A.             Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
 
Basis of Presentation
 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements at September 30, 2003 and June 30, 2003 and for the three-month periods ended September 30,
2003 and 2002 include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries, ImmunoGen Securities Corp. and Apoptosis Technology, Inc. (ATI). Although the
consolidated financial statements are unaudited, they include all of the adjustments, consisting only of normal recurring adjustments, which management
considers necessary for a fair presentation of the Company’s financial position in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States for interim financial information. Certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in the Company’s annual financial statements have
been condensed or omitted. The preparation of interim financial statements requires the use of management’s estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the interim financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenditures during the reported period. The results of the interim periods are not necessarily indicative of the results for the entire
year. Accordingly, the interim financial statements should be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements and notes thereto included in the
Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended June 30, 2003.
 
Revenue Recognition
 

The Company enters into out-licensing and development agreements with collaborative partners for the development of monoclonal antibody-based
cancer therapeutics. The terms of the agreements typically include non-refundable license fees, payments based upon the achievement of certain milestones
and royalties on product sales.

 
The Company has the following four types of collaborative contracts with the counterparties identified below:
 
•                  Shared product license - the Company retains commercial rights worldwide excluding the European Union and Japan:
 

Vernalis plc (formerly British Biotech plc, see further discussion in Note D)
 

•                  License to a single target antigen (single target license):
 

Genentech, Inc.
 
Boehringer Ingelheim International GmbH
 
Millennium Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
 

•                  Broad option agreements to acquire a specific number of licenses over a specified time period (broad license):
 

Genentech, Inc.
 
Abgenix, Inc.
 
Millennium Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
 

•                  Broad agreement to discover, develop and commercialize antibody-based anticancer product candidates:
 

Aventis Pharmaceuticals, Inc.
 

Excluding the shared product license agreement and the agreement with Aventis, all of these collaboration agreements provide that the Company will (i)
manufacture preclinical and clinical materials for its collaborators, at the collaborators’ request and cost, (ii) receive payments upon the collaborators’
achievements of certain milestones and (iii) receive royalty
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payments, generally until the later of the last applicable patent expiration or 12 years after product launch.  The Company is required to provide technical
training and any process improvements and know-how to its collaborators during the term of the collaboration agreements.  Practically, once a collaborator
receives U. S. Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approval for any drug and the manufacturing process used to produce the drug, the collaborator will not
be able to incorporate any process improvements or know-how into its manufacturing process without additional testing and review by the FDA. 
Accordingly, the Company believes that it is unlikely that its collaborators will require the Company’s services subsequent to FDA approval.

 



Generally, upfront payments on single target licenses are deferred over the period of the Company’s substantial involvement during development. 
ImmunoGen employees are available to assist the Company’s collaborators during the development of their products.  The Company estimates this
development phase to begin at the inception of the contract and conclude when the product receives FDA approval.  The Company believes this period of
involvement is, on average, six years.  At each reporting period, the Company analyzes individual product facts and circumstances and reviews the estimated
period of its substantial involvement to determine whether a significant change in its estimates has occurred and adjusts the deferral period accordingly to
reflect any such change. In the event that a single target license were terminated, the Company would recognize as revenue any portion of the upfront fee that
had not previously been recorded as revenue, but was classified as deferred revenue at the date of such termination.

 
The Company defers upfront payments received from its broad option agreements over the period during which the collaborator may elect to receive a

license.  These periods are specific to each collaboration agreement, but are between seven and 12 years.  If a collaborator selects an option to acquire a
license under these agreements, any option fee is deferred and recorded over the life of the option, generally 12 to 18 months.  If a collaborator exercises an
option and the Company grants a single target license to the collaborator, the Company defers the license fee and accounts for the fee as it would an upfront
payment on a single target collaboration agreement, as discussed above.  In the event that a broad option agreement were terminated, the Company would
recognize as revenue any portion of the upfront fee that had not previously been recorded as revenue, but was classified as deferred revenue at the date of
such termination.

 
The Company’s shared product license collaboration with Vernalis, the entity created by the merger of British Biotech and Vernalis, provides for an

upfront payment to ImmunoGen that was paid upon signing of the agreement.  The agreement also stipulates that upon FDA approval, ImmunoGen will pay
Vernalis, as successor in interest to British Biotech, a milestone payment, which ImmunoGen expects will exceed the upfront payment the Company
received.  The Company has deferred the upfront payment and anticipates recognizing such revenue concurrent with the milestone payment that the Company
is required to pay to Vernalis if and when the product receives such FDA approval.  In the event that the product does not receive such FDA approval, the
Company will record as revenue the non-refundable upfront payment previously received upon the termination of the license agreement.  The shared product
license also provides that ImmunoGen (i) will manufacture preclinical and clinical materials for Vernalis, at Vernalis’ request and cost, excluding certain
antibody costs that ImmunoGen has agreed to pay, and (ii) receive royalty payments until the last applicable patent expiration or 10 years after product
launch.

 
The Company’s discovery, development and commercialization agreement with Aventis provides for an upfront payment of $12.0 million that Aventis

paid to ImmunoGen in August 2003.  The Company deferred the upfront payment and will record it ratably over the period of the Company’s substantial
involvement. The Company estimates this period to be five years, which includes the term of the collaborative research program in addition to two 12-month
extensions that Aventis may exercise.  The discovery, development and commercialization agreement also provides that ImmunoGen will (i) receive
committed research funding over a three-year period; (ii) manufacture preclinical and clinical materials for Aventis, at Aventis’ request and cost; (iii) receive
payments upon the collaboration’s and/or Aventis’ achievements of certain milestones; and (iv) receive royalty payments until the last applicable patent
expiration or 12 years after product launch.  The committed funding is based upon resources that ImmunoGen is required to contribute to the collaboration. 
The Company records the research funding as it is earned based upon its actual resources utilized in the collaboration.

 
When milestone payments are specifically tied to a separate earnings process, revenue is recognized when the milestone is achieved.  In addition, when

appropriate, the Company recognizes revenue from certain research payments based upon the level of research services performed during the period of the
research contract.  Deferred revenue represents amounts received under collaborative agreements and not yet earned pursuant to these policies.  Where the
Company has no continuing involvement, the Company will record non-refundable license fees as revenue upon receipt and will record milestone revenue
upon achievement of the milestone by the collaborative partner.

 
The Company may produce preclinical and clinical materials for its collaborators and, at the collaborators’ request, may perform process development

work.  The Company also produces preclinical material for potential collaborators under material
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transfer agreements.  Generally, the Company is reimbursed for its fully burdened cost of producing these materials or providing these services.  The
Company recognizes revenue on preclinical and clinical materials when it has shipped the materials, the materials have passed all quality testing required for
collaborator acceptance and title has transferred to the collaborator.  The Company recognizes revenue on process development services as those services are
performed.

 
Marketable Securities
 

In accordance with the Company’s investment policy, surplus cash is invested in investment-grade corporate and U.S. Government debt securities, asset-
backed and United States government agency securities, banknotes and commercial paper, typically with maturity dates of less than two years.  The Company
designates its marketable securities as available-for-sale securities.  The Company classifies all such securities as current assets since the Company has the
ability to use such securities to satisfy current liabilities.  Marketable securities are carried at their fair value with unrealized gains and losses included in
Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income.  Realized gains and losses and declines in value judged to be other than temporary, if any, on available-for-sale
securities are reported as realized gains or losses on investments. In determining realized gains or losses on the sale of marketable securities, the cost of
securities sold is based on the specific identification method.

 
Unbilled Revenue
 

The majority of the Company’s Unbilled Revenue at September 30, 2003 represents (i) committed research funding earned based on actual resources
utilized under the Company’s discovery, development and commercialization agreement with Aventis; and (ii) clinical materials that have passed quality
testing, that the Company has shipped and title has transferred to the collaborator, but the Company has not yet invoiced.  As of June 30, 2003, the majority of
the Company’s Unbilled Revenue represents clinical materials that have passed quality testing, that the Company has shipped and title has transferred to the
collaborator, but the Company has not yet invoiced.  Also included in Unbilled Revenue are costs the Company has incurred in completing development work
on behalf of its collaborators but has not yet invoiced.

 
Inventory
 

Inventory costs primarily relate to clinical trial materials being manufactured for the Company’s collaborators. Inventory is stated at the lower of cost or
market.



 
Inventory at September 30, 2003 and June 30, 2003 is summarized below:

 

  

September 30,
2003

 

June 30,
2003

 

      
Raw materials, net

 

$ 3,402,837
 

$ 3,299,536
 

Work in process
 

1,738,640
 

1,870,598
 

Finished goods, net
 

450,579
 

450,579
 

Total
 

$ 5,592,056
 

$ 5,620,713
 

 
Included in inventory is a valuation allowance of $872,000 and $1.2 million as of September 30, 2003 and June 30, 2003, respectively.  The valuation

allowance represents the cost of DM1 that the Company considers to be excess based on current collaborator firm fixed orders and projections and the cost of
huN901-DM1 conjugate produced for Vernalis that the Company is required to pay pursuant to the terms of the amended license agreement.

 
DM1, the Company’s most advanced small molecule effector drug, is the cytotoxic agent used in all of its current TAP product candidates and the subject

of most of its collaborations. One of the primary components required to manufacture DM1 is its precursor, ansamitocin P3. Once manufactured, the
ansamitocin P3 is then converted to DM1.

 
In fiscal 2002, the Company entered into several agreements with two outside vendors to perform large-scale manufacture of DM1 and ansamitocin P3. 

Under the terms of these agreements, the manufacturers, together with the Company, will improve the fermentation and conversion processes used to generate
ansamitocin P3 and DM1, respectively.  Pursuant to these agreements, the two outside vendors will also manufacture, under current Good Manufacturing
Processes, large-scale batches of ansamitocin P3 and DM1 to be used in the manufacture of both the Company’s and its collaborators’ products.  Once
manufactured, the ansamitocin P3 is delivered from one vendor to the other vendor for conversion to DM1.
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The actual amount of ansamitocin P3 and DM1 that will be produced is highly uncertain.  The Company currently anticipates that a significant amount of

ansamitocin P3 and DM1 will be manufactured for the Company over the next two to four years at these manufacturers.  If the Company’s and the
manufacturers’ process development efforts are successful, the amount of ansamitocin P3 and/or DM1 produced could be higher than expected.  As a result,
the Company anticipates that its investment in ansamitocin P3 and DM1 will be significant.

 
The Company produces preclinical and clinical materials for its collaborators either in anticipation or in support of clinical trials or for process

development and analytical purposes.  Under the terms of supply agreements with two of its collaborators, the Company generally receives rolling six-month
firm fixed orders for conjugate that the Company is required to manufacture and rolling 12-month manufacturing projections for the quantity of conjugate the
collaborator expects to need in any given 12-month period.  The Company’s other collaborative agreements do not require that the collaborators provide firm
fixed manufacturing orders, although the collaborators provide the Company with their projected conjugate requirements.  The amount of clinical material
produced is directly related to the number of on-going clinical trials for which the Company is producing clinical material for its collaborators, the speed of
enrollment in those trials and the dosage schedule of each clinical trial.  As a result, the actual amount of conjugate that the Company manufactures can differ
significantly from the collaborators’ projections.  To the extent that a collaborator has provided the Company with a firm fixed order, the collaborator is
contractually required to reimburse the Company the full cost of the conjugate, and any margin thereon, even if the collaborator subsequently cancels the
manufacturing run.

 
The Company accounts for the DM1 and ansamitocin P3 inventory as follows:

 
a)              That portion of the DM1 and/or ansamitocin P3 that the Company intends to use in the production of its own products is expensed as incurred;
 
b)             To the extent that the Company has firm fixed orders or collaborator projections for no more than 12 months, the Company capitalizes the value of

DM1 and ansamitocin P3 that will be used in the production of conjugate subject to these firm fixed orders and/or projections;
 
c)              The Company considers more than a 12-month supply of ansamitocin P3 and/or DM1 that is not supported by collaborators’ firm fixed orders to be

excess.   The Company establishes a reserve to record any such excess ansamitocin P3 or DM1 inventory at its net realizable value or expenses as
received any such excess ansamitocin P3 or DM1 product received in any period; and

 
d)             The Company considers any other external factors and information of which it becomes aware and assesses the impact of such factors or information

on the net realizable value of the DM1 and ansamitocin P3 inventory at each reporting period.
 

At September 30, 2003, the Company’s on-hand supply of DM1 and ansamitocin P3, including $3.6 million of product received from the DM1
manufacturer and $562,000 of ansamitocin P3 held at its third party manufacturers, represented more than a 12-month supply based upon current collaborator
firm fixed orders and projections.  In the quarter ended September 30, 2003, the Company recorded as research and development expense $20,000 of amounts
paid or payable to the manufacturers of ansamitocin P3 and DM1 to produce material that the Company has identified as excess based upon the Company’s
inventory policy as described above. Any changes to the Company’s collaborators’ projections could result in significant changes in the Company’s estimate
of the net realizable value of DM1 and ansamitocin P3 inventory.  Reductions in collaborators’ projections could indicate that the Company has additional
excess DM1 and/or ansamitocin P3 inventory and the Company would then evaluate the need to record further valuation allowances, included as charges to
research and development, to record the DM1 and/or ansamitocin P3 inventory at its estimated net realizable value.

 
In April 2003, one of the Company’s collaborators informed ImmunoGen that the collaborator may explore alternative sources of ansamitocin P3 and/or

DM1.  In applying its inventory policy, the Company has included this collaborator’s firm fixed orders and 12-month order projections in the determination of
the Company’s 12-month supply of ansamitocin P3 and DM1.  At September 30, 2003, the Company believes that approximately $588,000 of its ansamitocin
P3 and/or DM1 inventory will be used to produce conjugate for this collaborator.  If the collaborator finds and elects to use an alternative source of
ansamitocin P3 and/or DM1, the Company will evaluate its inventory and, if necessary, will record an inventory valuation allowance to reduce to its net
realizable value any ansamitocin P3 or DM1 inventory identified as excess.  The Company is unable to determine when, if ever, the collaborator would be
able to secure an alternative source of ansamitocin P3 and/or DM1.
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Computation of Net Loss Per Common Share
 

Basic and diluted net loss per common share is calculated based upon the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period.
Diluted net loss per common share incorporates the dilutive effect of stock options, warrants and other convertible securities. As of September 30, 2003 and
2002, the total number of options, warrants and other securities convertible into ImmunoGen Common Stock and ImmunoGen Common Stock equivalents, as
calculated in accordance with the treasury-stock accounting method, are included in the following table:
 

  
September 30,

 

  
2003

 
2002

 

Options, warrants and other securities convertible into Common Stock
 

5,360,109
 

5,290,880
 

      
Common Stock equivalents

 

1,407,593
 

813,556
 

 
ImmunoGen Common Stock equivalents have not been included in the net loss per common share calculations for the three months ended September 30,

2003 and 2002 because their effect is anti-dilutive.
 

Comprehensive Loss
 
The Company presents comprehensive loss in accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 130, “Reporting

Comprehensive Income.” For the three months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002, total comprehensive loss equaled $4.2 million and $3.0 million,
respectively. Comprehensive loss was comprised entirely of the change in unrealized gains and losses recognized on available-for-sale marketable securities.

 
Stock-Based Compensation

 
In accounting for its stock-based compensation plans, the Company applies Accounting Principles Board Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued

to Employees” (APB 25), and related interpretations for all awards granted to employees.  Had compensation costs for the Company’s stock based employee
compensation been determined based on the fair value at the grant dates as calculated in accordance with SFAS No. 123, “Accounting for Stock Based
Compensation” (SFAS 123), the Company’s basic and diluted net loss per common share for the three months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002 would
have been adjusted to the pro forma amounts indicated below:

 
  

Three Months Ended September 30,
 

  
2003

 
2002

 

Net loss, as reported
 

$ (4,126,414) $ (3,221,537)
      
Add: Total stock-based compensation expense determined under the intrinsic value

method for all employee awards
 

3,464
 

—
 

      
Deduct: Total stock-based compensation expense determined under the fair value

method for all employee awards
 

(1,697,395) (1,677,697)
      
Pro forma net loss

 

$ (5,820,345) $ (4,899,234)
      
Basic and diluted net loss per common share, as reported

 

$ (0.10) $ (0.08)
      
Basic and diluted net loss per common share, pro forma

 

$ (0.14) $ (0.11)
 

The fair value of each stock option is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the following weighted average
assumptions:
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Three Months Ended September 30,
 

  
2003

 
2002

 

Dividend
 

None
 

None
 

Volatility
 

96.69% 101.8%
Risk-free interest rate

 

3.115% 3.183%
Expected life (years)

 

5.5
 

5.5
 

 
Using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model, the weighted average fair value of options granted during the quarters ended September 30, 2003 and

2002 were $3.43 and $2.28, respectively.
 
The Black-Scholes option-pricing model was developed for use in estimating the fair value of traded options that have no vesting restrictions and are

fully transferable.  In addition, option-pricing models, including the Black-Scholes model, require the use of highly subjective assumptions, such as the
expected stock price volatility.  Because the Company’s employee stock options have characteristics significantly different from those of traded options, and
because changes in the subjective assumptions can materially affect the fair value estimates, in management’s opinion, the Black-Scholes and other existing
models do not necessarily provide a reliable single measure of the fair value of its employee stock-based compensation.

 
Recent Accounting Pronouncements
 

In December 2002, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) issued SFAS 148, “Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation — Transition and
Disclosure — An Amendment of SFAS No. 123” (SFAS 148).  SFAS 148 amended SFAS 123 to provide alternative methods of transition for those
companies who voluntarily change to the fair value based method of accounting for stock-based employee compensation.  In addition, SFAS 148 amended the
disclosure requirements of SFAS 123 to require prominent disclosures in both the annual and interim financial statements about the method of accounting for



stock-based employee compensation and the effect of the method used on reported results.  The transition and annual disclosure provision of SFAS 148 were
effective for fiscal years ending after December 15, 2002.  The interim disclosure provision of SFAS 148 was effective for interim periods beginning after
December 15, 2002.  The Company has elected to continue to follow the intrinsic value method of accounting for stock-based compensation prescribed by
APB 25 for its stock-based compensation plans.  Under APB 25, no compensation expense is recognized unless the exercise price of employee stock options
is less than the market price of the underlying stock on the date of grant.  See Stock-Based Compensation, above, for the required disclosures under SFAS
148.

 
In November 2002, the FASB issued Emerging Issues Task Force (EITF) Issue No. 00-21, “Revenue Arrangements with Multiple Deliverables.” EITF

Issue No. 00-21 addresses certain aspects of the accounting by a company for arrangements under which it will perform multiple revenue-generating
activities. EITF Issue No. 00-21 addresses when and how an arrangement involving multiple deliverables should be divided into separate units of accounting.
The provisions of EITF Issue No. 00-21 will apply to revenue arrangements entered into after June 30, 2003. The provisions of the EITF Issue No. 00-21 do
not impact the accounting treatment of the Company’s existing revenue arrangements. The Company’s adoption of EITF Issue No. 00-21 did not result in a
material change to its existing revenue recognition policy for revenue arrangements entered into on or after July 1, 2003. The Company’s adoption of EITF
Issue No. 00-21 did not have a material impact on its consolidated financial statements.

 
In May 2003, the FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instruments with Characteristics

of both Liabilities and Equity” (“SFAS 150”). SFAS 150 establishes standards for how an issuer classifies and measures certain financial instruments with
characteristics of both liabilities and equity and it requires that an issuer classify a financial instrument that is within its scope as a liability. The Company
adopted SFAS 150 in the quarter ended September 30, 2003.  The Company’s adoption of SFAS 150 did not have a material impact on its financial position or
results of operations.

 
B.            Agreements
 
In July 2003, the Company and Aventis Pharmaceuticals, Inc. entered into a broad collaboration agreement to discover, develop and commercialize

anticancer therapeutics. The agreement provides Aventis with worldwide commercialization rights to new product candidates created through the
collaboration as well as worldwide commercialization rights to three product candidates in ImmunoGen’s pipeline: huMy9-6-DM1, anti-IGF-IR antibody and
a third, unidentified product candidate for certain B-Cell malignancies.  The overall term of the agreement extends to the later of the latest patent to expire or
12 years after the latest launch of any product discovered, developed and/or commercialized under the agreement. The agreement provides that ImmunoGen
will receive a minimum of $50.7 million of committed research funding during a three-year research program.  Aventis has the option, with 12 months’
advance notice, to request that ImmunoGen extend the research program for two additional 12-month periods.  If Aventis requests to extend the research
program for one or both periods, the Company and Aventis will negotiate the research
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funding level for each such extension period at the time such extension is requested. If Aventis and ImmunoGen were to agree to extend the agreement for
each of the two 12-month periods and the research funding continued at the same level as in the final year of the original term of the agreement, ImmunoGen
would receive an additional $36.4 million of research funding. Aventis paid to ImmunoGen an upfront fee of $12.0 million in August 2003. The Company has
deferred the upfront fee and is recognizing it as revenue over the period of ImmunoGen’s substantial involvement. The Company estimates this period to be
five years, which includes the term of the collaborative research program in addition to two 12-month extensions that Aventis may exercise. The collaboration
agreement also provides for certain other payments based on the achievement of product candidate milestones and royalties on sales of any resulting products,
if and when such sales commence. Assuming all benchmarks are met, the Company will receive milestone payments of between $21.5 million and $30.0
million per antigen target.

 
The agreement provides ImmunoGen an option to certain co-promotion rights in the United States on a product-by-product basis. Aventis will be

responsible for product development, manufacturing, and commercialization, and will cover all associated costs for any products created through the
collaboration. ImmunoGen will be reimbursed for any preclinical and clinical materials that it makes under the agreement.

 
The terms of the Company’s collaboration agreement with Aventis place certain restrictions upon ImmunoGen.  Subject to the Company’s obligations

under its other collaboration agreements that were in effect at the time the Company signed the collaboration agreement with Aventis, (i) ImmunoGen may
only enter into a specified number of additional single target TAP collaboration agreements and (ii) during the term of the collaborative research program and
for a specified period thereafter, ImmunoGen is prohibited from entering into any single target license, other than with Aventis, utilizing the Company’s TAP
technology to bind any taxane effector molecule to any antibody.  Additionally, the terms of the collaboration agreement allow Aventis to elect to terminate
ImmunoGen’s participation in the research program and/or the Company’s co-promotion rights upon a change of control of ImmunoGen.

 
C.            Capital Stock
 

On August 27, 2002, the Company announced that, effective immediately, its Board of Directors had authorized the repurchase of up to 4.1 million
shares of the Company’s common stock. The repurchases are to be made at the discretion of management and as market conditions warrant. No time limit was
set for the completion of the repurchase program.  As of September 30, 2003, the Company had repurchased 3,675,062 shares of its common stock at a total
cost of $11.1 million.

 
Under the Company’s 2001 Non-Employee Director Stock Plan, approved in November 2001, the Company recorded $18,000 in compensation expense

related to the issuance of 2,022 stock units and 2,022 shares of stock for directors’ services rendered during the three months ended September 30, 2003.
 
During the three months ended September 30, 2003, a holder of options issued under the Company’s Restated Stock Option Plan exercised his or her

rights to acquire an aggregate of 800 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $2.53 per share.  The total proceeds from this option exercise, $2,025,
will be used to fund current operations.

D.            Subsequent Event
 

In July 2003, British Biotech announced its proposed acquisition of Vernalis.  In late August 2003, the acquisition was declared unconditional in all
respects after a significant majority of Vernalis’ shareholders accepted British Biotech’s tender offer.  In connection with the acquisition, the merged company
announced that it intended to review its merged product candidate portfolio.  On October 1, 2003, the entity created by the merger of British Biotech and
Vernalis, which is now called Vernalis plc, held its Annual General Meeting.  At its Annual General Meeting, and in the press release issued in connection



therewith, Vernalis announced that it had completed its product candidate portfolio review, and that, as a result of the review, it intends to discuss certain of its
collaborations with its partners, including its collaboration with ImmunoGen on huN901-DM1.  At September 30, 2003 the collaboration agreement remains
in full force and the Company believes that Vernalis does not currently have the right to unilaterally terminate the collaboration agreement.  Accordingly, the
Company believes that any modification of the collaboration agreement can only be effected by mutual negotiation of the parties.  The Company has
confirmed with Vernalis that, as of September 30, 2003, all ongoing clinical trials involving huN901-DM1 continued to enroll patients.
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ITEM 2.   Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
 
OVERVIEW

 
Since the Company’s inception, we have been principally engaged in the development of antibody-based cancer therapeutics and novel treatments in the

field of oncology. The combination of our expertise in antibodies and cancer has resulted in the generation of both proprietary products and technologies.  Our
lead proprietary, tumor-activated prodrug, or TAP, technology combines extremely potent, small-molecule drugs with monoclonal antibodies that recognize
and bind specifically to tumor cells. Our targeted delivery technology increases the potency of these cancer-specific antibodies, which allow our drugs to kill
cancer cells with minimal harm to healthy tissue. The cytotoxic agent we currently use in all of our TAP products is the maytansinoid DM1, a chemical
derivative of a naturally occurring substance called maytansine.  We also use our expertise in antibodies and cancer to develop other types of therapeutics,
such as naked antibody anticancer products.

 
We have entered into collaborative agreements that allow companies to use our TAP technology to develop commercial products containing their

antibodies.  We have also used our proprietary TAP technology in conjunction with our in-house antibody expertise to develop our own anticancer products. 
In July 2003, we announced a discovery, development and commercialization collaboration with Aventis Pharmaceuticals, Inc.  Under the terms of the
agreement, Aventis gains commercialization rights to three of the most advanced products in our preclinical pipeline and commercialization rights to certain
new products developed during the research program portion of the collaboration.  This collaboration allows us to access Aventis’ cancer targets and their
clinical development and commercialization capabilities.  We also licensed certain rights to huN901-DM1, an internally developed TAP product candidate, to
Vernalis (formerly British Biotech plc, see Note D to the financial statements for the quarter ended September 30, 2003, filed under Item 1 in this Form 10-Q,
for further discussion) in order to access their clinical development capabilities.  The terms of our collaborative agreements vary, reflecting the value we add
to the development of any particular product candidate; however, the agreements generally provide that we receive upfront and milestone payments, royalties
on sales of any resulting products and reimbursement of our fully burdened cost to manufacture preclinical and clinical materials.  Under certain agreements,
we receive our fully burdened cost to manufacture preclinical and clinical materials plus a profit margin.  Under the terms of the Aventis agreement, we also
are entitled to receive committed research funding of approximately $50.7 million during the three-year research program.  Should Aventis elect to exercise
its contractual right to extend the term of the research program, we will receive additional research funding.

 
Currently, our collaborative partners include Abgenix, Inc., Aventis, Boehringer Ingelheim International GmbH, Vernalis plc, Genentech, Inc., and

Millennium Pharmaceuticals, Inc. We expect that substantially all of our revenue for the foreseeable future will result from payments under our collaborative
arrangements. To date, we have not generated revenues from commercial product sales and we expect to incur significant operating losses over the
foreseeable future.  As of September 30, 2003, we had approximately $107.3 million in cash and marketable securities.  In August 2003, we received $12.0
million from Aventis, representing the non-refundable, upfront payment owed us upon the execution of our collaboration agreement.  We anticipate that our
current capital resources and future collaboration payments, including the $50.7 million of committed research funding due us under the Aventis agreement,
will enable us to meet our operational expenses and capital expenditures for at least the next five to seven fiscal years.

 
We do not anticipate that we will have a commercially approved product within the foreseeable future.  Research and development expenses are expected

to increase significantly in the near term as we continue our development efforts.  On July 23, 2002, we signed a sublease on approximately 15,000 square feet
of laboratory and office space in a building located at 148 Sidney Street, Cambridge, Massachusetts.
 

On August 27, 2002, we announced that our Board of Directors had authorized the open market repurchase of up to 4.1 million shares of ImmunoGen
common stock. The repurchases are to be made at the discretion of management and as market conditions warrant. No time limit was set for the completion of
the repurchase program.  As of September 30, 2003, the Company had repurchased 3,675,062 shares of its common stock at a total cost of $11.1 million. 
Because repurchases are at management’s discretion and subject to market conditions, we are unable to estimate the total cost of the repurchase program or
the period during which such repurchases may take place.

 
We anticipate that the increase in our total cash expenditures will be partially offset by collaboration-derived proceeds including milestone payments and

the committed research funding we will receive pursuant to the Aventis collaboration.  Accordingly, period-to-period operational results may fluctuate
dramatically.  We believe that our established collaborative agreements, while subject to specified milestone achievements, will provide funding to assist us in
meeting obligations under our collaborative agreements while also allowing for the development of internal product candidates and technologies.  However,
we can give no assurances that such collaborative agreement funding will, in fact, be realized. Should we or our partners not meet some or all of the terms and
conditions of our various collaboration agreements, we may be required to pursue additional strategic
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partners, secure alternative financing arrangements, and/or defer or limit some or all of our research, development and/or clinical projects.

 
Critical Accounting Policies
 

We prepare our consolidated financial statements in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States.  The preparation of
these financial statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses and
related disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities.  On an on-going basis, we evaluate our estimates, including those related to our collaborative agreements
and inventory.  We base our estimates on historical experience and various other assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

 



We believe the following critical accounting policies affect our more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated
financial statements.

 
Revenue Recognition
 

We estimate the period of our significant involvement during development for each of our collaborative agreements.  We recognize any upfront fees
received from our collaborators ratably over this estimated period of significant involvement.  We generally believe our period of significant involvement
occurs between the date we sign a collaboration agreement and projected FDA approval of our collaborators’ product that is the subject of the collaboration
agreement.  We estimate that this time period is generally six years.  The actual period of our involvement could differ significantly based upon the results of
our collaborators’ preclinical and clinical trials, competitive products that are introduced into the market and the general uncertainties surrounding drug
development.  Any difference between our estimated period of involvement during development and our actual period of involvement could have a material
effect upon our results of operations.
 
Inventory
 

We review our estimates of the net realizable value of our inventory at each reporting period.  Our estimate of the net realizable value of our inventory is
subject to judgment and estimation.  The actual net realizable value of our inventory could vary significantly from our estimates and could have a material
effect on our financial condition and results of operations in any reporting period.  We consider any DM1 or ansamitocin P3 raw material inventory in excess
of 12 months’ projected usage that is not supported by collaborators’ firm fixed orders to be excess.  We record any such raw material identified as excess at
its net realizable value.  Our estimate of 12 months’ usage of DM1 and ansamitocin P3 raw material inventory is based upon our collaborators’ estimates of
their future clinical material requirements.  Our collaborators’ estimates of their clinical material requirements are based upon expectations of their clinical
trials, including the timing, size, dosing schedule and maximum tolerated dose of each clinical trial.  Our collaborators’ actual requirements for clinical
materials may vary significantly from their projections. Significant differences between our collaborators’ actual manufacturing orders and their projections
could result in our actual 12 months’ usage of DM1 and ansamitocin P3 varying significantly from our estimated usage at an earlier reporting period.  During
the quarter ended September 30, 2003, we recorded as research and development expense $20,000 of amounts paid or payable to the manufacturers of
ansamitocin P3 and DM1 to produce material that we have identified as excess based upon our inventory policy.

 
In April 2003, one of our collaborators informed us that it may explore alternative sources of ansamitocin P3 and/or DM1.  In applying our inventory

policy, we included this collaborator’s 12-months’ projected usage in the determination of our 12-month supply of ansamitocin P3 and DM1.  At
September 30, 2003, we believe that approximately $588,000 of our ansamitocin P3 and/or DM1 inventory will be used to produce conjugate for this
collaborator.  If the collaborator finds and elects to use an alternative source of ansamitocin P3 and/or DM1, we will evaluate our inventory and, if necessary,
will record an inventory valuation allowance to reduce to its net realizable value any ansamitocin P3 or DM1 inventory identified as excess.  We are unable to
determine when, if ever, the collaborator would be able to secure an alternative source of ansamitocin P3 and/or DM1.
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
 
Comparison of Three Months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002
 
Revenues
 

Our total revenues for the three months ended September 30, 2003 were $3.9 million compared with $2.3 million for the three months ended
September 30, 2002.  The 66% increase in revenues in the quarter ended September 30, 2003 compared to the same period in the prior year is primarily
attributable to committed research funding earned under our discovery, development and commercialization agreement with Aventis and higher clinical
materials reimbursement offset by lower revenues from license fees and milestone payments.
 

Revenues from license fees and milestone payments for the three months ended September 30, 2003 decreased 56% to $646,000 compared to $1.5
million in the same period in the prior year.  Included in license fees and milestone payments for the quarter ended September 30, 2002, is a $1.0 million
milestone payment from Boehringer Ingelheim related to the initiation of clinical trials of bivatuzumab mertansine. We did not earn any similar milestone
payment during the quarter ended September 30, 2003.  Included in license fees and milestone payments for the quarter ended September 30, 2003 is
$200,000 related to that portion of the upfront fee of $12.0 million we received from Aventis attributable to our performance during the quarter then ended.
Total revenue from license fees and milestone payments recognized from each of our collaborative partners in the quarters ended September 30, 2003 and
2002 is included in the following table:
 

  
September 30,

 

  
2003

 
2002

 

Collaborative Partner:
     

GlaxoSmithKline
 

$ —
 

$ 41,667
 

Genentech
 

160,704
 

160,704
 

Abgenix
 

133,334
 

125,000
 

Millennium
 

110,621
 

110,633
 

Boehringer Ingelheim
 

41,667
 

1,041,667
 

Aventis
 

200,000
 

—
 

Total
 

$ 646,326
 

$ 1,479,671
 

 
Deferred revenue of $23.1 million as of September 30, 2003 represents upfront fees, option fees and accumulated progress payments received from

collaborators pursuant to contract revenues not yet earned.
 
Research and development support of $1.2 million in the three months ended September 30, 2003 represents committed research funding earned based on

actual resources utilized under our discovery, development and commercialization agreement with Aventis.  The agreement provides that we will receive a
minimum of $50.7 million of committed research funding during a three-year research program.  Aventis has the option, with 12 months’ advance notice, to
request that ImmunoGen extend the research program for two additional 12-month periods.  If Aventis requests to extend the research program for one or both
periods, ImmunoGen and Aventis will negotiate the research funding level for each such extension period at the time such extension is requested. If Aventis



and ImmunoGen were to agree to extend the agreement for each of the two 12-month periods and the research funding continued at the same level as in the
final year of the original term of the agreement, we would receive an additional $36.4 million of research funding.

 
Clinical materials reimbursement of $1.9 million in the three months ended September 30, 2003 represents reimbursement for our manufacture of

preclinical and clinical materials for our collaborators. In the same period in 2002, clinical materials reimbursement was $826,000. The cost of clinical
materials reimbursed for the quarters ended September 30, 2003 and 2002 was $1.8 million and $752,000, respectively. Under certain collaborative
agreements, we are reimbursed for our fully burdened cost to produce clinical materials plus a profit margin.  The amount of clinical materials reimbursement
we earn, and the related cost of clinical materials reimbursed, is directly related to (i) the number of on-going clinical trials for which we are producing
clinical material for our collaborators, the speed of enrollment in those trials, the dosage schedule of each clinical trial and the time period, if any, during
which patients in the trial receive clinical benefit from the clinical materials, and (ii) our production of clinical grade material on behalf of our collaborators,
either in anticipation of clinical trials, or for process development and analytical purposes. As such, the amount of clinical materials reimbursement and the
related cost of clinical materials reimbursed may vary from quarter to quarter and annually.

 
Development fees increased 117% in the three months ended September 30, 2003 to $87,000 from $40,000 for the same period in 2002.  Development

fees represent the fully burdened reimbursement of costs incurred in producing research-grade materials in accordance with Good Laboratory Practices and
developing antibody-specific conjugation processes on behalf of our collaborators and potential collaborators during the early evaluation and preclinical
testing stages of drug development. The amount of development fees we earn is directly related to the number of our collaborators or potential collaborators,
the stage of development of our collaborators’ products and the resources our collaborators allocate to the development effort.  As such, the amount of
development fees may vary from quarter to quarter and annually.
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Research and Development Expenses
 

We report research and development expense net of reimbursements we receive from our collaborators.  Our net research and development expenses
consist of (i) research to identify and evaluate new targets and to develop and evaluate new antibodies and cytotoxic drugs, (ii) preclinical testing and clinical
trials of our own and, in certain instances, our collaborators’ product candidates, and (iii) development related to improving clinical and commercial
manufacturing processes.  Our research efforts are primarily focused in the following areas:
 

•                                          Our contributions to the clinical development of huN901-DM1;
 
•                                          Process improvements related to clinical and commercial production of the huN901 antibody;
 
•                                          Process improvements to our TAP technology;
 
•                                          Preclinical development of our own potential products;
 
•                                          Process improvement related to the production of DM1 and strain development of its precursor, ansamitocin P3;
 
•                                          Process development related to the commercial manufacture of huN901-DM1 conjugate;
 
•                                          Operation, maintenance and expansion of our pilot scale manufacturing plant;
 
•                                          Identification and evaluation of potential antigen targets;
 
•                                          Evaluation of internally developed and in-licensed antibodies; and
 
•                                          Development and evaluation of additional cytotoxic agents.

 
Vernalis plc
 

Vernalis is currently conducting a Phase I and a Phase I/II clinical trial of huN901-DM1. The Phase I/II study is being conducted in the United States.
Vernalis is also conducting a Phase I clinical trial of huN901-DM1 in the United Kingdom. Vernalis is the sponsor of these trials and, as such, has control over
the clinical trial schedule and progress.

 
In July 2003, British Biotech announced its proposed acquisition of Vernalis.  In late August 2003, the acquisition was declared unconditional in all

respects after a significant majority of Vernalis’ shareholders accepted British Biotech’s tender offer.  In connection with the acquisition, the merged company
announced that it intended to review its merged product candidate portfolio.  On October 1, 2003, the entity created by the merger of British Biotech and
Vernalis, which is now called Vernalis plc, held its Annual General Meeting.  At its Annual General Meeting, and in the press release issued in connection
therewith, Vernalis announced that it had completed its product candidate portfolio review, and that, as a result of the review, it intends to discuss certain of its
collaborations with its partners, including its collaboration with ImmunoGen on huN901-DM1.  At September 30, 2003 the collaboration agreement remains
in full force and we believe that Vernalis does not currently have the right to unilaterally terminate the collaboration agreement.  Accordingly, we believe that
any modification of the collaboration agreement can only be effected by mutual negotiation of the parties.  We have confirmed with Vernalis that, as of
September 30, 2003, all ongoing clinical trials involving huN901-DM1 continued to enroll patients.
 

In addition to retaining commercial rights to huN901-DM1 worldwide excluding the European Union and Japan, we retain worldwide manufacturing
rights.  Under the terms of the contract with Vernalis, we are responsible for all clinical and commercial manufacturing process development and certain
antibody costs.  We are developing various processes related to the commercial manufacture of the huN901-DM1 conjugate.  Worldwide antibody
manufacturing capacity is currently constrained, and generally, manufacturing capacity must be reserved months in advance of production.  Pending the
outcome of our discussions with Vernalis, we anticipate that we may incur substantial costs to meet our obligations under our agreement with Vernalis to
complete clinical and commercial conjugation process development efforts, reserve manufacturing space and manufacture humanized antibody. We also
expect that we may continue to devote significant human resources to the manufacturing process development efforts over the next five years.
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GlaxoSmithKline plc
 

In January 2003, we announced that we would regain the development and commercialization rights to cantuzumab mertansine from GlaxoSmithKline,
thereby terminating our collaborative agreement. In June 2002, GlaxoSmithKline informed us that it had elected not to advance cantuzumab mertansine into
Phase II clinical development under the terms of our license agreement.  We conducted negotiations with GlaxoSmithKline.  However, we determined that it
was not in the best interests of ImmunoGen to enter into a revised agreement with GlaxoSmithKline.  We are now free to relicense the product as we consider
most appropriate.  We expect that the future cost, if any, to develop cantuzumab mertansine will be borne by a collaborative partner if we are successful in
relicensing the product.  We do not expect to incur significant additional costs related to the continued clinical development of cantuzumab mertansine, unless
a future collaborative partner will reimburse such costs.
 
Aventis Pharmaceuticals Inc.
 

As discussed above, we have licensed three of our most advanced product candidates in our preclinical pipeline to Aventis under the terms of our
discovery, development, and commercialization collaboration.  Those three internally developed product candidates are huMy9-6-DM1, an anti-IGF-IR
antibody and a third product.  huMy9-6-DM1 is a humanized monoclonal antibody conjugated to DM1 and is directed against acute myeloid leukemia. 
huMy9-6-DM1 is in preclinical development.  At September 30, 2003, we continued to conduct preclinical safety and efficacy studies on huMy9-6-DM1. 
Pending the successful preclinical development of huMy9-6-DM1 and favorable outcomes of preclinical safety and efficacy studies and any other studies, we
expect to be prepared to file an Investigational New Drug application (IND) for huMy9-6-DM1 in the second half of calendar year 2004.  However, the
continued development of huMy9-6-DM1 and the actual filing of this IND is now controlled by and dependent upon Aventis, as well as the results of any and
all preclinical studies.  As a result, the timing of the filing of this IND, if it occurs at all, may vary from our original estimates.

 
Anti-IGF-IR antibody is a naked antibody directed against a target found on various solid tumors including certain breast, lung and prostate cancers.  At

September 30, 2003, we continue to perform preclinical experiments to evaluate candidate antibodies and identify a lead antibody product candidate.  Subject
to Aventis’ development and clinical strategy and pending the final results of the product candidate evaluations, we expect that one antibody will move into
preclinical development in calendar year 2003.  A third, undisclosed, potential product is directed at certain B-cell malignancies, including non-Hodgkin’s
lymphoma, and is in the early stages of preclinical development.
 

The cost to develop new products and advance those products to the IND stage can be significant.  Under the terms of our discovery, development and
research collaboration with Aventis, they have licensed three of our most advanced preclinical product candidates. With the exception of those antibodies or
antibody targets that are the subject of our preexisting or future collaboration and license agreements, during the term of our collaborative research program,
we are required to propose for inclusion in the collaborative research program certain antibody or antibody targets that we believe will have utility in
oncology.  Aventis then has the right to either include or exclude these proposed antibodies and antibody targets into the collaborative research program.  If
Aventis elects to exclude any antibodies or antibody targets, we may elect to develop the products.  Furthermore, Aventis may only include a certain number
of antibody targets in the research program at any one time.  Aventis must therefore exclude any proposed antibody or antibody target in excess of this
number.  Over the original, three-year term of the research program, we will receive a minimum of $50.7 million of committed research funding and will
devote a significant amount of our internal research and development resources to advancing the research program. Under the terms of the agreement, we may
advance any TAP or antibody products that Aventis has elected not to either initially include or advance in the research program.
 

At present, the potential product candidates in our pipeline that are not part of the Aventis collaboration are in an early stage of discovery research and we
are unable to accurately estimate which potential products, if any, will eventually move into our internal preclinical research program. We are unable to
reliably estimate the costs to develop our potential products as a result of the uncertainties related to discovery research efforts as well as preclinical and
clinical testing. Our decision to move a product into the clinical development phase is predicated upon the results of preclinical tests. We cannot accurately
predict which, if any, of the discovery research stage product candidates will advance from preclinical testing and move into our internal clinical development
program. The costs to take a product through clinical trials is dependent upon, among other things, the medical indications, the timing, size and dosing
schedule of each clinical trial, the number of patients enrolled in each trial, and the speed at which patients are enrolled and treated. In many cases, we are
unable to determine what, if any, indication a particular product candidate will treat until we have completed extensive preclinical studies. Given the
uncertainties related to new drug development, we are currently unable to estimate when, if ever, our research stage product candidates will generate revenues
and cash flows.

 
DM1 is the cytotoxic agent that we currently use in the manufacture of all of our collaborators’ and our own conjugates.  In order to make commercial

manufacture of DM1 conjugates viable, we have devoted substantial resources to improve the strain of the microorganism that produces ansamitocin P3, the
precursor to DM1, to enhance manufacturing yields.  We also continue to devote considerable resources to improve other DM1 manufacturing processes.
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We generally have not tracked our historical research and development costs by project; rather, we track such costs by department and expense category. 

For this reason, we cannot accurately estimate with any degree of certainty what our historical costs have been for certain research and development projects.
We believe that our research and development costs by project are confidential and the disclosure of such costs could have a material negative effect on our
ability to negotiate with our suppliers, collaborators and potential collaborators and, accordingly, do not disclose our individual project research and
development expenses.
 

Research and development expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2003 increased 16% to $4.8 million from $4.1 million for the three
months ended September 30, 2002.  Research and development compensation and benefits increased by $685,000 in the three months ended September 30,
2003 compared to the three months ended September 30, 2002 as a result of personnel increases.  The number of research and development personnel
increased to 93 at September 30, 2003 compared to 84 at September 30, 2002.  In addition, included in compensation expense for the three months ended
September 30, 2003 was approximately $433,000 related to estimated and accrued bonuses for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2004 as well as granted and
paid bonuses awarded by the Board of Directors in August 2003.  There is no similar expense or accrual in the three months ended September 30, 2002.  We
expect future research and development expenses to increase as we continue development of our own and our collaborators’ product candidates and
technologies.
 



General and Administrative Expenses
 

General and administrative expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2003 increased 5% to $1.8 million from $1.7 million for the three months
ended September 30, 2002.  Compensation and benefits increased $322,000 in the three months ended September 30, 2003 compared to the three months
ended September 30, 2002.  Included in general and administrative salaries and wages for the three months ended September 30, 2003 was approximately
$358,000 related to estimated and accrued bonuses for the fiscal year ending June 30, 2004 as well as granted and paid bonuses awarded by the Board of
Directors in August 2003.  There is no similar expense or accrual in the three months ended September 30, 2002.  Included in general and administrative
expenses for the three months ended September 30, 2002, is a reserve of $400,000 we established for the estimated settlement of a claim asserted against the
Company in July 2002.
 
Interest Income
 

Interest income for the three months ended September 30, 2003 decreased 57% to $379,000 from $892,000 for the three months ended September 30,
2002. The decrease is primarily a result of lower rates of return on investments and lower average cash and investment balances.
 
Net Realized Gains (Losses) on Investments
 

Net realized gains (losses) on investments were ($22,000) and $153,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2003 and 2002, respectively. The
decrease is attributable to market conditions and the timing of investment sales. 
 
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES
 

As of September 30, 2003, we had approximately $5.5 million in cash and cash equivalents and $101.9 million of marketable securities. In
November 2000, we completed a public offering of 4.0 million shares of our common stock.  Net proceeds of the offering were $124.8 million. We have used
a portion of the net proceeds from the offering for working capital and general corporate purposes, including research and development.  Since July 1, 2000,
we have financed the net cash used to support operating activities primarily from various collaborative and financing sources. These sources include upfront
and milestone payments received under our collaboration agreements with GlaxoSmithKline, Genentech, Abgenix, Millennium, Boehringer Ingelheim, and
Aventis, the sale of equity securities to Abgenix, as well as the exercise of stock options and warrants to purchase common stock.

 
Net cash provided by operations during the three months ended September 30, 2003 was $6.5 million compared to net cash used for operations of $5.8

million during the three months ended September 30, 2002. This increase in operational cash is a result of the upfront fee of $12.0 million received in
August 2003 pursuant to the terms of the Aventis collaboration, offset by higher working capital requirements in the quarter ended September 30, 2003
compared to the same period in the prior year.

 
Net cash used for investing activities was $11.2 million for the three months ended September 30, 2003 compared to net cash provided by investing

activities of $7.4 million for the three months ended September 30, 2002.  Cash flows from investing activities in the three months ended September 30, 2003
and 2002 reflects the proceeds of sales and maturities of marketable
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securities, purchases of marketable securities and capital expenditures. In the three months ended September 30, 2003, purchases of marketable securities
include the investment of the Aventis upfront payment in marketable securities. Capital expenditures were $333,000 and $798,000 for the three months ended
September 30, 2003 and 2002, respectively, and consisted primarily of costs associated with the renovation of the laboratory and office space we have leased
at 148 Sidney Street, the purchase of new equipment and the build-out of our existing Norwood, Massachusetts development and pilot manufacturing facility. 
In addition, during the three months ended September 30, 2002, we paid a deposit of $1.9 million relating to the renovation of the laboratory and office space
we have leased at 148 Sidney Street.

 
Net cash provided by financing activities was $2,000 for the three months ended September 30, 2003 compared to net cash used for financing activities of

$2.5 million for the three months ended September 30, 2002.  For the three months ended September 30, 2002, net cash used for financing activities reflects
the repurchase of 756,600 shares of common stock of the Company.  For the three months ended September 30, 2003, net cash provided by financing
activities reflects the proceeds to the Company from exercises of stock options.

 
We anticipate that our current capital resources and future collaborator payments, including committed research funding that we expect to receive from

Aventis pursuant to the terms of our collaboration agreement, will enable us to meet our operational expenses and capital expenditures for at least the next
five to seven years.  We believe that the proceeds from our November 2000 public stock offering in addition to our established collaborative agreements will
provide funding sufficient to allow us to meet our obligations under our collaborative agreements while also allowing us to develop product candidates and
technologies not covered by collaborative agreements. However, we cannot provide assurance that such collaborative agreement funding will, in fact, be
realized. Should we not meet some or all of the terms and conditions of our various collaboration agreements, we may be required to pursue additional
strategic partners, secure alternative financing arrangements, and/or defer or limit some or all of our research, development and/or clinical projects.

 
On August 27, 2002, we announced that our Board of Directors had authorized the open market repurchase of up to 4,100,000 shares of ImmunoGen

common stock. The repurchases are to be made at the discretion of management and as market conditions warrant. No time limit was set for the completion of
the repurchase program.  As of November 13, 2003, the Company had repurchased 3,675,062 shares of its common stock at a total cost of $11.1 million.  We
anticipate that we will purchase additional shares of our common stock under the repurchase program. As our repurchases are at management’s discretion and
subject to market conditions, we are unable to estimate the total cost of the repurchase program or the period during which such repurchases may take place.
 
Contractual Obligations
 

There have been no significant changes in our contractual obligations since June 30, 2003.
 
Risk Factors
 
THE RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES DESCRIBED BELOW ARE THOSE THAT WE CURRENTLY BELIEVE MAY MATERIALLY AFFECT OUR COMPANY.
ADDITIONAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES THAT WE ARE UNAWARE OF OR THAT WE CURRENTLY DEEM IMMATERIAL ALSO MAY BECOME



IMPORTANT FACTORS THAT AFFECT OUR COMPANY.
 
If our TAP technology does not produce safe, effective and commercially viable products, our business will be severely harmed.
 

Our TAP technology is a novel approach to the treatment of cancer. None of our TAP product candidates has obtained regulatory approval and all of them
are in early stages of development. Our TAP product candidates may not prove to be safe, effective or commercially viable treatments for cancer and our TAP
technology may not result in any meaningful benefits to our current or potential collaborative partners. Furthermore, we are aware of only one antibody-drug
conjugate that has obtained FDA approval and is based on technology similar to our TAP technology. We develop antibody-based products in addition to TAP
products.  However, if our TAP technology fails to generate product candidates that are safe, effective and commercially viable treatments for cancer, and
fails to obtain FDA approval, our business is likely to be severely harmed.
 
Clinical trials for our product candidates will be lengthy and expensive and their outcome is uncertain.
 

Before obtaining regulatory approval for the commercial sale of any product candidates, we and our collaborative partners must demonstrate through
preclinical testing and clinical trials that our product candidates are safe and effective for use in humans. Conducting clinical trials is a time-consuming,
expensive and uncertain process and may take years to complete. Our most advanced product candidates are only in the Phase I or Phase I/II stage of clinical
trials.  Historically, the results from preclinical testing and early clinical trials have often not been predictive of results obtained in later clinical trials. Frequently,
drugs that have shown promising results in preclinical or early clinical trials subsequently fail to establish sufficient safety and
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efficacy data necessary to obtain regulatory approval. At any time during the clinical trials, we, our collaborative partners, or the FDA might delay or halt any
clinical trials for our product candidates for various reasons, including:

 
•                                          ineffectiveness of the product candidate;
 
•                                          discovery of unacceptable toxicities or side effects;
 
•                                          development of disease resistance or other physiological factors;
 
•                                          delays in patient enrollment; or
 
•                                          other reasons that are internal to the businesses of our collaborative partners, which reasons they may not share with us.

 
The results of the clinical trials may fail to demonstrate the safety or effectiveness of our product candidates to the extent necessary to obtain regulatory

approval or that commercialization of our product candidates is worthwhile. Any failure or substantial delay in successfully completing clinical trials and
obtaining regulatory approval for our product candidates could severely harm our business.
 
If our collaborative partners fail to perform their obligations under our agreements, or determine not to continue with clinical trials for particular
product candidates, our ability to develop and market potential products could be severely limited.
 

Our strategy for the development and commercialization of our product candidates depends, in large part, upon the formation of collaborative
arrangements. Collaborations allow us to:

 
•                                          generate cash flow and revenue;
 
•                                          offset some of the costs associated with our internal research and development, preclinical testing, clinical trials and manufacturing;
 
•                                          seek and obtain regulatory approvals;
 
•                                          successfully commercialize existing and future product candidates; and
 
•                                          develop antibodies for additional product candidates and discover additional cell surface markers for antibody development.

 
If we fail to secure or maintain successful collaborative arrangements, our development and marketing activities may be delayed or scaled back.  In

addition, we may be unable to negotiate other collaborative arrangements or, if necessary, modify our existing arrangements on acceptable terms. A product
of ours that has entered Phase I human clinical testing, cantuzumab mertansine, was previously licensed to GlaxoSmithKline. We regained the development
and commercialization rights to cantuzumab mertansine from GlaxoSmithKline, thereby terminating the full product license. We do not expect to conduct any
further clinical development of cantuzumab mertansine unless we are able to sign a license agreement with a collaborative partner who will reimburse such
clinical costs. The development, regulatory approval and commercialization of our product candidates depend primarily on the efforts of collaborative
partners.

 
We have also entered into collaborations with Genentech, Abgenix, Millennium, Boehringer Ingelheim, Vernalis and Aventis. We cannot control the

amount and timing of resources our partners may devote to our products. Our partners may separately pursue competing products, therapeutic approaches or
technologies to develop treatments for the diseases targeted by us or our collaborative efforts. Even if our partners continue their contributions to the
collaborative arrangements, they may nevertheless determine not to actively pursue the development or commercialization of any resulting products. Also,
our partners may fail to perform their obligations under the collaborative agreements or may be slow in performing their obligations. Our partners can
terminate our collaborative agreements under certain conditions. The decision to advance a product that is covered by a collaborative agreement through
clinical trials and ultimately to commercialization is in the sole discretion of our collaborative partners.  If any collaborative partner were to terminate or
breach our agreements, or fail to complete its obligations to us in a timely manner, our anticipated revenue from the agreement and development and
commercialization of our products could be severely limited. If we are not able to establish additional collaborations or any or all of our existing
collaborations are terminated and we are not able to enter into alternative collaborations on acceptable terms, we may be required to undertake product
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development, manufacture and commercialization of our products ourselves, and we may not have the funds or capability to do this.  If our collaborators fail
to successfully develop and commercialize TAP products, our business will be severely harmed.

 
We depend on a small number of collaborators for a substantial portion of our revenue. The loss of, or a material reduction in activity by, any one of
these collaborators could result in a substantial decline in revenue.
 

We have and will continue to have collaborations with a limited number of companies. As a result, our financial performance depends on the efforts and
overall success of these companies. The failure of any one of our collaborative partners to perform its obligations under its agreement with us, including
making any royalty, milestone or other payments to us, could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition. Further, any material reduction by any
one of our collaborative partners in its level of commitment of resources, funding, personnel, and interest in continued development under its agreement with
us could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition. Also, if consolidation trends in the healthcare industry continue, the number of our
potential collaborators could decrease, which could have an adverse impact on our development efforts.
 
The outcome of Vernalis’s pipeline product review is uncertain and may ultimately be unfavorable to us.

 
In July 2003, British Biotech announced its proposed acquisition of Vernalis.  In late August 2003 the acquisition was declared unconditional in all

respects after a significant majority of Vernalis’ shareholders accepted British Biotech’s tender offer.  In connection with the acquisition, the merged company
announced that it intended to review its merged product candidate portfolio.  On October 1, 2003, the entity created by the merger of British Biotech and
Vernalis, which is now called Vernalis plc, held its Annual General Meeting.  At its Annual General Meeting, and in the press release issued in connection
therewith, Vernalis announced that it had completed its product candidate portfolio review, and that, as a result of the review, it intends to discuss certain of its
collaborations with its partners, including its collaboration with ImmunoGen on huN901-DM1.  We cannot predict the outcome of such discussions with any
degree of certainty.
 
The outcome of our ongoing efforts to outlicense cantuzumab mertansine is uncertain and may ultimately be unfavorable to us.
 

We regained the development and commercialization rights to cantuzumab mertansine and we are now free to relicense the product as we consider most
appropriate.  While we intend to seek a third party to undertake the clinical trials necessary to develop and commercialize cantuzumab mertansine, we cannot
be certain that we will be successful in our efforts to outlicense this product.  Furthermore, even if we are successful in partnering with a third party to
undertake the clinical trials necessary to develop and commercialize cantuzumab mertansine, we may reach an agreement on terms that are less favorable to
us than the previous GlaxoSmithKline agreement relating to cantuzumab mertansine. We do not expect to conduct any further clinical development of
cantuzumab mertansine unless we are able to sign a license agreement with a collaborative partner who will reimburse such clinical costs.

 
If our collaborators’ requirements for clinical product that we manufacture for them are significantly lower than we have estimated, our financial
results and condition could be significantly harmed.
 

We procure certain components of finished conjugate including ansamitocin P3, DM1, linker and, in the case of Vernalis, antibody on behalf of our
collaborators.  In order to meet our commitments to our collaborators, we are required to enter into agreements with third parties to produce these components
well in advance of our production of clinical materials on behalf of our collaborators.  If our collaborators do not require as much clinical material as we have
contracted to produce, we may not be able to recover our investment in these components and we may suffer significant losses.

 
In April 2003, one of our collaborators informed us that it may explore alternative sources of ansamitocin P3 and/or DM1.  If the collaborator finds and

elects to use an alternative source, we may be required to write down excess inventory relating to this collaborator’s product.
 
In addition, we run a pilot manufacturing facility.  A significant portion of the cost for salaries of the personnel operating this facility, including the

cost of manufacturing personnel, is charged to the cost of producing clinical materials on behalf of our collaborators.  If we produce fewer batches of clinical
materials for our collaborators, less of the cost of operating the pilot manufacturing facility will be charged to our collaborators and our financial condition
could be significantly harmed.
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We have a history of operating losses and expect to incur significant additional operating losses.
 

We have generated operating losses since our inception. As of September 30, 2003, we had an accumulated deficit of $208.0 million. For the three
months ended September 30, 2003 and the fiscal years ending June 30, 2003, 2002 and 2001, we generated losses of $4.1 million, $20.0 million, $14.6
million and $15.3 million, respectively. We may never be profitable. We expect to incur substantial additional operating expenses over the next several years
as our research, development, preclinical testing and collaborator support activities increase. We intend to continue to invest significantly in our products and
bring more of the product development process in-house, which will be a time-consuming and expensive process.  Further, we expect to invest significant
resources supporting our existing collaborators as they work to develop, test and commercialize TAP and other antibody products, and we or our collaborators
may encounter technological or regulatory difficulties as part of this development and commercialization process that we cannot overcome or remedy.  We
may also incur substantial marketing and other costs in the future if we decide to establish marketing and sales capabilities to commercialize our products.
None of our product candidates has generated any commercial revenue and our only revenues to date have been primarily from upfront and milestone
payments and clinical materials reimbursement from our collaborative partners. We do not expect to generate revenues from the commercial sale of our
products in the foreseeable future, and we may never generate revenues from the commercial sale of products. Even if we do successfully develop products
that can be marketed and sold commercially, we will need to generate significant revenues from those products to achieve and maintain profitability. Even if
we do become profitable, we may not be able to sustain or increase profitability on a quarterly or annual basis.
 
We and our collaborative partners are subject to extensive government regulations and we and our collaborative partners may not be able to obtain
regulatory approvals.
 



We or our collaborative partners may not receive the regulatory approvals necessary to commercialize our product candidates, which could cause our
business to be severely harmed. Our product candidates are subject to extensive and rigorous government regulation. The FDA regulates, among other things,
the development, testing, manufacture, safety, record-keeping, labeling, storage, approval, advertising, promotion, sale and distribution of pharmaceutical
products. If our potential products are marketed abroad, they will also be subject to extensive regulation by foreign governments. None of our product
candidates has been approved for sale in the United States or any foreign market. The regulatory review and approval process, which includes preclinical
studies and clinical trials of each product candidate, is lengthy, complex, expensive and uncertain. Securing FDA approval requires the submission of
extensive preclinical and clinical data and supporting information to the FDA for each indication to establish the product candidate’s safety and efficacy. Data
obtained from preclinical and clinical trials are susceptible to varying interpretation, which may delay, limit or prevent regulatory approval. The approval
process may take many years to complete and may involve ongoing requirements for post-marketing studies. In light of the limited regulatory history of
monoclonal antibody-based therapeutics, regulatory approvals for our products may not be obtained without lengthy delays, if at all. Any FDA or other
regulatory approvals of our product candidates, once obtained, may be withdrawn. The effect of government regulation may be to:

 
•                                          delay marketing of potential products for a considerable period of time;
 
•                                          limit the indicated uses for which potential products may be marketed;
 
•                                          impose costly requirements on our activities; and
 
•                                          provide competitive advantage to other pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies.

 
We may encounter delays or rejections in the regulatory approval process because of additional government regulation from future legislation or

administrative action or changes in FDA policy during the period of product development, clinical trials and FDA regulatory review. Failure to comply with
applicable FDA or other applicable regulatory requirements may result in criminal prosecution, civil penalties, recall or seizure of products, total or partial
suspension of production or injunction, as well as other regulatory action against our product candidates or us. Outside the United States, our ability to market
a product is contingent upon receiving clearances from the appropriate regulatory authorities. This foreign regulatory approval process includes similar risks
to those associated with the FDA approval process. In addition, we are, or may become, subject to various federal, state and local laws, regulations and
recommendations relating to safe working conditions, laboratory and manufacturing practices, the experimental use of animals and the use and disposal of
hazardous substances, including radioactive compounds and infectious disease agents, used in connection with our research work. If we fail to comply with
the laws and regulations pertaining to our business, we may be subject to sanctions, including the temporary or permanent suspension of operations, product
recalls, marketing restrictions and civil and criminal penalties.
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We may be unable to establish the manufacturing capabilities necessary to develop and commercialize our potential products.
 

Currently, we only have one pilot scale manufacturing facility for the manufacture of products necessary for clinical testing. We do not have sufficient
manufacturing capacity to manufacture all of our product candidates in quantities necessary for commercial sale. In addition, our manufacturing capacity may
be insufficient to complete all clinical trials contemplated by us or our collaborators over time. We intend to rely in part on third-party contract manufacturers
to produce sufficiently large quantities of drug materials that are and will be needed for clinical trials and commercialization of our potential products. Third-
party manufacturers may not be able to meet our needs with respect to timing, quantity or quality of materials. If we are unable to contract for a sufficient
supply of needed materials on acceptable terms, or if we should encounter delays or difficulties in our relationships with manufacturers, our clinical trials may
be delayed, thereby delaying the submission of product candidates for regulatory approval and the market introduction and subsequent commercialization of
our potential products. Any such delays may lower our revenues and potential profitability.
 

We may develop our manufacturing capacity in part by expanding our current facilities or building new facilities. Either of these activities would require
substantial additional funds and we would need to hire and train significant numbers of employees to staff these facilities. We may not be able to develop
manufacturing facilities that are sufficient to produce drug materials for clinical trials or commercial use. We and any third-party manufacturers that we may
use must continually adhere to Current Good Manufacturing Practices regulations enforced by the FDA through its facilities inspection program. If our
facilities or the facilities of third-party manufacturers cannot pass a pre-approval plant inspection, the FDA approval of our product candidates will not be
granted. In complying with these regulations and foreign regulatory requirements, we and any of our third-party manufacturers will be obligated to expend
time, money and effort on production, record-keeping and quality control to assure that our potential products meet applicable specifications and other
requirements. If we or any third-party manufacturer with whom we may contract fail to maintain regulatory compliance, we or the third party may be subject
to fines and/or manufacturing operations may be suspended.
 
We have only one in-house pilot manufacturing facility, and any prolonged and significant disruption at that facility could impair our ability to
manufacture products for clinical testing.
 

Currently, we are contractually obligated to manufacture Phase I and non-pivotal Phase II clinical products for certain of our collaborators.  We
manufacture this material in a pilot scale manufacturing facility.  We only have one such manufacturing facility in which we can manufacture clinical
products. Our current manufacturing facility contains highly specialized equipment and utilizes complicated production processes developed over a number of
years that would be difficult, time-consuming and costly to duplicate. Any prolonged disruption in the operations of our manufacturing facility would have a
significant negative impact on our ability to manufacture products for clinical testing on our own and would cause us to seek additional third-party
manufacturing contracts, thereby increasing our development costs. Even though we carry manufacturing interruption insurance policies, we may suffer
losses as a result of business interruptions that exceed the coverage available under our insurance policies. Certain events, such as natural disasters, fire,
sabotage or business accidents, which could impact our current or future facilities, could have a significant negative impact on our operations by disrupting
our product development efforts until such time as we are able to repair our facility or put in place third-party contract manufacturers to assume this
manufacturing role.
 
We rely on single source suppliers to manufacture the primary component for our small molecule effector drug and DM1 itself. Any problems
experienced by either supplier could negatively affect our operations.
 

We rely on third-party suppliers for some of the materials used in the manufacturing of our TAP product candidates and small molecule effector drugs.
Our most advanced small molecule effector drug is DM1. DM1 is the cytotoxic agent used in all of our current TAP product candidates and the subject of
most of our collaborations. One of the primary components required to manufacture DM1 is its precursor, ansamitocin P3. Currently, only one vendor



manufactures and is able to supply us with this material. Any problems experienced by this vendor could result in a delay or interruption in the supply of
ansamitocin P3 to us until this vendor cures the problem or until we locate an alternative source of supply. Any delay or interruption in our supply of
ansamitocin P3 would likely lead to a delay or interruption in our manufacturing operations and preclinical and clinical trials of our product candidates, which
could negatively affect our business.  We also have an agreement with only one vendor to convert ansamitocin P3 to DM1. Any problems experienced by this
vendor could result in a delay or interruption in the supply of DM1 to us until this vendor cures the problem or until we locate an alternative source of supply.
Any delay or interruption in our supply of DM1 could lead to a delay or interruption in our manufacturing operations and preclinical and clinical trials of our
product candidates or our collaborators’ product candidates, which could negatively affect our business.

 
23

 
Any inability to license from third parties their proprietary technologies or processes which we use in connection with the development and
manufacture of our product candidates may impair our business.
 

Other companies, universities and research institutions have or may obtain patents that could limit our ability to use, manufacture, market or sell our
product candidates or impair our competitive position. As a result, we would have to obtain licenses from other parties before we could continue using,
manufacturing, marketing or selling our potential products. Any necessary licenses may not be available on commercially acceptable terms, if at all. If we do
not obtain required licenses, we may not be able to market our potential products at all or we may encounter significant delays in product development while
we redesign products or methods that could infringe on the patents held by others.
 
We may be unable to establish sales and marketing capabilities necessary to successfully commercialize our potential products.
 

We currently have no direct sales or marketing capabilities. We anticipate relying on third parties to market and sell most of our primary product
candidates. If we decide to market our potential products through a direct sales force, we would need to either hire a sales force with expertise in
pharmaceutical sales or contract with a third party to provide a sales force to meet our needs. We may be unable to establish marketing, sales and distribution
capabilities necessary to commercialize and gain market acceptance for our potential products and be competitive. In addition, co-promotion or other
marketing arrangements with third parties to commercialize potential products could significantly limit the revenues we derive from these potential products,
and these third parties may fail to commercialize our potential products successfully.
 
If our product candidates do not gain market acceptance, our business will suffer.
 

Even if clinical trials demonstrate the safety and efficacy of our product candidates and the necessary regulatory approvals are obtained, our product
candidates may not gain market acceptance among physicians, patients, healthcare payors and the medical community. The degree of market acceptance of
any product candidates that we develop will depend on a number of factors, including:

 
•                                          the degree of clinical efficacy and safety;
 
•                                          cost-effectiveness of our product candidates;
 
•                                          their advantage over alternative treatment methods;
 
•                                          reimbursement policies of government and third-party payors; and
 
•                                          the quality of our or our collaborative partners’ marketing and distribution capabilities for our product candidates.

 
Physicians will not recommend therapies using any of our future products until such time as clinical data or other factors demonstrate the safety and

efficacy of those products as compared to conventional drug and other treatments. Even if the clinical safety and efficacy of therapies using our products is
established, physicians may elect not to recommend the therapies for any number of other reasons, including whether the mode of administration of our
products is effective for certain conditions, and whether the physicians are already using competing products that satisfy their treatment objectives.
Physicians, patients, third-party payors and the medical community may not accept and use any product candidates that we, or our collaborative partners,
develop. If our products do not achieve significant market acceptance, we will not be able to recover the significant investment we have made in developing
such products and our business would be severely harmed.
 
We may be unable to compete successfully.
 

The markets in which we compete are well established and intensely competitive. We may be unable to compete successfully against our current and
future competitors. Our failure to compete successfully may result in pricing reductions, reduced gross margins and failure to achieve market acceptance for
our potential products. Our competitors include pharmaceutical companies, biotechnology companies, chemical companies, academic and research
institutions and government agencies. Many of these organizations have substantially more experience and more capital, research and development,
regulatory, manufacturing, sales, marketing, human and other resources than we do. As a result, they may:

 
•                                          develop products that are safer or more effective than our product candidates;
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•                                          obtain FDA and other regulatory approvals or reach the market with their products more rapidly than we can, reducing the potential sales of

our product candidates;
 

•                                          devote greater resources to market or sell their products;
 
•                                          adapt more quickly to new technologies and scientific advances;
 



•                                          initiate or withstand substantial price competition more successfully than we can;
 
•                                          have greater success in recruiting skilled scientific workers from the limited pool of available talent;
 
•                                          more effectively negotiate third-party licensing and collaboration arrangements; and
 
•                                          take advantage of acquisition or other opportunities more readily than we can.

 
A number of pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies are currently developing products targeting the same types of cancer that we target, and some

of our competitors’ products have entered clinical trials or already are commercially available. In addition, our product candidates, if approved and
commercialized, will compete against well-established, existing, therapeutic products that are currently reimbursed by government health administration
authorities, private health insurers and health maintenance organizations. We face and will continue to face intense competition from other companies for
collaborative arrangements with pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, for relationships with academic and research institutions, and for licenses to
proprietary technology. In addition, we anticipate that we will face increased competition in the future as new companies enter our markets and as scientific
developments surrounding prodrug and antibody-based therapeutics for cancer continue to accelerate. While we will seek to expand our technological
capabilities to remain competitive, research and development by others may render our technology or product candidates obsolete or noncompetitive or result
in treatments or cures superior to any therapy developed by us.
 
If we are unable to protect our intellectual property rights adequately, the value of our technology and our product candidates could be diminished.
 

Our success depends in part on obtaining, maintaining and enforcing our patents and other proprietary rights and our ability to avoid infringing the
proprietary rights of others. Patent law relating to the scope of claims in the biotechnology field in which we operate is still evolving, is surrounded by a great
deal of uncertainty and involves complex legal, scientific and factual questions. To date, no consistent policy has emerged regarding the breadth of claims
allowed in biotechnology patents. Accordingly, our pending patent applications may not result in issued patents. Although we own several patents, the
issuance of a patent is not conclusive as to its validity or enforceability. Through litigation, a third party may challenge the validity or enforceability of a
patent after its issuance. Also, patents and applications owned or licensed by us may become the subject of interference proceedings in the United States
Patent and Trademark Office to determine priority of invention that could result in substantial cost to us. An adverse decision in an interference proceeding
may result in our loss of rights under a patent or patent application.  It is unclear how much protection, if any, will be given to our patents if we attempt to
enforce them and they are challenged in court or in other proceedings. A competitor may successfully challenge our patents or a challenge could result in
limitations of the patents’ coverage. In addition, the cost of litigation or interference proceedings to uphold the validity of patents can be substantial. If we are
unsuccessful in these proceedings, third parties may be able to use our patented technology without paying us licensing fees or royalties. Moreover,
competitors may infringe our patents or successfully avoid them through design innovation. To prevent infringement or unauthorized use, we may need to file
infringement claims, which are expensive and time-consuming. In an infringement proceeding a court may decide that a patent of ours is not valid. Even if the
validity of our patents were upheld, a court may refuse to stop the other party from using the technology at issue on the ground that its activities are not
covered by our patents. Policing unauthorized use of our intellectual property is difficult, and we may not be able to prevent misappropriation of our
proprietary rights, particularly in countries where the laws may not protect such rights as fully as in the United States.
 

In addition to our patent rights, we also rely on unpatented technology, trade secrets, know-how and confidential information. Third parties may
independently develop substantially equivalent information and techniques or otherwise gain access to or disclose our technology. We may not be able to
effectively protect our rights in unpatented technology, trade secrets, know-how and confidential information. We require each of our employees, consultants
and corporate partners to execute a confidentiality agreement at the commencement of an employment, consulting or collaborative relationship with us.
However, these agreements may not provide effective protection of our information or, in the event of unauthorized use or disclosure, they may not provide
adequate remedies.
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If we are forced to litigate or undertake other proceedings in order to enforce our intellectual property rights, we may be subject to substantial costs
and liability or be prohibited from commercializing our potential products.
 

Patent litigation is very common in the biotechnology and pharmaceutical industries. Third parties may assert patent or other intellectual property
infringement claims against us with respect to our technologies, products or other matters. Any claims that might be brought against us relating to
infringement of patents may cause us to incur significant expenses and, if successfully asserted against us, may cause us to pay substantial damages and limit
our ability to use the intellectual property subject to these claims. Even if we were to prevail, any litigation would be costly and time-consuming and could
divert the attention of our management and key personnel from our business operations. Furthermore, as a result of a patent infringement suit, we may be
forced to stop or delay developing, manufacturing or selling potential products that incorporate the challenged intellectual property unless we enter into
royalty or license agreements. There may be third-party patents, patent applications and other intellectual property relevant to our potential products that may
block or compete with our products or processes. In addition, we sometimes undertake research and development with respect to potential products even
when we are aware of third-party patents that may be relevant to our potential products, on the basis that such patents may be challenged or licensed by us. If
our subsequent challenge to such patents were not to prevail, we may not be able to commercialize our potential products after having already incurred
significant expenditures unless we are able to license the intellectual property on commercially reasonable terms. We may not be able to obtain royalty or
license agreements on terms acceptable to us, if at all. Even if we were able to obtain licenses to such technology, some licenses may be non-exclusive,
thereby giving our competitors access to the same technologies licensed to us. Ultimately, we may be unable to commercialize some of our potential products
or may have to cease some of our business operations, which could severely harm our business.
 
We use hazardous materials in our business, and any claims relating to improper handling, storage or disposal of these materials could harm our
business.
 

Our research and development activities involve the controlled use of hazardous materials, chemicals, biological materials and radioactive compounds.
We are subject to federal, state and local laws and regulations governing the use, manufacture, storage, handling and disposal of these materials and certain
waste products. Although we believe that our safety procedures for handling and disposing of these materials comply with the standards prescribed by
applicable laws and regulations, we cannot completely eliminate the risk of accidental contamination or injury from these materials. In the event of such an
accident, we could be held liable for any resulting damages, and any liability could exceed our resources. We may be required to incur significant costs to
comply with these laws in the future. Failure to comply with these laws could result in fines and the revocation of permits, which could prevent us from
conducting our business.



 
We face product liability risks and may not be able to obtain adequate insurance.
 

The use of our product candidates during testing or after approval entails an inherent risk of adverse effects, which could expose us to product liability
claims. Regardless of their merit or eventual outcome, product liability claims may result in:

 
•                                          decreased demand for our product;
 
•                                          injury to our reputation and significant media attention;
 
•                                          withdrawal of clinical trial volunteers;
 
•                                          costs of litigation;
 
•                                          distraction of management; and
 
•                                          substantial monetary awards to plaintiffs.

 
We may not have sufficient resources to satisfy any liability resulting from these claims. We currently have $5.0 million of product liability insurance for

products which are in clinical testing. This coverage may not be adequate in scope to protect us in the event of a successful product liability claim. Further, we
may not be able to maintain our current insurance or obtain general product liability insurance on reasonable terms and at an acceptable cost if we or our
collaborative partners begin commercial production of our proposed product candidates. This insurance, even if we can obtain and maintain it, may not be
sufficient to provide us with adequate coverage against potential liabilities.

 
26

 
We depend on our key personnel and we must continue to attract and retain key employees and consultants.
 

We depend on our key scientific and management personnel. Our ability to pursue the development of our current and future product candidates depends
largely on retaining the services of our existing personnel and hiring additional qualified scientific personnel to perform research and development. We will
also need to hire personnel with expertise in clinical testing, government regulation, manufacturing, business development, marketing and finance. Attracting
and retaining qualified personnel is and will continue to be critical to our success. We may not be able to attract and retain personnel on acceptable terms
given the competition for such personnel among biotechnology, pharmaceutical and healthcare companies, universities and non-profit research institutions.
Failure to retain our existing key management and scientific personnel or to attract additional highly qualified personnel could delay the development of our
product candidates and harm our business.
 
If we are unable to obtain additional funding when needed, we may have to delay or scale back some of our programs or grant rights to third parties
to develop and market our products.
 

We will continue to expend substantial resources developing new and existing product candidates, including costs associated with research and
development, acquiring new technologies, conducting preclinical and clinical trials, obtaining regulatory approvals and manufacturing products as well as
providing certain support to our collaborators in the development of their products. We believe that our current working capital and future payments, if any,
from our collaboration arrangements, including committed research funding that we expect to receive from Aventis pursuant to the terms of our collaboration
agreement, will be sufficient to meet our operating and capital requirements for at least the next five to seven years.  However, we may need additional
financing sooner due to a number of factors including:

 
•                                          if either we or any of our collaborators incur higher than expected costs or experience slower than expected progress in developing product

candidates and obtaining regulatory approvals;
 
•                                          lower revenues than expected under our collaboration agreements; or
 
•                                          acquisition of technologies and other business opportunities that require financial commitments.
 

Additional funding may not be available to us on favorable terms, or at all. We may raise additional funds through public or private financings,
collaborative arrangements or other arrangements. Debt financing, if available, may involve covenants that could restrict our business activities. If we are
unable to raise additional funds through equity or debt financing when needed, we may be required to delay, scale back or eliminate expenditures for some of
our development programs or grant rights to develop and market product candidates that we would otherwise prefer to internally develop and market. If we
are required to grant such rights, the ultimate value of these product candidates to us may be reduced.
 
Fluctuations in our quarterly revenue and operating results may cause our stock price to decline.
 

Our operating results have fluctuated in the past and are likely to continue to do so in the future. Our revenue is unpredictable and may fluctuate due to
the timing of non-recurring licensing fees, decisions of our collaborative partners with respect to our agreements with them, reimbursement for manufacturing
services, the achievement of milestones and our receipt of the related milestone payments under new and existing licensing and collaboration agreements.
Revenue historically recognized under our prior collaboration agreements may not be an indicator of revenue from any future collaborations. In addition, our
expenses are unpredictable and may fluctuate from quarter-to-quarter due to the timing of expenses, which may include obligations to manufacture or supply
product or payments owed by us under licensing or collaboration agreements. It is possible that our quarterly operating results will not meet the expectations
of securities analysts or investors, causing the market price of our common stock to decline. We believe that quarter to quarter comparisons of our operating
results are not a good indicator of our future performance and should not be relied upon to predict the future performance of our stock price.
 
We do not intend to pay cash dividends on our common stock.
 



We have not paid cash dividends since our inception and do not intend to pay cash dividends in the foreseeable future. Therefore, shareholders will have
to rely on appreciation in our stock price, if any, in order to achieve a gain on an investment.
 
ITEM 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk
 

We maintain an investment portfolio in accordance with our Investment Policy. The primary objectives of our Investment Policy are to preserve principal,
maintain proper liquidity to meet operating needs and maximize yields. Although our investments
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are subject to credit risk, our Investment Policy specifies credit quality standards for our investments and limits the amount of credit exposure from any single
issue, issuer or type of investment. Our investments are also subject to interest rate risk and will decrease in value if market interest rates increase. However,
due to the conservative nature of our investments and relatively short duration, interest rate risk is mitigated. We do not own derivative financial instruments
in our investment portfolio.
 

Accordingly, we do not believe that there is any material market risk exposure with respect to derivative or other financial instruments that would require
disclosure under this item.
 
ITEM 4. Controls and Procedures
 
(a)  Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures
 

As of the end of the period covered by this report, the Company’s principal executive officer and principal financial officer evaluated the effectiveness of
the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(c) and 15d-15(c)) and have concluded, based on such
evaluation, that the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were adequate and effective to ensure that material information
relating to the Company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, was made known to them by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q was being prepared.

 
(b)  Changes in Internal Controls
 

There were no changes, identified in connection with the evaluation described above, in the Company’s internal controls over financial reporting or in
other factors that could significantly affect those controls that have materially affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting.
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PART II. OTHER INFORMATION

 
ITEM 2. Changes in Securities and Use of Proceeds.
 

During the three months ended September 30, 2003, a holder of options issued under the Company’s Restated Stock Option Plan exercised his or her
rights to acquire an aggregate of 800 shares of common stock at an exercise price of $2.53 per share.  The total proceeds from this option exercise, $2,025,
will be used to fund current operations.
 
ITEM 6.  Exhibits and Reports on Form 8-K.
 

(a)  Exhibits
 
10.1*

 

Collaboration and License Agreement by and between ImmunoGen, Inc. and Aventis Pharmaceuticals, Inc., dated
as of July 30, 2003.

   
31.1

 

Certification of Chief Executive Officer under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
   
31.2

 

Certification of Chief Financial Officer under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
   
32.

 

Certifications of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer under Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley
Act of 2002

 

*       Confidential treatment has been requested as to certain portions of this document, which portions have been omitted and filed separately with the
Securities and Exchange Commission.

 
(b)  Reports on Form 8-K

 
Form 8-K dated July 31, 2003 — Item 5 – Other Events
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SIGNATURES

 



Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by
the undersigned thereunto duly authorized.
 
 
 

ImmunoGen, Inc.
   
Date: November 14, 2003 By: /s/ Mitchel Sayare
  

Mitchel Sayare
  

President and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer)

   
Date: November 14, 2003 By: /s/ Gregg D. Beloff
  

Gregg D. Beloff
  

Chief Financial Officer and Vice President,
Finance (principal financial and accounting officer)
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Exhibit No.

 
Description

10.1*
 

Collaboration and License Agreement by and between ImmunoGen, Inc. and Aventis Pharmaceuticals Inc., dated as of July 30, 2003.
   
31.1

 

Certification of Chief Executive Officer under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
   
31.2

 

Certification of Chief Financial Officer under Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
   
32

 

Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer under Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
 

* Confidential treatment requested as to certain portions, which portions have been separately filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission
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Execution Copy
 

COLLABORATION AND LICENSE AGREEMENT
 

By and Between
 

IMMUNOGEN, INC.
 

and
 

AVENTIS PHARMACEUTICALS INC.
 

Portions of this Exhibit have been omitted and filed separately with the Secretary of the Commission pursuant to the Company’s application requesting
confidential treatment pursuant to Rule 24b-2 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
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COLLABORATION AND LICENSE AGREEMENT

 
This Collaboration and License Agreement dated as of July 30, 2003 (the “Effective Date”) is by and between ImmunoGen, Inc., a Massachusetts

corporation with a principal office at 128 Sidney Street, Cambridge, Massachusetts 02139 (“ImmunoGen”), and Aventis Pharmaceuticals Inc., a Delaware
corporation with a principal office at 200 Crossing Boulevard, Bridgewater, New Jersey 08807 (“Aventis”).
 

INTRODUCTION
 

WHEREAS, Aventis is in the business of discovering, developing and commercializing pharmaceutical products;
 
WHEREAS, ImmunoGen is in the business of discovering and developing antibody-based therapeutics;
 
WHEREAS, Aventis desires to access ImmunoGen’s scientific and development expertise in the areas of antibody target validation, antibody

generation and humanization, effector molecule generation and development, conjugation and linker technology, and process development expertise for
antibody-drug conjugates; and

 
WHEREAS, ImmunoGen and Aventis are interested in collaborating in the identification and validation of targets for use in the discovery of

antibodies and antibody-drug conjugates in the Collaborative Focus Area and in the development and commercialization of such antibodies and antibody-drug
conjugates.

 
NOW, THEREFORE, ImmunoGen and Aventis agree as follows:

 
ARTICLE 1

 
DEFINITIONS

 
When used in this Agreement, each of the following terms shall have the meanings set forth in this Article 1:

 
1.1          “Active” or “Activity”, with respect to an Antibody or TAP Antibody, means that such Antibody or TAP Antibody has the ***** to an

Antibody Target as determined by the Joint Research Committee on an Antibody Target-by-Antibody Target basis.
 
1.2          “Adverse Event” means any untoward medical occurrence in a human patient or subject who is administered a product, whether or not

considered related to the product, including, without limitation, any undesirable sign (including abnormal laboratory findings of clinical concern), symptom or
disease associated with the use of such product.

 



 
1.3          “Affiliate” means any corporation, company, partnership, joint venture, firm and/or other entity that controls, is controlled by, or is under

common control with a Party to this Agreement.  For purposes of this Section 1.3, “control” shall be presumed to exist if one of the following conditions is
met: (a) in the case of corporate entities, direct or indirect ownership of more than fifty percent (50%) of the stock or shares having the right to vote for the
election of directors, and (b) in the case of non-corporate entities, direct or indirect ownership of more than fifty percent (50%) of the equity interest with the
power to direct the management and policies of such non-corporate entities or status as the general partner in the case of any partnership.  The Parties
acknowledge that in the case of certain entities organized under the laws of certain countries outside of the United States, the maximum percentage ownership
permitted by law for a foreign investor may be fifty percent (50%) or less, and that in such case such lower percentage shall be substituted in the preceding
sentence, provided that such owner has the power to direct the management and policies of such entity.

 
1.4          “Annual Research Plan” means the plan and budget to be developed by the Joint Research Committee for ***** each Contract Year, to be

updated as necessary during each Contract Year, setting forth, among other things, a master plan for the Research Program during the Research Program Term
and the matters described in Section 2.6 below.  Exhibit A sets forth the Annual Research Plan for the Contract Year 1.

 
1.5          “Antibody” means a polyclonal or monoclonal antibody, whether multiple or single chain, recombinant or naturally occurring, whole or

fragment, and any variants, derivatives or constructs thereof, including but not limited to, antigen binding portions including Fab, Fab’, F(ab’)2, Fv, dAb and
CDR fragments, single chain antibodies (scFv), chimeric antibodies, diabodies and polypeptides (including any humanized versions thereof) that contain at
least a portion of an immunoglobulin that is sufficient to confer specific antigen binding to the polypeptide.  When used alone, the term “Antibody” does not
include TAP Antibodies.

 
1.6          “Antibody Progression Manual” means the manual prepared by Aventis and ImmunoGen that sets forth selection criteria to be used by the

Joint Research Committee in its Development decisions with respect to any Antibody or TAP Antibody, as amended from time to time by the Joint Research
Committee.

 
1.7          “Antibody Target” means, subject to the limitations set forth in Section 2.8.2(b), ***** that (a) either Party ***** has ***** in ***** or

***** or ***** that may be useful in the ***** and (b) has been ***** by such ***** to the ***** for ***** in the *****.
 
1.8          “Approved Subcontractors” means (a) any Third Party with which ImmunoGen has entered into a subcontract agreement for the supply or

manufacture of components or materials as of the Effective Date, but only with respect to such subcontract agreement, and (b) any Third Party approved by
the Joint Research Committee or the Joint Development Committee, as appropriate, as a subcontractor for the performance of a Party’s obligations hereunder,
but only with respect to the performance of the obligations for which such approval was granted.  Schedule 1.8 to this Agreement sets forth all Approved
Subcontractors of ImmunoGen as of the Effective Date.
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1.9          “Aventis Intellectual Property” means the Aventis Technology, Aventis Patent Rights, any other intellectual property rights Controlled by

Aventis covering the Aventis Materials, Aventis Technology Improvements, and all Patent Rights Controlled by Aventis Covering any Aventis Technology
Improvements.

 
1.10        “Aventis Materials” means any material, including without limitation, biological materials or chemical compounds such as tissue samples,

molecules, reagents and screens, Antibody Targets, Antibodies, Effector Molecules and Linkers, which are (a) Controlled by Aventis and (b) provided by
Aventis, and accepted by the Joint Research Committee, for use in the Research Program in accordance with Section 2.2.2 of this Agreement.

 
1.11        “Aventis Patent Rights” means all Patent Rights that are Controlled by Aventis that Cover any Aventis Technology or Aventis Materials.
 
1.12        “Aventis Technology” means any Technology that is used by Aventis, or provided by Aventis for use, in the Research Program and that is

(a) Controlled by Aventis as of the Effective Date or (b) developed or conceived by employees of, or consultants to, Aventis on or after the Effective Date in
the conduct of activities outside of the Research Program.  For purposes of clarity, Aventis Technology shall not include Aventis Technology Improvements or
Aventis Materials.

 
1.13        “Aventis Technology Improvements” means any Technology which (a) is developed or conceived by employees of, or consultants to,

either Party or jointly by both Parties under this Agreement and (b) is Covered by the Aventis Patent Rights.
 
1.14        “BLA” means (a) (i) a Biologics License Application (as defined in Title 21 of the United States Code of Federal Regulations, as amended

from time to time) filed with the FDA, or any successor application or procedure, and (ii) any foreign counterpart of a U.S. Biologics License Application,
and (b) all supplements and amendments, including supplemental Biologics License Applications (and any foreign counterparts), that may be filed with
respect to the foregoing.

 
1.15        “Business Day” means a day on which banking institutions in New York are open for business.
 
1.16        “Calendar Quarter” means, with respect to the first such Calendar Quarter, the period beginning on the Effective Date and ending on the

last day of the calendar quarter within which such Effective Date falls, and thereafter each successive period of three (3) consecutive calendar months ending
on March 31, June 30, September 30 or December 31; except that the last Calendar Quarter shall end upon the expiration or termination of this Agreement.

 
1.17        “Calendar Year” means each successive period of twelve (12) months commencing on January 1 and ending on December 31.
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1.18        “Change of Control” means (a) a merger or consolidation of ImmunoGen and any Third Party which results in the voting securities of

ImmunoGen outstanding immediately prior thereto ceasing to represent more than fifty percent (50%) of the combined voting power of the surviving entity
immediately after such merger or consolidation, or (b) any Third Party, together with its affiliates, becoming the beneficial owner of fifty percent (50%) or



more of the combined voting power of the outstanding securities of ImmunoGen, or (c) the sale or other transfer to a Third Party of all or substantially all of
ImmunoGen’s assets which relate to this Agreement.

 
1.19        “Clinical Materials” means any materials, including without limitation, any Effector Molecules, Linkers or Program Antibodies, used in

connection with the Development or Commercialization of a Product.
 
1.20        “Collaboration Product” means any product, other than a Licensed Product, containing an EDC Antibody.
 
1.21        “Collaborative Focus Area” means the use of Antibodies and TAP Antibodies in the prevention, control and/or treatment in humans of

precancerous and/or cancerous conditions.
 
1.22        “Combination Product” means any Product or ***** that contains, in addition to an Antibody or TAP Antibody, one or more other

ingredients that (a) are not covered by ImmunoGen Intellectual Property or Program Intellectual Property, and (b) have independent biologic or chemical
activity as a therapeutic, prophylactic or diagnostic agent when present alone.

 
1.23        “Commercialization” or “Commercialize” means any and all activities directed to pre-launch and launch of products, marketing,

promoting, distributing, offering for sale and selling a product, importing a product for sale, conducting Phase III Studies (other than in connection with
Development activities) and Phase IV Studies, and manufacturing for commercial sale (except for scale-up activities, which shall be Development activities). 
When used as a verb, “Commercialize” means to engage in Commercialization.

 
1.24        “Commercially Reasonable Efforts” means (a) with respect to Aventis, the efforts and resources typically used by pharmaceutical

companies similar in size to Aventis, including Aventis, to perform the obligation at issue, and (b) with respect to ImmunoGen, the efforts and resources
typically used by biotechnology companies similar in size to ImmunoGen, including ImmunoGen, to perform the obligation at issue; in each case with respect
to a product or potential product of similar nature at a similar stage in its development or product life and of similar market potential, in view of conditions
prevailing at the time, and evaluated taking into account all relevant factors, including without limitation, the mechanism of action, efficacy, safety, the
anticipated regulatory authority approved labeling, the competitiveness of alternative products that are in the marketplace or under development, the patent
and other proprietary position of the product, the likelihood of Regulatory Approval, the profitability of the product and other technical, scientific, legal,
medical, marketing and competitive factors.
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1.25        “Confidential Information” means all proprietary materials, know-how or other information (whether or not patentable) regarding a

Party’s technology, products, business information or objectives, which is designated as confidential in writing by the disclosing Party, whether by letter or by
the use of an appropriate stamp or legend, prior to or at the time any such material, know-how or other information is disclosed by the disclosing Party to the
other Party.  Notwithstanding the foregoing to the contrary, materials, know-how or other information which is orally, electronically or visually disclosed by a
Party, or is disclosed in writing without an appropriate letter, stamp or legend, shall constitute Confidential Information of a Party (a) if the disclosing Party,
within thirty (30) days after such disclosure, delivers to the other Party a written document or documents describing the materials, know-how or other
information and referencing the place and date of such oral, visual, electronic or written disclosure and the names of the persons to whom such disclosure was
made, or (b) such information is of the type that is customarily considered to be confidential information by persons engaged in activities that are substantially
similar to the activities being engaged in by the Parties.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, (w) any technical or financial information of a Party disclosed at a
meeting of the Joint Research Committee, the Joint Development Committee, any U.S. Commercialization Team or the Joint Steering Committee (or any
subcommittees or project teams of the foregoing) or disclosed through an audit report shall constitute Confidential Information of such Party, (x) the terms of
this Agreement to the extent not disclosed in a public filing, shall constitute Confidential Information of each Party unless otherwise specified, (y) all know-
how and trade secrets disclosed by ImmunoGen to Aventis in connection with the license set forth in Section 7.3 of this Agreement shall constitute
Confidential Information of ImmunoGen, and (z) all know-how and trade secrets disclosed by Aventis to ImmunoGen in connection with the license set forth
in Section 7.2.4 of this Agreement shall constitute Confidential Information of Aventis.

 
1.26        “Contract Year” means the period beginning on September 1, 2003 and ending on August 31, 2004 (“Contract Year 1”) and each

succeeding twelve (12) month period thereafter during the Research Program Term (referred to as “Contract Year 2”, “Contract Year 3”, etc.) unless the
Research Program Term is terminated or extended, in which case the final Contract Year shall end as of the last date of the Research Program Term, as
terminated or extended.

 
1.27        “Control” or “Controlled” means with respect to any (a) material, document, item of information, method, data or other know-how or (b)

intellectual property right, the possession (whether by ownership or license, other than by a license granted pursuant to this Agreement) by a Party or its
Affiliates of the ability to grant to the other Party access and/or a license or sublicense as provided herein under such item or right without violating the terms
of any agreement or other arrangement with any Third Party existing before or after the Effective Date.

 
1.28        “Cost” means, with respect to any Product, Preclinical Materials or Clinical Materials manufactured by Immunogen, ***** (including the

***** associated with ***** and *****) of ***** and ***** such Product, Preclinical or Clinical Materials, including the sum of
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the following components: (i) *****, including (1) ***** used in ***** and ***** such ***** and (2) with respect to any *****, ***** or ***** by *****
from a ***** and ***** to Aventis without *****, the ***** by ***** to such ***** for the same; (ii) ***** to the ***** of ***** under the foregoing
clause (i) (1), including ***** and ***** and ***** and *****, ***** and ***** of the ***** and ***** and ***** which are ***** to ***** based on
***** or *****, or another ***** and are subject to the ***** as determined ***** to *****; (iii) any other ***** borne by ***** for the *****, *****,
*****, *****, ***** and/or ***** of such *****, ***** or *****; and (iv) ***** and *****, including *****, *****, *****, ***** and *****, which are
***** to ***** based on ***** or ***** or another *****. ***** under the foregoing clause (ii) and ***** and ***** under the foregoing clause (iv) are
allocable to each *****, ***** and/or ***** produced based upon ***** at ***** and are ***** to the ***** as ***** to *****.  Notwithstanding the
foregoing, ***** shall not ***** the ***** of ***** any ***** by ***** pursuant to ***** of this Agreement.

 



1.29        “Covering”, “Cover”, or “Covered” means, with respect to a Patent Right, that, but for a license granted to a party under a Valid Claim
included in such Patent Right, the practice by such party of an invention claimed in such Patent Right would infringe such Valid Claim.

 
1.30        “Dedicated Equipment” means any equipment, instrument or machinery used by ImmunoGen exclusively in the manufacturing of Product,

Preclinical Materials or Clinical Materials.
 
1.31        “Detail” means a face-to-face sales call made to an individual medical professional with prescribing authority or a small group of such

professionals during which a Co-Promoted Product is discussed with such professional(s).
 
1.32        “Development” or “Develop” means, with respect to an EDC Antibody, all preclinical and clinical drug development activities undertaken

to obtain Regulatory Approval of such EDC Antibody in accordance with this Agreement after the Effective Date and up to the obtaining of Regulatory
Approval of such EDC Antibody.  These activities shall include among other things: test method development and stability testing, toxicology, formulation,
process development, manufacturing scale-up, development-stage manufacturing, quality assurance/quality control development and performance with
respect to clinical materials, statistical analysis and report writing, clinical studies and regulatory affairs, product approval and registration (including pricing
approvals).  When used as a verb, “Develop” means to engage in Development.  Development shall include a Phase III Study conducted in conjunction with
Development activities.

 
1.33        “Drug Approval Application” means any application for Regulatory Approval (including pricing and reimbursement approvals) required

prior to any commercial sale or use of a Product in any country or jurisdiction in the Territory, including, without limitation, (a) any NDA filed with the FDA
within the United States, and (b) any equivalent application, including any MAA, filed with any Foreign Regulatory Authority.
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1.34        “Early Development Candidate Status” or “EDC Status” means the status that may be assigned by the Joint Research Committee to a

Lead Antibody when the results of Pre-EDC Research Evaluation Activities ***** of *****.
 
1.35        “EDC Antibody” means a Lead Antibody that has achieved EDC Status in the Research Program, as determined in accordance with

Section 3.2.
 
1.36        “Effective Date” means the date set forth in the first paragraph of this Agreement.
 
1.37        “Effector Molecule” means any small molecule cytotoxic or anticancer chemical entity that may be conjugated to an Antibody to create a

TAP (Tumor Activated Prodrug).
 
1.38        “European Union” means *****, *****, *****, *****, *****, *****, *****, *****, *****, the *****, *****, *****, *****, ***** and

the *****.
 
1.39        “Facility” means any one or more of ImmunoGen’s plant facilities as may be designated by ImmunoGen from time to time during the term

of this Agreement.
 
1.40        “FDA” means the United States Food and Drug Administration, or a successor agency thereto.
 
1.41        “Field” means all human therapeutic, prophylactic and diagnostic uses.
 
1.42        “First Commercial Sale” means, for a product, on a country-by-country basis, the first shipment of such product to a Third Party by the

selling Party, or its Affiliates or sublicensees, in a country in the Territory after Regulatory Approval has been achieved for such product in such country. 
Sales for test marketing, sampling and promotional uses, clinical trial purposes or compassionate or similar use shall not be considered to constitute a First
Commercial Sale.

 
1.43        “Foreign Regulatory Authority” means any applicable supranational, national, federal, state or local regulatory agency, department,

bureau or other governmental entity of any country or jurisdiction in the Territory (other than the FDA in the United States), having responsibility in such
country or jurisdiction for any Regulatory Approvals of any kind in such country or jurisdiction, and any successor agency or authority thereto.

 
1.44        “FTE” means a full time equivalent person year (consisting of a total of ***** hours per year) of scientific, technical or managerial work

on or directly related to the Research Program or the Development or Commercialization of Products.
 
1.45        “Good Clinical Practices” or “GCP” means the standards, practices and procedures set forth in the guidelines entitled “Guidance for

Industry E6 Good Clinical Practice: Consolidated Guidance,” including related regulatory requirements imposed by the FDA, any successor agency and, as
applicable, the equivalent thereof in jurisdictions outside the United States.
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1.46        “Good Laboratory Practices” or “GLP” means the then-current good laboratory practice standards promulgated or endorsed by the FDA

as defined in 21 C.F.R. Part 58, and comparable regulatory standards in jurisdictions outside the United States.
 
1.47        “Good Manufacturing Practices” or “GMP” means the then-current good manufacturing practices required by the FDA and set forth in

the U.S. Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, as amended, and the regulations promulgated thereunder, for the manufacturing and testing of pharmaceutical
materials, and any other laws or regulations applicable to the manufacturing and testing of pharmaceutical materials in jurisdictions outside the United States.

 
1.48        “ImmunoGen Intellectual Property” means the ImmunoGen Technology, ImmunoGen Patent Rights, any other intellectual property rights

Controlled by ImmunoGen covering the ImmunoGen Materials, ImmunoGen Technology Improvements, and all Patent Rights Controlled by ImmunoGen



Covering ImmunoGen Technology Improvements.  For purposes of clarity, the term “ImmunoGen Intellectual Property” shall not include Program
Intellectual Property.

 
1.49        “ImmunoGen Materials” means any materials, including without limitation, biological materials or chemical compounds such as tissue

samples, molecules, reagents and screens, Antibody Targets, Antibodies, TAP Antibodies, Effector Molecules and Linkers, which are (a) Controlled by
ImmunoGen and (b) provided by ImmunoGen, and accepted by the Joint Research Committee, for use in the Research Program in accordance with
Section 2.2.2 of this Agreement.

 
1.50        “ImmunoGen Patent Rights” means the patents and patent applications listed on Schedule 1.50, and any other Patent Rights that are

Controlled by ImmunoGen that Cover any ImmunoGen Technology or ImmunoGen Materials.
 
1.51        “ImmunoGen Researcher” means a professional researcher and scientist who is an employee of ImmunoGen and has at least a ***** in

***** (except, as of the Effective Date, ***** who does not have a ***** in ***** but has been employed by ImmunoGen in a capacity which involves
performing the task assigned to such individual for at least ***** (*****) *****) and other academic or professional credentials reasonably demonstrating
appropriate expertise for the task to be performed.

 
1.52        “ImmunoGen Technology” means any Technology that is used by ImmunoGen, or provided by ImmunoGen for use, in the Research

Program and that is (a) Controlled by ImmunoGen as of the Effective Date or (b) developed or conceived by employees of, or consultants to, ImmunoGen on
or after the Effective Date in the conduct of activities outside of the Research Program.  For purposes of clarity, ImmunoGen Technology shall not include
ImmunoGen Technology Improvements or ImmunoGen Materials.

 
1.53        “ImmunoGen Technology Improvements” means any Technology which (a) is developed or conceived by employees of, or consultants

to, either Party or jointly by both Parties, under this Agreement and (b) (i) is Covered by the ImmunoGen Patent Rights or (ii) is a
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maytansinoid that is substantially equivalent to a maytansinoid Covered by an ImmunoGen Patent Right listed on Schedule 1.50 or (iii) is a method of
manufacture or use with respect to a maytansinoid that is substantially equivalent to a method of manufacture or use, respectively, with respect to a
maytansinoid and Covered by an ImmunoGen Patent Right listed on Schedule 1.50.

 
1.54        “IND” means (a) (i) an Investigational New Drug Application, as defined in the U.S. Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetic Act, as amended,

and the regulations promulgated thereunder, that is required to be filed with the FDA before beginning clinical testing of a pharmaceutical product in human
subjects, or any successor application or procedure and (ii) any foreign counterpart of a U.S. Investigational New Drug Application, and (b) all supplements
and amendments that may be filed with respect to the foregoing.

 
1.55        “Joint Steering Committee” or “JSC” means a committee comprised of representatives of ImmunoGen and Aventis and established for

the purpose of planning and overseeing the activities under this Agreement as contemplated by Article 13.
 
1.56        “Laws” means all laws, statutes, rules, regulations, ordinances and other pronouncements having the effect of law of any federal, national,

multinational, state, provincial, county, city or other political subdivision, domestic or foreign.
 
1.57        “Lead Antibody” means a Program Antibody that meets the Lead Selection Criteria as determined by the Joint Research Committee.
 
1.58        “Lead Selection Criteria” means the criteria set forth in the Antibody Progression Manual that, when met by a Program Antibody, will

make such Program Antibody eligible for designation as a Lead Antibody by the Joint Research Committee pursuant to Section 3.1 of this Agreement.
 
1.59        “Licensed Antibody” means ***** known as *****, as more fully described on Schedule 1.59.
 
1.60        “Licensed Product” means the first to occur of each of the following:
 

(a)           a product containing only ***** without any Effector Molecule; or
 
(b)           a product containing ***** to an ***** in the ***** of *****; it being understood that any product containing *****

alone or conjugated to an Effector Molecule not in the ***** of Effector Molecules shall be considered a *****, not a *****.
 

1.61        “Licensed TAP Antibody” means ***** known as *****, as more fully described on Schedule 1.61.
 
1.62        “Limited Target” means, subject to the proviso at the end of this Section 1.62:
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(a)           (i) any Target where ImmunoGen has granted a Third Party the exclusive option to obtain an exclusive license to

conjugate TAP Antibodies with respect to any Effector Molecule directed thereto (a “Limited Exclusive Option Target”) and (ii) any Limited Exclusive
Option Target where such Third Party exercises such option and obtains such license (a “Limited Exclusive Target”),

 
(b)           (i) any Target where ***** has ***** a ***** the ***** to ***** an ***** to ***** directed thereto with an ***** only

from the ***** of ***** (a “Limited Exclusive Maytan Option Target”) and (ii) (A) any ***** where such ***** such ***** and ***** such ***** or (B)
any ***** where ***** has a ***** and ***** to ***** directed thereto with an ***** from the ***** of ***** (each, a “Limited Exclusive Maytan
Target”),

 
(c)           (i) any Target where ***** has ***** a ***** the ***** to ***** a ***** to ***** thereto with an ***** from the

***** of ***** (a “Limited Non-Exclusive Maytan Option Target”) and (ii) any ***** where such ***** such ***** and ***** such ***** (a “Limited



Non-Exclusive Maytan Target”), and
 
(d)           any Target where ***** has ***** a ***** the right to ***** whether to ***** an ***** to have such ***** become

either a Limited Exclusive Maytan Option Target or Limited Non-Exclusive Maytan Option Target and/or, ***** thereof, a Limited Exclusive Maytan Target
or Limited Non-Exclusive Maytan Target, respectively (a “Limited Maytan Evaluation Target”);

 
provided, however, that (a) any Limited Exclusive Option Target, Limited Exclusive Maytan Option Target or Limited Non-Exclusive Maytan Option Target
shall ***** to be a ***** if the ***** does not *****, in ***** with all ***** and *****, the ***** to ***** such ***** into a *****, ***** or *****,
respectively, and (b) any Limited Maytan Evaluation Target shall ***** to be a ***** if the ***** does not *****, in ***** with all ***** and other *****,
the ***** to ***** such ***** into either (x) a Limited Exclusive Maytan Option Target and/or a Limited Exclusive Maytan Target or (y) a Limited Non-
Exclusive Maytan Option Target and/or a Limited Non-Exclusive Maytan Target.  Schedule 1.62 sets forth a list of the categories of Limited Targets and a
description of the agreements and the number of Targets related thereto.
 

1.63        “Linker” means any chemical entity utilized to attach an Effector Molecule to a TAP Antibody.
 
1.64        “MAA” means an application filed with the relevant Foreign Regulatory Authority seeking Regulatory Approval to market and sell any

Product outside the United States for a particular indication.
 
1.65        “NDA” means a New Drug Application, as defined in the U.S. Federal Food, Drug and Cosmetics Act or BLA submitted to the FDA, or

any successor application or procedure required for Regulatory Approval to commence sale of a Product in the United States.
 
1.66        “Net Sales” means:
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(a)           with respect to Aventis, the gross amounts invoiced by any of Aventis or its Affiliates or sublicensees on account of sales

of Products or ***** to Third Parties (including without limitation Third Party distributors and wholesalers), less the total of the following amounts absorbed
or accrued by Aventis or its Affiliates under generally accepted accounting principles consistently applied:

 
(i)            trade, cash and/or quantity discounts allowed and taken directly with respect to such sales, or reflected in the

invoiced amount;
 
(ii)           excise, sales and other consumption taxes (including VAT on the sale of Products or ***** and excluding taxes

based on income) and custom duties imposed upon and paid directly by Aventis with respect to the Products or *****, to the extent included in the invoice
price;

 
(iii)         freight, insurance and other transportation charges, to the extent included in the invoice price;
 
(iv)          amounts repaid or credited by reason of returns, rejections, defects or recalls, chargebacks, retroactive price

reductions, refunds and billing errors; and
 
(v)            compulsory payments and rebates directly related to the sale of Products or *****, accrued, paid or deducted,

pursuant to agreements (including, but not limited to, managed care agreements) or governmental regulations.
 

Use of Products or ***** for promotional or sampling purposes and for use in clinical trials contemplated under this Agreement shall not be considered in
determining Net Sales.  In the case of any sale of a Product or ***** between or among Aventis and its Affiliates or sublicensees for resale, Net Sales shall be
calculated as above only on the first arm’s length sale thereafter to a Third Party.
 
In the event a Product or ***** is sold as part of a Combination Product, the Net Sales from the Combination Product, for the purposes of determining
royalty payments, shall be determined by multiplying the Net Sales of the Combination Product (as defined in the standard Net Sales definition above),
during the applicable royalty reporting period, by the fraction, A/A+B, where A is the average per unit sale price of active ingredient contained in the Product
or *****, when sold separately in finished form in the country in which the Combination Product is sold and B is the average per unit sale price of active
ingredient contained in the other product(s) included in the Combination Product when sold separately in finished form in the country in which the
Combination Product is sold, in each case during the applicable royalty reporting period or, if sales of the Product or ***** alone did not occur in such
period, then in the most recent royalty reporting period in which arms length fair market sales of such Product or ***** occurred.  In the event that such
average sale price cannot be determined for the Product or *****, on the one hand, and all other product(s) included in the Combination Product, on the other,
Net Sales for the purposes of determining royalty payments shall be mutually agreed upon by the Parties based

 
11

 
on the relative value contributed by each component, such agreement to be negotiated in good faith.
 

(b)           with respect to ImmunoGen, the gross amounts invoiced by any of ImmunoGen or its Affiliates or sublicensees on
account of sales of any Dropped Products which are not otherwise subject to a Commercialization Agreement between the Parties to Third Parties (including
without limitation Third Party distributors and wholesalers), less the total of the following amounts absorbed or accrued by ImmunoGen or its Affiliates under
generally accepted accounting principles consistently applied:

 
(i)            trade, cash and/or quantity discounts allowed and taken directly with respect to such sales, or reflected in the

invoiced amount;
 
(ii)           excise, sales and other consumption taxes (including VAT on the sale of such Dropped Products and excluding

taxes based on income) and custom duties imposed upon and paid directly by ImmunoGen with respect to such Dropped Products, to the extent included in



the invoice price;
 
(iii)         freight, insurance and other transportation charges, to the extent included in the invoice price;
 
(iv)          amounts repaid or credited by reason of returns, rejections, defects or recalls, chargebacks, retroactive price

reductions, refunds and billing errors; and
 
(v)            compulsory payments and rebates directly related to the sale of such Dropped Products, accrued, paid or

deducted, pursuant to agreements (including, but not limited to, managed care agreements) or governmental regulations.
 

Use of Dropped Products for promotional or sampling purposes and for use in clinical trials contemplated under this Agreement shall not be considered in
determining Net Sales.  In the case of any sale of a Dropped Product between or among ImmunoGen and its Affiliates or sublicensees for resale, Net Sales
shall be calculated as above only on the first arm’s length sale thereafter to a Third Party.
 

1.67        “*****” means a ***** (other than a Product or Dropped Product) that contains a ***** or other ***** (other than an ***** or *****) that
is ***** by ***** in a ***** in ***** against a ***** (the “*****”).

 
1.68        “Party” means Aventis or ImmunoGen; “Parties” means Aventis and ImmunoGen.
 
1.69        “Patent Rights” means all existing patents and patent applications and all patent applications hereafter filed, including any continuations,

continuations-in-part, divisions, provisionals or any substitute applications, any patent issued with respect to any such patent applications, any reissue,
reexamination, renewal or extension (including any supplemental
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patent certificate) of any such patent, and any confirmation patent or registration patent or patent of addition based on any such patent, and all foreign
counterparts of any of the foregoing.

 
1.70        “Phase I Study” means a clinical study in subjects to evaluate the pharmacokinetic and pharmacodynamic properties, maximum tolerated

dose, dosing interval, and absorption, distribution, metabolism and excretion (ADME) of a candidate drug.
 
1.71        “Phase IIB Study” means a controlled dose ranging clinical trial to evaluate further the efficacy and safety of a candidate drug in the

targeted patient population and to define the optimal dosing regimen.
 
1.72        “Phase III Study” means, as to a particular product for a particular indication, a controlled and lawful study in humans of the safety and

efficacy of such product for such indication, which is prospectively designed to demonstrate statistically whether such product is safe and effective for use in
such indication in a manner sufficient to file a Drug Approval Application to obtain Regulatory Approval to market and sell that product for the indication
under investigation in such study.

 
1.73        “Phase IV Study” means a study initiated in a country after receipt of Regulatory Approval in such country within the approved product

labeling.
 
1.74        “Preclinical Materials” means any materials, including without limitation any Effector Molecules, Linkers, Program Antibodies and

Antibody Targets, used for the purpose of conducting preclinical testing of a Product.
 
1.75        “Pre-EDC Research Evaluation Activities” means any and all of the activities relating to the qualification of a Program Antibody for

EDC Status, including, but not limited to, molecular biological or other modification activities and preclinical activities.
 
1.76        “Products” means, collectively, any and all Licensed Products and Collaboration Products.
 
1.77        “Program Antibody” means an Antibody or a TAP Antibody that: (a) (i) is in a Party’s or any of its Affiliates’ Control as of the Effective

Date, or becomes Controlled by a Party or any of its Affiliates during the Research Program Term but outside of the Research Program, (ii) is Active against a
Program Target and (iii) is selected by the Joint Research Committee for Pre-EDC Research Evaluation Activities in the conduct of the Research Program; or
(b) is created, made or acquired by a Party or its Affiliate in the course of performing activities under the Research Program and is Active against a Program
Target.

 
1.78        “Program Intellectual Property” means, collectively, Program Patent Rights, Program Materials and Program Technology.  For purposes

of clarity, “Program Intellectual Property” shall not include Aventis Technology Improvements or ImmunoGen Technology Improvements.
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1.79        “Program Materials” means any material first identified or discovered by either or both Parties in the conduct of the Research Program,

including, without limitation, biological materials or chemical compounds such as tissue samples, molecules, reagents and screens, Antibody Targets,
Program Antibodies, Effector Molecules and Linkers subject to Burdened Technology Obligations.

 
1.80        “Program Patent Rights” means the Patent Rights that Cover any Program Technology or Program Materials.
 
1.81        “Program Target” means any Antibody Target that is ***** by the ***** as a Program Target and for which the Joint Research

Committee has committed to initiate activities in the Research Program that relate to ***** or ***** of ***** against such Target.
 
1.82        “Program Technology” means any Technology, other than ImmunoGen Technology Improvements and Aventis Technology Improvements,

that is developed or conceived by employees of, or consultants to, either Party or jointly by both Parties, in the conduct of the Research Program.



 
1.83        “Regulatory Approval” means any and all approvals (including any applicable governmental price and reimbursement approvals),

licenses, registrations, or authorizations of any federal, national, multinational, state, provincial or local regulatory agency, department, bureau or other
governmental entity necessary for the manufacture, use, storage, import, transport, promotion, marketing and sale of a product in a country or group of
countries.

 
1.84        “Research Program” means the collaborative research program to be conducted by the Parties in accordance with the Annual Research

Plan and any Development activities allocated to ImmunoGen FTEs under this Agreement.
 
1.85        “ROW” means all the countries in the Territory excluding the United States.
 
1.86        “Serious Adverse Event” means any Adverse Event occurring at any dose that:
 

(a)           results in death or threatens life;
 
(b)           results in persistent or significant disability/incapacity;
 
(c)           results in or prolongs hospitalization;
 
(d)           results in a congenital anomaly or birth defect; or
 
(e)           is otherwise medically significant.
 

1.87        “TAP Antibody” means an Antibody that is conjugated to an Effector Molecule.
 
1.88        “Target” means any antigen that can be recognized by an Antibody.
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1.89        “*****” means, with respect to a given Program Target, a ***** of ***** which the Joint Research Committee determines in good faith

based upon reasonable scientific evidence to so designate, including, in particular, a determination that the ***** is ***** to the given ***** and is
reasonably likely to have substantially the ***** as such *****.  The Parties hereby acknowledge and agree that unless the Joint Research Committee has a
reasonable scientific basis for determining otherwise: (a) no more than ***** (*****) ***** may be included as part of a *****; and (b) a ***** shall not
include all or substantially all of the ***** known to be ***** with a *****.

 
1.90        “Technology” means and includes all inventions, discoveries, improvements, trade secrets and proprietary methods and materials, whether

or not patentable, relating to the Field, including but not limited to (a) samples of, methods of production or use of, and structural and functional information
pertaining to, chemical compounds, proteins or other biological substances and (b) data, formulations, techniques and know-how (including any negative
results).

 
1.91        “Territory” means the entire world.
 
1.92        “Third Party” means any person or entity other than a Party or any of its Affiliates.
 
1.93        “Valid Claim” means a claim (a) of any issued, unexpired patent which has not been revoked or held unenforceable or invalid by a decision

of a court or governmental agency of competent jurisdiction from which no appeal can be taken, or with respect to which an appeal is not taken within the
time allowed for appeal, and which has not been disclaimed, denied or admitted to be invalid or unenforceable through reissue, disclaimer or otherwise, or (b)
of any patent application which shall not have been pending on or after the ***** (*****th) anniversary of the date of issuance of a first Patent Office
communication during examination of the first application related thereto, and shall not have been earlier cancelled, withdrawn or abandoned, and, on a
country-by-country basis, which is enforceable on the operative date of inquiry by virtue of applicable Law in such country.

 
1.94        Additional Definitions.  Each of the following definitions is set forth in the Section of this Agreement indicated below:
 

Definition
 

Section
   
Aventis Indemnified Parties

 

15.1.2
Aventis Reply

 

3.8.2
Breaching Party

 

12.2.1
Burdened Technology

 

2.2.1
Burdened Technology Obligations

 

2.2.1
Collaboration Product Royalties

 

8.4.2
Commercialization Agreement

 

3.8.1
Comparable Product

 

2.9.1
 

15

 
Confidential Information

 

2.9.1
Co-Promoted Product

 

6.2
Dropped Product

 

3.7.1
Dropped Target

 

2.8.4
Event

 

8.2
ImmunoGen Indemnified Parties

 

15.1.1
ImmunoGen Notice 3.8.1



ImmunoGen Sales Reps
 

6.5
Joint Development Committee

 

3.5.1
Joint Research Committee

 

2.3.1
Joint Research Project Team

 

2.3.1
Lead Data Package

 

3.1.1
Licensed Product Royalties

 

8.4.1
Limitations

 

2.8.2
Limited Exclusive Maytan Option Target

 

1.62(b)
Limited Exclusive Maytan Target

 

1.62(b)
Limited Exclusive Option Target

 

1.62(a)
Limited Exclusive Target

 

1.62(a)
Limited Maytan Evaluation Target

 

1.62(d)
Limited Non-Exclusive Maytan Option Target

 

1.62(c)
Limited Non-Exclusive Maytan Target

 

1.62(c)
Limited Target

 

2.8.2
Limited Target Notice

 

2.8.2
Marks

 

10.8.1
naked Antibodies

 

2.8.2(b)(ii)
*****

 

3.8.2
Non-Antibody Target

 

1.67
*****

 

4.1.2
Patent Prosecution

 

10.4.1
*****

 

7.5.2
Research Program Term

 

2.1.2
Royalties

 

8.4.2
U.S. Commercialization Team

 

6.2
U.S. Marketing Plan

 

6.4(b)
Withholding Taxes

 

9.1.2
 

ARTICLE 2
RESEARCH PROGRAM

 
2.1          General.
 

2.1.1       Objective.
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(a)           The Parties shall collaborate in carrying out the Research Program as set forth in the then-current Annual Research Plan,

with the global objectives, consistent with the resources allocated to such activities under the Annual Research Plan, of: (i) utilizing ImmunoGen Technology,
ImmunoGen Materials and ImmunoGen Technology Improvements within the Collaborative Focus Area, including Target validation, Antibody generation
and humanization, Effector Molecule generation and development, and process development expertise for TAP Antibodies and Linkers; (ii) identifying
Targets for designation as Antibody Targets and evaluating Antibody Targets for designation as Program Targets suitable for discovery and development of
Antibodies and TAP Antibodies Active against such Program Targets; (iii) ***** with respect to TAP Antibodies and Linker conjugation; (iv) *****, prior to
the end of *****, ***** (*****) ***** ready to enter *****; (v) *****, prior to the end of *****, ***** (*****) or ***** (*****) ***** ready to enter
***** (including ***** of all ***** with respect thereto), and between ***** (*****) to ***** (*****) *****, of which at least ***** (*****) contains a
***** arising out of the Research Program, in each case with potential utility in the Collaboration Focus Area; and (vi) providing Aventis with access
pursuant to the terms of this Agreement to ImmunoGen’s scientific and development expertise in the areas of antibody target validation, antibody generation
and humanization, effector molecule generation and development, conjugation and linker technology, and process development expertise for antibody-drug
conjugates.

 
(b)           It is intended that, to the extent practicable, both Parties will participate in the full range of activities to be conducted in

the Research Program, including without limitation, Target identification and validation, generation of Antibodies and TAP Antibodies, resurfacing of
Antibodies and Pre-EDC Research Evaluation Activities with respect to Program Antibodies, and chemical synthesis and optimization of Effector Molecules
and Linkers, all of the foregoing subject to the Parties’ respective capabilities and capacities to perform such activities and, in each case, in accordance with
the Annual Research Plan.

 
(c)           It is intended that the Research Program will be conducted as a collaborative effort with activities by the Parties carried

out at each Party’s respective facilities as may be outlined in the Annual Research Plan.
 
(d)           It is also understood that, during the Research Program Term, Aventis and, subject to the provisions of Section 7.5,

ImmunoGen, will each be conducting broader Target identification and validation and research evaluation of Antibodies, TAP Antibodies, Effector Molecules
and Linkers, as well as assay configuration, high throughput screening and evaluation of small molecule and other compounds, in each case which may be
directed to the Collaborative Focus Area but which may be conducted outside of the Research Program.

 
(e)           It is also intended that, during the Research Program Term, the Parties shall collaborate in making available for the

Research Program, Antibodies, TAP Antibodies, Targets, Effector Molecules and Linkers, as set forth in the then current Annual Research Plan, with the
global objectives of maximizing the quantity and quality of
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Collaboration Products consistent with the resources allocated to such activities under the Annual Research Plan.



 
2.1.2       Term.  The term of the Research Program (the “Research Program Term”) shall commence on the first day of Contract Year 1 and

end on the last day of Contract Year 3, unless (a) earlier terminated pursuant to the provisions of Article 12 or (b) extended pursuant to the provisions of this
Section 2.1.2; provided, however, that, Aventis shall have the option to extend the Research Program Term for up to two (2) additional twelve (12) month
periods upon not less than twelve (12) months’ prior written notice of each such twelve (12) month extension to ImmunoGen.

 
2.2          Burdened Technology.
 

2.2.1       General.  The Parties hereby acknowledge that certain ImmunoGen Technology and ImmunoGen Materials, and data and
information relating thereto Controlled by ImmunoGen, may be subject to financial and/or other contractual obligations to Third Parties incurred by
ImmunoGen as a result of an in-license or similar agreement entered into after the Effective Date (“Burdened Technology”) and that the use of such Burdened
Technology in the Research Program and the Development and Commercialization of Products resulting from the Research Program may (i) result in
financial or other contractual obligations of ImmunoGen to Third Parties, or (ii) require that certain notices or disclosures be made by ImmunoGen to such
Third Party as a result of the use thereof (collectively, the “Burdened Technology Obligations”).  For purposes of clarity, neither the term “Burdened
Technology”, nor the term “Burdened Technology Obligations,” shall include Limited Targets.  For clarity, any financial and/or other contractual obligations
to Third Parties under agreements entered into by ImmunoGen on or prior to the Effective Date, that would have been “Burdened Technology” if entered into
after the Effective Date, shall be the ***** of ImmunoGen.

 
2.2.2       Review of Technology and Materials.  The Joint Research Committee shall review all ImmunoGen Technology, ImmunoGen

Materials, Aventis Technology and Aventis Materials that ImmunoGen and Aventis, respectively, propose to use in the conduct of the Research Program.  To
the extent that the Technology or materials so proposed by ImmunoGen are subject to Burdened Technology Obligations or constitute Limited Targets,
ImmunoGen shall promptly identify and, subject to any confidentiality obligations it may have to any Third Parties, describe in reasonable detail to the Joint
Research Committee the extent and nature of such Burdened Technology Obligations or the fact that such Technology or materials constitute Limited
Targets.  Promptly upon receipt of ImmunoGen’s notice, the Joint Research Committee shall determine whether to include such ImmunoGen Technology,
ImmunoGen Materials, Aventis Technology or Aventis Materials in the Research Program.  ImmunoGen shall be solely responsible for any Burdened
Technology Obligations that are existing as of the date such Technology or materials are first used in the conduct of the Research Program to the extent not
identified and described to the Joint Research Committee prior to such use; it being agreed and understood that ImmunoGen’s failure to identify and describe
Burdened Technology Obligations shall not be considered a material breach of this Agreement for purposes of
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Section 12.2.3 so long as the related Technology and materials remain available for use under this Agreement.

 
2.2.3       Inclusion of Burdened Technology.  Aventis hereby agrees that, to the extent that the Joint Research Committee determines to

include any Burdened Technology in the Research Program, and to the extent that ImmunoGen has identified and described such Burdened Technology
Obligation in reasonable detail to the Joint Research Committee, the Parties will ***** the ***** of ***** for the contractual and/or financial obligations to
such Third Parties which comprise such Burdened Technology Obligations, as necessary to include such Burdened Technology within the Research Program
and/or in the Development or Commercialization of Products, for so long as such Burdened Technology is used in the Research Program or to the extent such
obligations are otherwise applicable to the use of such Burdened Technology in the Research Program and/or is used to Develop or Commercialize Products. 
Once any ImmunoGen Technology or ImmunoGen Materials, including without limitation any Target, Program Antibody, Effector Molecule or Linker, is
recommended by the Joint Research Committee for inclusion in the Research Program, ImmunoGen will not, without the prior written consent of Aventis,
enter into any agreement with any Third Party that would result in any such ImmunoGen Technology or ImmunoGen Materials becoming subject to
additional Burdened Technology Obligations with respect thereto or would result in any such Target becoming a Limited Target.

 
2.3          Joint Research Committee.
 

2.3.1       Formation and Membership.  As soon as practicable after the Effective Date, Aventis and ImmunoGen shall establish a Joint
Research Committee (the “Joint Research Committee”) comprised of at least four (4) representatives designated by Aventis and at least four (4)
representatives designated by ImmunoGen; provided, that, Aventis and ImmunoGen may designate additional representatives from time to time.  The Joint
Research Committee shall include at least one Development representative from each Party.  Each Party shall be responsible for its own expenses incurred in
connection with attendance by its personnel at any meeting of the Joint Research Committee.  From time to time during the Research Program Term, the Joint
Research Committee may establish one or more teams comprised of representatives of both Parties to implement various aspects of the Annual Research Plan
as determined by the Joint Research Committee (each, a “Joint Research Project Team”).  Such Joint Research Project Teams shall be governed in the same
manner and subject to the relevant requirements as set forth herein for the Joint Research Committee.

 
2.3.2       Administrative Matters.  The Joint Research Committee shall appoint two co-chairpersons from among its members, which

positions shall be filled by one representative of Aventis and one representative of ImmunoGen.  The co-chairpersons shall be responsible for calling meetings
of the Joint Research Committee and for leading the meetings.  A Joint Research Committee member of the Party hosting a meeting of the Joint Research
Committee shall serve as secretary of that meeting.  The secretary of the meeting shall prepare and distribute to all members of the Joint Research Committee
minutes of the meeting sufficiently in advance of the next meeting to allow adequate review and comment prior to the meeting.  Such minutes
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shall provide a description in reasonable detail of the discussions had at the meeting and a list of any actions, decisions or determinations approved by the
Joint Research Committee.  Minutes of each Joint Research Committee meeting shall be approved or disapproved, and revised as necessary, at the next
meeting.  Final minutes of each meeting shall be distributed to the members of the Joint Research Committee by the co-chairpersons.

 
2.3.3       Decision Making.  Each Party shall have one vote on the Joint Research Committee (and each Joint Research Project Team).  Both

Parties must vote in the affirmative to allow the Joint Research Committee (or Joint Research Project Team) to take any action that requires the vote of the
Joint Research Committee or a Joint Research Project Team, with respect to any actions delegated to a Joint Research Project Team by the Joint Research
Committee.  If a Joint Research Project Team is unable to reach unanimous agreement on any matter, such matter shall be referred to the Joint Research



Committee.  If the Joint Research Committee is unable to reach unanimous agreement within ***** (*****) ***** following the date the matter was first put
to a vote, then *****.

 
2.3.4       Meetings.
 

(a)           The Joint Research Committee shall meet at least four (4) times per Contract Year (except that proportionately fewer
meetings shall be held in a Contract Year with fewer than 12 months).  Such meetings shall be held at such times and places as are mutually agreed upon by
the members of the Joint Research Committee.

 
(b)           Each Party shall endeavor to have its representatives attend the meetings of the Joint Research Committee in person.  If a

Party’s representative is unable to attend a meeting, such Party may attend such meeting by telephonic or video conference or designate an alternate
representative to attend such meeting in person in place of the absent representative.  In addition, each Party may, at its discretion, invite additional employees
and, with the consent of the other Party, consultants or scientific advisors, to attend the meetings of the Joint Research Committee.

 
(c)           Either Party may also convene a special meeting of the Joint Research Committee for the purpose of resolving disputes or

for the purpose of reviewing (or making) a decision pertaining to the designation of an Antibody Target as a Program Target, or the designation of an
Antibody or TAP Antibody as a Program Antibody, or the selection of an Effector Molecule by providing at least ten (10) Business Days written notice to the
other Party.

 
2.3.5       Responsibilities.  The Joint Research Committee shall be responsible for, among other things:
 

(a)           overseeing the Research Program;
 
(b)           providing a forum for consensual decision making;
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(c)           reviewing recommendations from and advising the Joint Research Project Teams;
 
(d)           preparing and approving each Annual Research Plan for each Contract Year after Contract Year 1;
 
(e)           appointing one or more Joint Research Project Teams, as may be appropriate, to implement the Annual Research Plan;
 
(f)            monitoring the Parties’ compliance with their respective obligations under the Annual Research Plan, including the

accomplishment of key objectives and the devotion of an appropriate number of FTEs to the Research Program;
 
(g)           reviewing and approving any amendments to the Annual Research Plan and evaluating any substantive departures by

either Party from the Annual Research Plan;
 
(h)           reviewing and approving any amendments to the Antibody Progression Manual, including without limitation the Lead

Selection Criteria;
 
(i)            evaluating any Burdened Technology Obligations and Limited Targets and deciding whether to accept Burdened

Technology or Limited Targets into the Research Program;
 
(j)            accepting a Target for inclusion into the Research Program as an Antibody Target, subject to the limitation set forth in

Section 2.8.2(b);
 
(k)           approving selection of an Antibody Target for designation as a Program Target and identifying any ***** of which such

Program Target is a part;
 
(l)            approving selection of an Antibody or a TAP Antibody for designation as a Program Antibody;
 
(m)          approving selection of a Program Antibody for designation as a Lead Antibody;
 
(n)           approving selection of Effector Molecules and directing the chemical optimization and synthesis thereof;
 
(o)           approving selection of Linkers;
 
(p)           monitoring reports submitted by the Parties pursuant to the Annual Research Plan;
 
(q)           reviewing and commenting upon (but not approving) the patent filing strategies of the Parties as provided in Article 10 of

this Agreement; and
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(r)           approving recommendations to drop Antibody Targets or Program Targets.
 

2.4          Joint Research Project Teams.
 

2.4.1       Formation of Joint Research Project Teams.  If the Joint Research Committee determines to establish a Joint Research Project
Team, Aventis and ImmunoGen shall each make its initial designation of its representatives not later than ***** (*****) ***** after the formation of such



Joint Research Project Team.  Either Party may change its designees to any Joint Research Project Team at any time upon written notice to the other Party.
 
2.4.2       Responsibilities.  Each Joint Research Project Team shall be responsible for, among other things:
 

(a)           implementing aspects of the Annual Research Plan assigned to such Joint Research Project Team by the Joint Research
Committee;

 
(b)           recommending to the Joint Research Committee Antibody Targets as Program Targets;
 
(c)           recommending to the Joint Research Committee Antibodies and TAP Antibodies for designation as Program Antibodies;
 
(d)           recommending to the Joint Research Committee Program Antibodies for designation as Lead Antibodies;
 
(e)           recommending to the Joint Research Committee Effector Molecules based upon cytotoxicity, ease of synthesis,

patentability and other relevant factors; and
 
(f)            recommending Linkers to the Joint Research Committee.
 

2.4.3       Special Meeting.  Either Party may convene a special meeting of the appropriate Joint Research Project Team for the purpose of
reviewing (or making) such recommendations as described in Section 2.4.2 by providing ***** (*****) ***** prior written notice to the other Party.

 
2.5          Conduct of the Research Program.
 

2.5.1       ImmunoGen shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to perform its obligations under the Research Program in accordance with
the Annual Research Plan.  As part of such efforts, during the Research Program Term, ImmunoGen shall ***** the ***** and ***** necessary to carry out
its obligations under the Annual Research Plan, and shall make available the ***** of ***** in each year of the Research Program Term as set forth in
Section 2.5.3.  In furtherance of the foregoing, the Annual Research Plan shall set forth the ***** of ***** and by Calendar Quarter (or partial Calendar
Quarter, as the case may be) and
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shall set a ***** related to the use of Approved Subcontractors by project and by Calendar Quarter (or partial Calendar Quarter, as the case may be).  If, at
any time during the Research Program Term, ImmunoGen determines that either the ***** of ***** for a particular Calendar Quarter or the costs related to
the use by ImmunoGen of Approved Subcontractors for a particular Calendar Quarter or for the Contract Year is expected to exceed the number or costs set
forth in the Annual Research Plan for such Calendar Quarter or for the Contract Year by ***** (*****) or more, ImmunoGen shall convene a special meeting
of the Joint Research Committee.  The Joint Research Committee shall then determine whether to ***** the use of such ***** or such additional Approved
Subcontractor services or whether to ***** the ***** to be *****, such that such ***** or ***** related to the use by ImmunoGen of Approved
Subcontractors are *****.  Such determination of the Joint Research Committee shall be set forth in a revised Annual Research Plan as a revised work plan or
budget, as the case may be.  To the extent agreed to by the Joint Research Committee, ***** may be allocated by the Joint Development Committee to
Development activities relating to Collaboration Products or Licensed Products.  Subject to ImmunoGen’s right to receive the funding described in
Section 2.5.3 below, ImmunoGen shall have the responsibility, at its sole cost and expense, of paying the ***** and ***** of its *****, including any *****
conducting ***** under the Research Program.  Except as otherwise provided herein, Aventis shall have no liability as a result of its ***** hereunder to
***** for any *****, *****, *****, *****, ***** and ***** and ***** and ***** incurred by ***** and ***** with the *****.

 
2.5.2       During the Research Program Term, Aventis shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to perform its obligations under the

Research Program in accordance with the Research Plan.
 
2.5.3       Pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, Aventis will pay to ImmunoGen funds in the amount of ***** in ***** and *****

and***** in ***** and for any ***** for which the Research Program Term is extended.  ImmunoGen shall invoice Aventis for, and Aventis shall fund, a
minimum of ***** (*****) ***** in *****, and ***** (*****) ***** in each of ***** and *****.  Subject to Aventis’ right to be reimbursed pursuant to
Section 2.5.6 for any excess amounts paid by Aventis, all such payments made pursuant to this Section 2.5.3 shall be non-refundable and non-creditable
against any other payments owed by Aventis to ImmunoGen hereunder.  The Parties shall mutually agree on the number of ***** to be used for any extension
term, based upon the scope of activities to be performed in the Research Program as so extended; provided, however, that Aventis may determine not to
exercise its option to extend the Research Program Term in its sole discretion and for any reason including, without limitation, the failure of the Parties to
agree on the number of *****.

 
2.5.4       Within ***** after the ***** of ***** during the Research Program Term and the ***** following the expiration or termination

of the Research Program Term, ***** will provide to ***** a ***** and ***** the ***** of ***** ***** to the Research Program during each ***** in
such *****, along with ***** and *****, together with an ***** of the ***** between such ***** and the ***** of ***** for that *****.  Within *****
(*****) days from the date of its ***** of each such *****, ***** will pay to ***** the ***** as *****
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for the ***** by the *****.  For purposes of clarity and pursuant to the ***** set forth in Section 2.5.3, but subject to Sections 2.5.6, 12.2.3, 12.2.7 and 15.6
of this Agreement, or except as otherwise permitted under this Agreement, the ***** to be ***** in *****  will be no less than***** ; the ***** to be *****
in ***** will be no less than ***** and the ***** to be ***** in ***** will be no less than *****.

 
2.5.5       Within ***** (*****) ***** after the end of each ***** during the Research Program Term and the ***** following the

expiration or termination of the of the Research Program Term, ImmunoGen will provide to Aventis a report setting forth the names of the Approved
Subcontractors actually applied to the Research Program during each month in such Calendar Quarter, together with an accounting of the difference between
the budgeted costs and the actual costs for Approved Subcontractors for that Calendar Quarter.  Within ***** (*****) ***** from the end of each Calendar
Quarter, ImmunoGen shall provide to Aventis an invoice setting forth the names of such Approved Subcontractors and the costs incurred and invoiced by



such Approved Subcontractors during such Calendar Quarter.  Within ***** (*****) ***** from the date of its receipt of each such invoice, Aventis will pay
to ImmunoGen any invoice amount due as reimbursement for the work performed by such Approved Subcontractors to the extent such Approved
Subcontractors are eligible to be used by ImmunoGen in accordance with Section 2.13 of this Agreement.

 
2.5.6       During the Research Program Term and for a period of ***** (*****) ***** thereafter, ImmunoGen shall keep and maintain, and

shall require its Affiliates and Approved Subcontractors to keep and maintain, accurate and complete laboratory books and other records of activities
performed by ***** in performing *****, and by each Approved Subcontractor in performing Approved Subcontractor services, under the Research
Program.  In furtherance of the foregoing, ImmunoGen shall keep track of the activities of ***** on a ***** as determined by ***** in a manner mutually
agreed to by the Parties; it being agreed and understood that ***** to ***** of ***** shall ***** a ***** of the Research Program.  ImmunoGen shall
***** this ***** with respect to all of its ***** and*****.  Not more than ***** per *****, ***** shall have the right to engage an independent certified
public accounting firm of nationally recognized standing and reasonably acceptable to ImmunoGen, which shall have the right to examine in confidence the
relevant books, records or other relevant reports, of ImmunoGen and its respective Affiliates and Approved Subcontractors as may be reasonably necessary to
determine and/or ***** of the ***** to ***** and the ***** of ***** applied to the ***** of ***** under the Research Program.  For clarity, such
examination shall include, without limitation, the right of the certified public accounting firm to examine in confidence reports relating to ***** for all *****
with respect to the Research Program and all of ***** and *****, for the sole purpose of ***** the ***** of the ***** of ***** applied to the ***** of
***** under the Research Program and such accounting firm may not reveal to Aventis any information with respect to ***** and *****.  Such examination
shall be conducted, and ImmunoGen shall make its records available, during normal business hours, after at least ***** (*****) ***** prior written notice
shall have been provided by Aventis to ImmunoGen, as applicable, and shall take place at the Facility(ies) where such records are maintained.  Each such
examination shall be limited to pertinent books, records or reports for any year ending not
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more than ***** (*****) months prior to the date of request; provided, that, Aventis shall not be permitted to audit the same period of time more than once. 
Before permitting such independent accounting firm to have access to such books and records, ImmunoGen may require such independent accounting firm
and its personnel involved in such audit, to sign a confidentiality agreement (in form and substance reasonably acceptable to each of the Parties) as to any
confidential information which is to be provided to such accounting firm or to which such accounting firm will have access, while conducting the audit under
this paragraph.  The accounting firm shall provide both ImmunoGen and Aventis with a written report stating whether the reports submitted by ImmunoGen
are correct or incorrect and the specific details concerning any discrepancies.  Such accounting firm may not reveal to Aventis any information learned in the
course of such audit other than the amount of any such discrepancies.  Aventis agrees that all such information shall be Confidential Information of
ImmunoGen and further agrees to hold in strict confidence all information disclosed to it in accordance with Article 11 of this Agreement, except to the extent
necessary for Aventis to enforce its rights under this Agreement or if disclosure is required by law.  If the actual ***** in the ***** of the ***** is *****
than that ***** by ImmunoGen, ImmunoGen shall ***** (but in no event ***** than ***** (*****) ***** after ImmunoGen’s receipt of the independent
auditor’s report so correctly concluding) ***** Aventis for any ***** by ***** to ***** pursuant to Section 2.5.3.  Aventis shall bear the full cost of such
audit unless such audit ***** the ***** in the ***** of ***** under the ***** to be ***** than that ***** by ***** by ***** (*****) or *****, in which
case ImmunoGen shall ***** for all ***** by ***** in connection with such audit.

 
2.5.7       During the period commencing on the Effective Date and continuing for the longer of the termination or expiration of this

Agreement and ***** (*****) ***** from the date of filing of any patent application pursuant to Article 10 covering any Product, each Party shall use
Commercially Reasonable Efforts to keep and maintain accurate and complete lab notebooks reflecting the screening and other research and development
activities performed by such Party under the Research Program.  Upon ***** (*****) ***** prior written notice from a Party, the other Party shall permit a
Third Party patent expert selected by the first Party and reasonably acceptable to the other Party to examine (at the first Party’s sole cost and expense) the
relevant lab notebooks of the other Party, as applicable; provided, that, any such Third Party patent expert shall be required to execute and deliver to the other
Party an appropriate confidentiality agreement covering the information contained in the lab notebooks to be examined.

 
2.5.8       Each Party shall have caused or shall cause each participant in the Research Program to execute such Party’s standard non-

disclosure and invention assignment agreement.
 
2.5.9       Each Party shall identify one of its representatives to serve as a program coordinator with responsibility for overseeing that Party’s

day-to-day activities relating to the Research Program and to serve as a contact person for coordinating Research Program activities between the Parties.
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2.5.10     Each Party shall identify one of its representatives to serve as a program manager with overall responsibility for achievement of the

objectives of the Research Program.  Such program manager shall serve as a member of the Joint Research Committee and the Joint Development Committee.
 

2.6          Annual Research Plan.
 

2.6.1       The Joint Research Committee shall prepare and approve the Annual Research Plan for each Contract Year (other than the Contract
Year 1) at least ***** (*****) ***** prior to the ***** of such*****.  The Annual Research Plan for the Contract Year 1 is set forth in Exhibit A to this
Agreement.  As noted in the Annual Research Plan, and as soon as practicable following the Effective Date but no later than the commencement of Contract
Year 1, the Joint Research Committee shall prepare and approve the budget for Contract Year 1.

 
2.6.2       The Joint Research Committee shall update and amend, as appropriate, the then current Annual Research Plan from time to time.
 
2.6.3       Each Annual Research Plan shall contain the specific research objectives to be achieved during the Contract Year, the specific

activities to be performed under the Research Program and the timeline for performing such activities, the ***** and ***** of ***** and Approved
Subcontractors required to perform such activities, a detailed budget for performing such activities and the Party which shall be responsible for performing
each of the activities.

 
2.6.4       Each Annual Research Plan shall be consistent with the other terms and conditions of this Agreement, including the objectives set

forth in Section 2.1.1, and shall be in substantially the same form, including the items itemized in, the Annual Research Plan attached as Exhibit A, except
that it shall include a budget.



 
2.7          Materials.
 

2.7.1       Subject to Sections 2.7.2 and 2.8.2 below, during the Research Program Term, ImmunoGen shall present to the Joint Research
Committee for inclusion in the Research Program all ***** and ***** and *****, and all *****, ***** and other ***** and ***** related to each of the
foregoing in its ***** or in the ***** of which it *****, which ***** reasonably determines, based on its ***** at such time, is ***** to have ***** in the
*****.

 
2.7.2       If, during the Research Program Term, ImmunoGen ***** a ***** to the ***** and ***** of ***** (other than a *****) that

contains a ***** or other ***** (other than an ***** or *****), then:
 

(a)           ImmunoGen shall have the right to ***** for ***** on its ***** or with a ***** any such ***** that is not ***** any
***** that has ***** for ***** or ***** in the***** ; and
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(b)           ImmunoGen shall have the right to ***** for ***** on its ***** or, subject to clause (ii) below, with a ***** any such

***** that is ***** against any ***** that has ***** for ***** or ***** in the *****, provided that (i) ImmunoGen shall ***** to ***** such ***** (to
the extent ***** by ***** or in the *****) to the Joint Research Committee pursuant to Section 2.8.2 and (ii) Aventis shall, at any time prior to the ***** of
the ***** of the *****, have a ***** of ***** with respect to ***** pursuant to the procedures set forth in Sections ***** through ***** which shall apply
mutatis mutandis.

 
2.8          Targets.
 

2.8.1       Obligations with respect to Targets.  During the Research Program Term and consistent with the Annual Research Plan and the
terms of this Agreement, ImmunoGen and Aventis shall (i) identify and provide Targets during the Research Program Term for use in the Research Program,
(ii) use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to validate Targets so provided and (iii) designate such Targets as Antibody Targets pursuant to Section 2.8.2 below
using the technologies, data and materials specified in such Annual Research Plan.

 
2.8.2       Inclusion of Targets as Antibody Targets; Limited Targets.
 

(a)           When a Party presents a ***** to the ***** for ***** in the ***** as an*****, such Party shall present to the ***** all
***** and ***** in the ***** of which such Party is ***** or ***** by such Party relating to the ***** for ***** in the ***** of any such*****.  Within
***** (*****) ***** from the date a Target is presented to the Joint Research Committee, ImmunoGen shall provide written notice to the Joint Research
Committee if such Target is a Limited Target.  Such notice shall include the identity of the type of Limited Target that it is and a reasonably detailed
description of the limitations that would be imposed on Aventis’ rights with respect to such Limited Target (in each case, the “Limitations”).

 
(b)           In the event that ImmunoGen provides notice within such ***** (*****) ***** period that such Target is a Limited

Target, then the Joint Research Committee shall promptly determine whether to:
 

(i)            decline to include such Limited Target in the Research Program and such Limited Target shall not become an
Antibody Target, or

 
(ii)           include such Limited Target in the Research Program as an Antibody Target subject to the Limitations identified

by ImmunoGen; provided that, in no event shall such Limitations restrict the rights granted to Aventis in this Agreement with respect to the research,
Development or Commercialization of (A) Antibodies other than TAP Antibodies (commonly referred to as “naked Antibodies”) or (B) in the case of any
Limited Target other than a Limited Exclusive Option Target or Limited Exclusive Target, any TAP Antibody containing an Effector Molecule from a class of
molecules other than the maytansinoid class of molecules.
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(c)           Subject to Section 2.8.4 below, each Target included in the Research Program as an Antibody Target shall be subject to the

restrictions contained in Section 7.5.  ImmunoGen shall promptly notify Aventis and the Joint Research Committee if at any time during the Research
Program Term any Limited Target ceases to be subject to any or all of the Limitations applicable thereto, whereupon such Limited Target shall be eligible for
inclusion in the Research Program as an Antibody Target, subject to any remaining Limitations, or if already an Antibody Target, such Limited Target shall no
longer be subject to the particular Limitations that have ceased to be in effect.

 
(d)           Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Agreement, under no circumstances shall ***** than *****

(*****) ***** be ***** by the ***** as ***** at any ***** during the*****.  For clarity, such ***** of ***** shall not ***** any ***** that would be
***** in the ***** of such ***** upon such ***** becoming a *****.

 
2.8.3       Designation of Program Targets.  From time to time during the Research Program Term and no less frequently than at each Joint

Research Committee meeting, the Joint Research Committee shall review all data and information with respect to each Antibody Target, including any reports
as to whether such Antibody Target may be useful in identifying Antibodies or TAP Antibodies suitable for the Development of Products in the Collaborative
Focus Area.  Promptly following its review, the Joint Research Committee shall determine whether additional data or information is required for the Joint
Research Committee to make a decision as to whether to designate such Antibody Target as a Program Target.  If the Joint Research Committee finds that
sufficient data and information have been obtained by the relevant Joint Research Project Teams, the Joint Research Committee shall provide written notice of
same to ImmunoGen.  The Joint Research Committee shall, as soon as practicable, but in any event on or before ***** (*****) ***** from the date of such
notice, determine in good faith whether to designate such Antibody Target as a Program Target or to drop such Antibody Target from the Research Program in
accordance with Section 2.8.4 of this Agreement, which determination and the rationale therefor shall be recorded in the minutes of the meeting.  The Joint
Research Committee shall prepare and approve an amendment to the Annual Research Plan to reflect the activities to be undertaken by the Parties with
respect to any Antibody Target that has been designated as a Program Target.



 
2.8.4       Dropped Targets.  If at any time during the Research Program Term the Joint Research Committee fails to designate any Antibody

Target as a Program Target within the period described in Section 2.8.3, then such Antibody Target shall be deemed a “Dropped Target.”  In addition, if at any
time during the Research Program Term either Party determines in good faith that the evaluation of an Antibody Target or Program Target should be
discontinued, then either Party may propose to the Joint Research Committee that the Antibody Target or Program Target should be dropped from the
Research Program.  The Joint Research Committee shall review each such proposal in good faith and make a determination in favor or against such proposal
as soon as reasonably practicable.  If the Joint Research Committee accepts any such proposal, then, subject to Section 2.8.3 (in the event that a Lead
Antibody has been Developed
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against such Program Target), such Antibody Target or Program Target shall thereafter be deemed to be a “Dropped Target”.

 
2.8.5       Use of Dropped Targets.  Once a Target becomes a Dropped Target:
 

(a)           Aventis shall have the right to exploit (i) any Dropped Target that was ***** for use in the Research Program by *****
and is not Covered by any Valid Claim of an issued patent within the ***** for any and all purposes and (ii) any Dropped Target to the extent Covered by any
Valid Claim of an issued patent within the ***** or to the extent obtained by ***** from a ***** and provided by ***** for use in the Research Program in
accordance with Section 2.2 of this Agreement, for the sole purpose of making, using and selling*****, subject to Sections 8.2.3 and 8.4.3 of this Agreement.

 
(b)           Subject to Section 2.8.5(a)(ii) above, ImmunoGen shall have the right to exploit any Dropped Target to the extent

Covered by ***** or to the extent obtained by ***** from a ***** and provided by ***** for use in the Research Program in accordance with Section 2.2 of
this Agreement, for any purpose other than for the purpose of making, using and selling *****.

 
(c)           Each Party shall have the right to exploit any Dropped Target that is part of the public domain.
 
(d)           The exploitation by a Party described in each of subsections (a)(i), (b) and (c) above shall not require the consent of, nor

trigger any duty to account or make a payment to, the other Party.  The rights of Aventis and of ImmunoGen to Dropped Targets in each of subsections (a)(i),
(b) and (c) above shall include the rights to all ***** and ***** (together with the specific ***** and ***** to which it is *****) that are ***** against such
Dropped Target to the extent not covered by the intellectual property rights of the other Party.

 
2.9          Research Program Records.
 

2.9.1       All work conducted by either Party in the course of the Research Program shall be completely and accurately recorded, in
sufficient detail and in good scientific manner, in separate laboratory notebooks.  On reasonable notice, and at reasonable intervals, each Party shall have the
right to inspect and copy all such records of the other Party reflecting Program Technology, Aventis Technology Improvements, ImmunoGen Technology
Improvements, or work done under the Research Program, to the extent reasonably required to carry out its respective obligations and to exercise its
respective rights hereunder.  Notwithstanding the definition of “Confidential Information”, all such records shall constitute Confidential Information of the
Party creating such laboratory notebooks and other records.  The Parties acknowledge and agree that neither Party guarantees the success of the Research
Program tasks undertaken hereunder.

 
2.9.2       In order to protect the Parties’ Patent Rights under U.S. law in any inventions conceived or reduced to practice during or as a result

of the Research Program, each
 

29

 
Party agrees to maintain a policy which requires its employees to record and maintain all data and information developed during the Research Program in
such a manner as to enable the Parties to use such records to establish the earliest date of invention and/or diligence to reduction to practice.  At a minimum,
the policy shall require such individuals to record all inventions generated by them in standard laboratory notebooks which are dated and corroborated by
non-inventors on a regular, contemporaneous basis.

 
2.10        Disclosure of Research Program Results.  Subject to restrictions imposed by a Party’s confidentiality obligations to any Third Party, each

Party will disclose to the other all Program Technology, Aventis Technology Improvements and ImmunoGen Technology Improvements discovered, invented,
or made by such Party during the course of the Research Program, including, without limitation, information regarding (i) Targets, Antibodies, TAP
Antibodies, Effector Molecules and Linkers identified in the Research Program through the use of Program Targets, (ii) the Activity of such Antibodies and
TAP Antibodies and any derivatives thereof, and (iii) the results of in vitro and in vivo studies, assay techniques and new assays.  Such Program Technology,
Aventis Technology Improvements and ImmunoGen Technology Improvements will be promptly disclosed to the other Party (including the actual sequence
of a Target or the nucleic or amino acid sequence of an Antibody), with discoveries or advances being communicated as promptly as practicable after such
information is obtained.  Each Party will provide the other with copies of the raw data generated in the course of the Research Program, if reasonably
necessary to the other Party’s work under the Research Program or as requested by the other Party.  Any information disclosed pursuant to this Section 2.10
may be used by the other Party solely for the purposes of the Research Program or as otherwise expressly permitted in this Agreement.

 
2.11        Material Transfer.  Except as otherwise provided under this Agreement, (a) all Aventis Materials or ImmunoGen Materials delivered to the

other Party shall remain the sole property of the supplying Party and shall be used only in furtherance of the Research Program under the sole control of the
other Party and its Affiliates and (b) a Party receiving Aventis Materials or ImmunoGen Materials hereunder shall not use such materials for the benefit of, or
deliver such materials to, any Third Party without the prior written consent of the supplying Party.

 
2.12        Liability.  In connection with conduct of the Research Program, each Party shall be responsible for, and hereby assumes, any and all risks of

personal injury or property damage attributable to the negligent acts or omissions of that Party or its Affiliates, and their respective directors, officers,
employees and agents.

 



2.13        Use of Approved Subcontractors.  Either Party may perform some of its obligations under the Research Program through one or more
Approved Subcontractors as approved by the Joint Research Committee or Joint Development Committee, as appropriate; provided, that, (a) none of the
rights of the other Party hereunder are diminished or otherwise adversely affected as a result of such subcontracting, and (b) the Approved Subcontractor
undertakes in writing all obligations of confidentiality and non-use regarding the other Party’s Confidential Information which are substantially the same as
those undertaken by Aventis and
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ImmunoGen pursuant to Article 11 hereof and (c) with respect to ImmunoGen, only those obligations which ImmunoGen in good faith determines it does not
have the ability and/or reasonable capacity to perform in light of its existing obligations to Aventis and/or Third Parties shall be eligible for assignment to an
Approved Subcontractor; provided, that with respect to any such obligations of ImmunoGen described in this clause (c), to the extent that ImmunoGen does
not take actions necessary to enable it to perform such obligations, then Aventis may, in its sole discretion, perform, or make arrangements for such
obligations to be performed, in which case such obligations shall not be eligible for assignment to an Approved Subcontractor by ImmunoGen.  In the event
that a Party performs one or more of its obligations under the Research Program through any such Approved Subcontractor, then such Party shall at all times
be responsible for the performance by such Approved Subcontractor of such Party’s obligations hereunder.  Aventis shall reimburse ImmunoGen pursuant to
Section 2.5.5 for payments made by ImmunoGen to Approved Subcontractors that are eligible to be used by ImmunoGen in accordance with this
Section 2.13.

 
ARTICLE 3

PRECLINICAL AND CLINICAL DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM
 

3.1          Selection of Lead Antibodies.
 

3.1.1       Notification.  Each Party or the applicable Joint Research Project Team shall notify the Joint Research Committee in writing when
such Party or Joint Research Project Team determines to recommend that a Program Antibody should be designated as a Lead Antibody in accordance with
the selection criteria as set forth in the Antibody Progression Manual.  Such notification shall (a) identify the Program Antibody with specificity and (b)
identify the related Program Target.  Such notification shall be accompanied by any pertinent data, information, results and materials relating to the foregoing,
which shall be made available to the Joint Research Committee for review (the “Lead Data Package”).

 
3.1.2       Lead Data Package Approval.  If the Joint Research Committee determines that the Lead Data Package is complete and that such

Program Antibody meets the Lead Selection Criteria as set forth in the Antibody Progression Manual, it shall approve the Lead Data Package and such
Program Antibody shall thereafter be designated as a Lead Antibody, subject to Section 3.4 of this Agreement.  If the Joint Research Committee believes that
the Lead Data Package is incomplete, or it is insufficient to make a determination as to whether to Develop and Commercialize such Lead Antibody, it shall
promptly, but in no event later than ***** (*****) ***** following receipt of the Lead Data Package, notify the applicable Party or Joint Research Project
Team and specifically identify any additional data, information, results or materials that should be provided to the Joint Research Committee for review.

 
3.1.3       Development of Lead Antibody.  Aventis shall, as soon as possible after the Joint Research Committee has designated any Lead

Antibody, provide the Joint Research Committee with written notification of its interest or lack of interest in Developing such Lead
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Antibody; provided, that, in no event shall Aventis have the right to ***** more than ***** (*****) *****, without the prior written consent of ImmunoGen;
provided, that, ***** the Joint Research Committee or the Joint Development Committee ***** of a ***** or *****, Aventis shall have the right to *****
an ***** in ***** thereof.  Subject to the foregoing, if Aventis desires to pursue the Development of such Lead Antibody, the Parties shall thereafter conduct
Pre-EDC Research Evaluation Activities with respect to such Lead Antibody.

 
3.2          Designation of an EDC Antibody.  Once the Joint Research Committee has concluded that the results of Pre-EDC Research Evaluation

Activities applicable to a Lead Antibody support the commencement of ***** as reasonably determined by the Joint Research Committee the Joint Research
Committee shall then make a decision as to whether to designate such Lead Antibody as an EDC Antibody.

 
3.3          Development of an EDC Antibody into a Collaboration Product.  Upon designation of each EDC Antibody by the Joint Research

Committee under Section 3.2 of this Agreement, Aventis shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to Develop such EDC Antibody for the purpose of
Commercializing a Product hereunder.

 
3.4          Inclusion of Rights.  Upon designation of a Lead Antibody, the rights of Aventis to such Lead Antibody shall also include rights to (a) all

***** that are ***** the Target (and the members of the ***** of such Target) against which such Lead Antibody was directed under the Research Program
and (b) solely to the extent that any such Lead Antibody is a TAP Antibody, all ***** (together with any appropriate *****) from the applicable *****
class(es) (e.g., *****) for which such TAP Antibody (or any other Program Antibody included under clause (a) above) has been conjugated.

 
3.5          Joint Development Committee.
 

3.5.1       Formation Of Joint Development Committee.  As soon as practicable after the Effective Date, the Parties shall establish a Joint
Development Committee (the “Joint Development Committee”) to provide a forum through which Aventis shall regularly update ImmunoGen on the
Development of all Products and ImmunoGen can provide suggestions with respect thereto.  The Joint Development Committee shall include at least *****
(*****) representatives from each Party.  In addition, the Joint Development Committee shall follow the organizational and meeting procedures set forth in
Article 2 (including the decision making procedures set forth in Section 2.3.3) with respect to the Joint Research Committee, except that the ***** of the
Joint Development Committee shall be an *****.  Each Party shall be responsible for its own expenses incurred in connection with attendance by its
personnel at any meeting of the Joint Development Committee.  It is understood that ***** will have ***** for ***** the ***** as to the Development of
any Product.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Aventis shall have the right to make any final decisions with respect to the Development of Products.  The Joint
Development Committee shall not have the power to amend or waive any compliance by a Party under this Agreement.
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3.6          Development Activities.  Aventis shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to conduct the Development of all Products and shall be

solely responsible for all activities in connection therewith, including without limitation, engaging any Third Party to manufacture and supply any Preclinical
Materials and/or Clinical Materials necessary to Develop and Commercialize such Products, as well as all Development and commercial supplies of the
finished Product.  ImmunoGen shall use Commercially Reasonable Efforts to conduct such Development activities as are requested by the Joint Development
Committee.

 
3.7          Dropped Products.
 

3.7.1       If (a) Aventis undertakes the Development of a Lead Antibody and thereafter Aventis determines not to continue to Develop such
Lead Antibody or any other Antibody that is Active against the Target against which such Lead Antibody is Active, and (b) Aventis determines that the
Program Target against which such Lead Antibody is Active should be dropped from the Research Program, then such Lead Antibody shall thereafter be
deemed a “Dropped Product.”

 
3.7.2       Subject to the provisions of Section 3.8 below, ImmunoGen shall have the right to exploit for any and all purposes any Dropped

Product and (a) all licenses granted by ImmunoGen to Aventis with respect to such Dropped Product shall immediately terminate, (b) all obligations of
Aventis for any Burdened Technology Obligations with respect to such Dropped Product shall terminate, and (c) Aventis shall be deemed to have granted to
ImmunoGen the licenses set forth in Section 7.2.5 with respect to such Dropped Product, it being understood and agreed that such licenses shall ***** only
the ***** with respect to the ***** in its ***** as a ***** and shall not ***** the ***** to use any ***** thereof (i.e., *****, *****, *****, ***** or
*****) by ***** or in a ***** other than the *****.  In addition, Aventis shall promptly transfer to ImmunoGen any related Drug Approval Applications or
Regulatory Approvals related to such Dropped Product (including transfer of all relevant data and information relevant to regulatory authorities, if any).

 
3.8          *****;*****.
 

3.8.1       If ImmunoGen desires to ***** an ***** with a ***** for the *****, *****, or ***** of a Dropped Product, or, if earlier, within
***** (*****) ***** following the ***** of the ***** with respect to a *****, ImmunoGen shall ***** in ***** to ***** the ***** to ***** into an
***** (a “***** “) pursuant to which ImmunoGen would ***** to ***** a ***** to *****, *****, *****, and ***** such ***** (such ***** being
referred to herein as the “*****”).  The ***** shall specify (i) the ***** that ***** to have ***** or ***** subject to such ***** and (ii) all reasonably
relevant ***** and ***** relating to such ***** including, but not limited to, ***** of the *****, if applicable.

 
3.8.2       Within ***** (*****) ***** after provision of an *****, if ***** desires to ***** into a ***** by such*****, ***** shall send a

***** to such ***** (an “*****”).  Upon receipt of an*****, ***** and ***** the ***** of the ***** in ***** for a period not to
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exceed ***** (*****) *****, which ***** may be ***** in writing by the Parties (the “*****”).

 
3.8.3       If Aventis fails to ***** an ***** within such ***** (*****) ***** period or, if after providing an *****, Aventis fails to *****

to ***** a ***** setting forth ***** for a ***** within ***** (*****) ***** of the date of issuance of the *****, then ImmunoGen shall be ***** at its
option to ***** to ***** such ***** or ***** into an ***** with respect to such ***** with any ***** in accordance with this Section 3.8.

 
3.8.4       ImmunoGen agrees not to ***** or to ***** into any ***** or ***** for a ***** with a ***** during the ***** (*****) *****

period after the ***** or during the*****.  If ***** and *****, despite their good faith efforts, do not ***** into a ***** within the *****, then ***** may
at its option ***** to ***** such ***** or ***** into an ***** with a *****, without any further ***** to ***** other than as provided in Sections 3.8.5
and 3.8.6; provided, however, that if the ***** and ***** of such ***** with such ***** would, taken as a whole, be ***** to ***** than the ***** by
*****, then ***** shall ***** a ***** to*****, whereupon ***** shall have another ***** (*****) ***** period to send a new ***** and, if it does so,
another ***** (*****) ***** therefor.  The Parties hereby acknowledge and agree that neither ***** nor ***** shall have an obligation to enter into a
*****.

 
3.8.5       Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in this Agreement, if ImmunoGen either itself or in collaboration with a Third

Party commercializes any Dropped Product with respect to which a ***** had commenced prior to the time such Product became a Dropped Product, then
***** shall ***** to ***** a ***** on the ***** of such ***** to ***** (*****).  Such ***** shall be ***** on a ***** for the ***** of ***** (*****)
***** following the ***** of such ***** in such country or, *****, until the ***** to ***** under ***** existing as of the date ***** became a ***** (a)
for any *****, ***** the ***** (i.e., ***** per se ***** only) of any *****, ***** or ***** of such ***** in such country or (b) for any other *****,
***** such ***** in such *****.

 
3.8.6       With respect to any obligation on the part of ImmunoGen to ***** to Aventis on account of ***** of a*****, the provisions of

***** shall apply mutatis mutandis.
 

3.9          Use Of Approved Subcontractors.  Aventis may perform its obligations regarding the Development of Products through one or more
Approved Subcontractors; provided, that, Aventis shall at all times be responsible for the performance of Aventis’ obligations by such Approved
Subcontractor.
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ARTICLE 4

MANUFACTURE AND SUPPLY
 



4.1          Supply of Preclinical Materials, Clinical Materials and Product.
 

4.1.1       Aventis shall be responsible, at its sole cost, for manufacturing or having manufactured any materials (including without limitation,
raw materials) as may be required for preclinical and clinical studies necessary to obtain Regulatory Approval of Products and in addition, such materials
and/or quantities of each Product as may be required for all clinical studies applicable to such Product and for Commercialization of such Product.

 
4.1.2       Notwithstanding the foregoing, during the Term of this Agreement, Aventis may request ImmunoGen to supply it with Preclinical

Materials, Clinical Materials and/or Products, and (a) with respect to the supply of Preclinical Materials and Clinical Materials up to and including for Phase
IIB Studies, ImmunoGen shall be responsible for supplying Aventis with such Preclinical and Clinical Materials, and (b) with respect to Clinical Materials for
Phase III and Phase IV Studies and Product for Commercialization, Aventis shall have the right to request ImmunoGen to produce such Clinical Materials and
Product in ImmunoGen’s conjugate pilot plant, in each case subject to the provisions of this Article 4.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, Aventis acknowledges
that ImmunoGen gives no assurances that its conjugate pilot plant can be modified, validated or obtain the necessary regulatory approval to enable the
production of Products for Commercial sale. In the case that ImmunoGen’s conjugate pilot plant does not fulfill GMP or other legal or regulatory
requirements to produce Product or materials for Commercialization, ImmunoGen shall not have any obligation to produce such Product or materials for
Aventis.

 
4.1.3       Upon any request by Aventis pursuant to Section 4.1.2, ImmunoGen shall provide Aventis with ImmunoGen’s non-binding good

faith estimate of the Costs for supply of such Preclinical Materials, Clinical Materials, or Product, as applicable.  The Parties shall thereafter ***** in good
faith (a) a ***** (the “*****”) on the ***** under clause (ii) of the definition of ***** contained herein and ***** under clause (iv) of the definition of
*****, (b) the specifications pursuant to which such Preclinical Materials, Clinical Materials or Product will be manufactured and (c) the other material terms
and conditions of a separate manufacturing and supply agreement, consistent with the provisions of Section 4.2.  The Parties acknowledge and agree that (a)
ImmunoGen shall have no obligation to supply Aventis with Preclinical Materials, Clinical Materials and/or Products until such a manufacturing and supply
agreement has been executed by the Parties with respect to such Preclinical Materials, Clinical Materials and/or Products and (b) neither Aventis nor
ImmunoGen shall have any obligation to enter into any such manufacturing and supply agreement if the Parties are unable to agree on the terms thereof,
including the *****.

 
4.2          Manufacturing and Supply Agreement.  The terms of any manufacturing and supply agreement shall provide, among other things, that:

(a) ImmunoGen shall supply Aventis with such quantities of Preclinical Materials and/or Clinical Materials as may be reasonably
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requested by Aventis in order to conduct all preclinical Development and/or clinical activities relating to any Product; (b) Aventis shall order all amounts of
Preclinical Materials, Clinical Materials and Products, and ImmunoGen shall deliver all such ordered amounts, in accordance with advance ordering
timeframes and delivery timeframes as agreed upon by the Parties; (c) if ImmunoGen’s conjugate pilot plant facility is to be utilized, appropriate periodic
capacity limits and allocations as agreed upon by the Parties, such that the manufacture of Preclinical Material and Clinical Material shall take priority over
the manufacture of Product for Commercial sale; (d) ImmunoGen shall use commercially reasonable efforts to deliver such amounts of Preclinical Materials,
Clinical Materials and/or Products ordered in accordance with the foregoing (including such agreed upon timeframes) in a timely manner; and (e) such
quantities of Preclinical Materials, Clinical Materials and Products shall be manufactured in accordance with all applicable GMP and other legal requirements
and all applicable specifications for the same and shall be supplied to Aventis at ImmunoGen’s Cost (which term shall include the agreed upon Overhead
Cap).  An appropriate quality agreement shall be included as part of, or attached as an exhibit to, such manufacturing and supply agreement.

 
4.3          Purchase of Dedicated Equipment.  If, during the Term of this Agreement, ImmunoGen determines in good faith that it is necessary or

advisable that any Dedicated Equipment be purchased in order to perform any of its obligations to manufacture Preclinical Materials, Clinical Materials
and/or Products under Section 4.1 of this Agreement, then ImmunoGen shall request that Aventis purchase such equipment by providing Aventis with written
notice of such determination, along with the estimated price for such purchase and quality parameters for the Dedicated Equipment, for Aventis’ approval.  If
Aventis approves the purchase of such Dedicated Equipment, then Aventis shall purchase such equipment and have such equipment delivered to an
ImmunoGen Facility, as directed by the Joint Development Committee.  In no event shall the Joint Development Committee require ImmunoGen to purchase
Dedicated Equipment with ImmunoGen’s own funds.  At any time, Aventis shall have the right to require that ImmunoGen, at Aventis’ sole cost and expense,
transfer any Dedicated Equipment to an Aventis facility as directed by Aventis.  If Aventis does not approve the purchase of any Dedicated Equipment, the
Parties shall modify any obligations of ImmunoGen as appropriate to exclude obligations that would require such Dedicated Equipment.

 
4.4          Use of Approved Subcontractors.  Aventis may perform its obligations regarding the manufacturing and supply of Products through one or

more Approved Subcontractors; provided, that, Aventis shall at all times be responsible for the performance by each such Approved Subcontractor of Aventis’
obligations hereunder.

 
ARTICLE 5

REGULATORY MATTERS
 

5.1          Ownership.  Aventis shall own all Drug Approval Applications and Regulatory Approvals with respect to all Products.
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5.2          Regulatory Coordination.  Aventis will have exclusive control over, and authority and responsibility for, the regulatory strategies relating

to the development and commercialization of all Products, including, without limitation (i) the preparation of all documents submitted to Regulatory
Authorities and the filing of all INDs, Drug Approval Applications and other submissions relating to Products and (ii) all regulatory actions, communications
and meetings with any Regulatory Authority with respect to any Products.  Subject to any confidentiality obligations of ImmunoGen to Third Parties,
ImmunoGen shall provide to Aventis on a timely basis all information Controlled by ImmunoGen or otherwise in ImmunoGen’s possession as a result of its
activities under this Agreement or the manufacturing and supply agreement contemplated by Article 4 which is necessary to enable Aventis to comply with all
regulatory obligations on a global basis applicable to Products, including without limitation, filing updates, information amendments, annual reports,
pharmacovigilance filings, preclinical research data, preclinical study reports, investigator notifications and chemistry, manufacturing and controls
information.  All updates and reports provided hereunder shall be provided in a form as reasonably required by Aventis for inclusion in any regulatory



submission.  Aventis shall be responsible for interfacing, corresponding and meeting with all Regulatory Authorities with respect to any Product.  The Parties
shall cooperate with each other to provide all reasonable assistance and take all actions reasonably requested by the other Party that are necessary or desirable
to comply with any law applicable to any Product, including, but not limited to, providing Aventis with reasonable access during ordinary business hours and
upon reasonable written notice to ImmunoGen personnel, ImmunoGen contract research organizations and any facilities at which preclinical studies were
conducted, as reasonably necessary for audit purposes and/or to answer questions or explain any information ImmunoGen provides pursuant to this
Section 5.2, and the reporting of adverse drug experience reports (and serious adverse drug experience reports) to Regulatory Authorities pursuant to
Section 5.4 below.

 
5.3          Review of Correspondence for Products.  Aventis shall use reasonable efforts to provide ImmunoGen with at least ***** (*****) *****

advance notice of any material meeting with the FDA which is for the purpose of obtaining Regulatory Approval for any Product and ImmunoGen may elect
to send one person reasonably acceptable to Aventis to participate as an observer (at ImmunoGen’s ***** and *****) in such meeting.  To the extent
reasonably practicable and subject to any Third Party confidentiality obligations, Aventis shall provide ImmunoGen with drafts of any material documents or
correspondence pertaining to any Product and prepared for submission to the FDA sufficiently in advance of submission so that ImmunoGen may review and
comment on the substance of such material documents or correspondence.  Aventis shall promptly provide ImmunoGen with copies of any material
documents or other correspondence received from the FDA pertaining to any Product.  If ImmunoGen has not commented on such material documents or
correspondence within ***** (*****) ***** of provision of such material documents or correspondence to ImmunoGen, then ImmunoGen shall be deemed
to have no comments on such material documents or correspondence.  Aventis agrees to consider all comments in good faith, taking into account the best
interests of the Product on a global basis.
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5.4          Notice of Adverse Events.  Each Party shall provide the other Party with prompt notice of Adverse Events as follows:
 

5.4.1       Adverse Events.
 

(a)           Aventis agrees to provide ImmunoGen with (i) Serious Adverse Event information and product complaint information
relating to Products as compiled and prepared by Aventis in the normal course of business in connection with the Development, Commercialization or sale of
any Product, within time frames consistent with reporting obligations under applicable laws and regulations and (ii) upon ImmunoGen’s reasonable request,
all other Adverse Event information with respect to such Products and all other safety data and information relevant to an analysis or investigation of such
Adverse Event; provided, however, that the foregoing shall not require Aventis to violate any agreements with or confidentiality obligations owed to any
Third Party.

 
(b)           ImmunoGen agrees to provide Aventis with (i) Serious Adverse Event and product complaint information relating to any

Dropped Product and any product containing any ImmunoGen Materials (if applicable) that is compiled and prepared by ImmunoGen or any Third Party in
the normal course of business in connection with the Development, Commercialization or sale of any such product, within time frames consistent with
reporting obligations under applicable laws and regulations and (ii) upon Aventis’ reasonable request, all other Adverse Event information with respect to
such products and all other safety data and information relevant to an analysis or investigation of such Adverse Events; provided, however, that the foregoing
shall not require ImmunoGen to violate any agreements with or confidentiality obligations owed to any Third Party.

 
(c)           Aventis shall provide its Adverse Event and product complaint information hereunder to ImmunoGen’s designated

representative.  ImmunoGen shall provide its Adverse Event and product complaint information hereunder to Aventis’ designated representative.
 

5.4.2       Confidential Information.  All Adverse Event, product complaint and other information provided by one Party to the other Party
under this Agreement (including under this Section 5.4), shall be considered Confidential Information of the disclosing Party, subject to the terms of
Article 11 of this Agreement.

 
ARTICLE 6

COMMERCIALIZATION PROGRAM
 

6.1          Objectives for Commercialization of Products.  Aventis will have the sole discretion and exclusive right to promote, sell and distribute
Products in the ROW.  Aventis will have the sole discretion and exclusive right to promote, sell and distribute Products in the United States, subject to
ImmunoGen’s right to Co-Promoted Products (as defined below) as set forth in this Article 6.
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6.2          ImmunoGen Option to Co-Promote Products.  If, with respect to any Product, ImmunoGen provides written notice of its intent to

participate in the Commercialization of such Product in the United States and such written notice is received by Aventis within ***** (*****) *****
following the date of the ***** for such Product, then (a) such Product shall be deemed to be a “Co-Promoted Product” for purposes of this Agreement and
(b) ImmunoGen and Aventis shall form a commercialization team (the “U.S. Commercialization Team”) which shall have as its overall purpose the
implementation of Commercialization activities for such Co-Promoted Product in the United States.  The U.S. Commercialization Team shall be comprised of
an equal number of representatives from each of Aventis and ImmunoGen, as selected by such Party.  The exact number of representatives of each Party shall
be as determined by Aventis and ImmunoGen.  The chairperson of the U.S. Commercialization Team shall be a ***** of ***** and shall be responsible for
calling meetings of the U.S. Commercialization Team and for leading the meetings.

 
6.3          Decision Making; Meetings.  Decisions of the U.S. Commercialization Team shall be made by unanimous approval of both Parties, with

each Party having one (1) vote on all matters.  If such efforts do not result in mutual agreement on resolution of the matter, ***** shall have the ***** to
***** a *****, which shall be deemed the decision of the U.S. Commercialization Team on the issue.  The U.S. Commercialization Team shall meet at least
one (1) time per Calendar Quarter.

 
6.4          Duties.  The U.S. Commercialization Team shall:
 



(a)           develop and discuss strategies for the promotion and marketing of each Co-Promoted Product in the United States,
including allocation of responsibility for marketing and Commercialization activities;

 
(b)           implement the U.S. portion of the marketing plan as developed by Aventis (the “U.S. Marketing Plan”);
 
(c)           prepare short term and long term sales forecasts;
 
(d)           present sales forecasts and the results of all U.S. Commercialization efforts to the Joint Steering Committee as needed, but

no less often than quarterly;
 
(e)           coordinate the Detailing efforts of both Parties in the United States;
 
(f)            oversee all recalls, market withdrawals and any other corrective actions related to each Co-Promoted Product in the

United States;
 
(g)           receive and provide to the Parties sales reports pertaining to Co-Promoted Products; and
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(h)           perform such activities as are or may be delegated to the U.S. Commercialization Team pursuant to this Agreement.
 

6.5          Notice of Number of ImmunoGen Sales Reps.  At the time ImmunoGen delivers its notice to Aventis of ImmunoGen’s desire to
participate in the Commercialization of a Co-Promoted Product pursuant to Section 6.2, and thereafter on an annual basis in accordance with the timetable
established by the U.S. Commercialization Team, ImmunoGen shall inform Aventis of the ***** of ***** that ImmunoGen desires and in good faith expects
to have participate in ***** and ***** Co-Promoted Products in the United States (“*****”) for the next succeeding Calendar Year and the estimated *****
of ***** that each of these ***** are expected (i) to be ***** and (ii) to be devoted to ***** products other than Co-Promoted Products during such
Calendar Year.  Aventis shall reimburse ImmunoGen under Section 6.6 for up to ***** (*****) ***** for *****.

 
6.6          Reimbursement.  Aventis shall reimburse ImmunoGen for the cost of up to ***** (*****) ***** for ***** per Calendar Year, and for such

other activities performed by ImmunoGen in accordance with the U.S. Marketing Plan, calculated as set forth in this Section 6.6.
 

6.6.1       Aventis’ ***** for the ***** of ***** for ***** shall be at a ***** to be mutually agreed upon by Aventis and ImmunoGen
following ImmunoGen’s election to participate in the Commercialization of the Co-Promoted Product.  The ***** shall be based upon Aventis’ then *****
for its *****.

 
6.6.2       Aventis’ reimbursement for the cost of any activities performed by ImmunoGen in accordance with the U.S. Marketing Plan shall

be ***** to the ***** unless otherwise agreed by the Parties: (a) all payments made to Third Parties that are approved by the U.S. Commercialization Team
and directly related to conduct of such activities, and (b) the out-of-pocket costs of ***** for use in conducting such activities; provided, however, that if
such Co-Promoted Product is obtained from or through Aventis, it shall be at Aventis’ ***** for such Co-Promoted Product.

 
6.6.3       Within ***** (*****) ***** prior to the end of each Calendar Quarter during which ImmunoGen is participating with Aventis in

Detailing a Co-Promoted Product in the United States, ImmunoGen shall submit to Aventis a ***** reasonably detailing ImmunoGen’s good faith estimate of
the ***** by ImmunoGen during such Calendar Quarter, if such ***** did not ***** in the ***** of Co-Promoted Products for the ***** Calendar Quarter,
when such ***** and ***** such *****, whether such individuals participated in the detailing of any products other than Co-Promoted Products, if such
***** did ***** in the ***** of any such other *****, the ***** that such ***** spend ***** such other ***** versus the time they spent ***** Co-
Promoted Products, and any other activities performed by ImmunoGen in accordance with the U.S. Marketing Plan for which ImmunoGen is seeking
reimbursement hereunder.  Within ***** (*****) ***** following the end of each Calendar Quarter, ImmunoGen shall submit to Aventis a final report
reasonably detailing the items
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described in the preceding sentence.  Payment of amounts to be reimbursed under this Section 6.6 shall be made in accordance with the provisions of
Section 9.1.1 below.

 
6.7          Sales Rep Performance.  ImmunoGen will use Commercially Reasonable Efforts in performing its designated activities under the U.S.

Marketing Plan, and to ensure that its sales force is adequately trained with respect to Co-Promoted Products to be co-promoted thereunder.
 
6.8          Booking Sales.  During the term of this Agreement, ***** will book ***** sales for all Products in the Territory and ***** the ***** at

which such Products are sold.
 
6.9          Promotional Materials.  In connection with its marketing and promotion of Co-Promoted Products, ***** shall make and use only claims,

promotional materials, Product samples, advertising and literature approved by ***** and provided to the U.S. Commercialization Team.
 
6.10        Information Exchange.  Each Party shall keep the U.S. Commercialization Team reasonably informed as to such Party’s activities in

connection with the marketing, sale, promotion, distribution and other Commercialization of Co-Promoted Products in the United States.  In addition, *****
shall provide ***** with ***** of Net Sales of all Co-Promoted Products in the United States.

 
6.11        Public Statements Regarding Products.  Each of ImmunoGen and Aventis shall ensure that no claims or representations in respect of the

Co-Promoted Products or the characteristics thereof are made by or on behalf of it (by members of its sales force or otherwise) which do not represent an
accurate summary or explanation of the labeling of the Co-Promoted Products or a portion thereof, except to the extent permitted by Law.

 



6.12        Compliance with Laws.  Each of ImmunoGen and Aventis agrees to comply with all applicable Laws with respect to the
Commercialization of Co-Promoted Products.  Neither ImmunoGen nor Aventis shall be required to undertake any activity relating to the Commercialization
of Co-Promoted Products in that it believes, in good faith, may violate any Law.

 
6.13        Use of Subcontractors. ***** may perform its obligations regarding the Commercialization of Co-Promoted Products through one or more

subcontractors; provided, that, ***** shall at all times be responsible for the performance by its subcontractor.
 
6.14        Training Program. ***** will ensure that adequate training programs are developed for personnel involved in the Commercialization of

Co-Promoted Products in the U.S.; provided, that, (a) ***** shall participate, as reasonably determined by the Joint Development Committee, in the
preparation of such training materials and conduct of training and (b) ***** shall submit to the U.S. Commercialization Team for its review all such training
materials.  Such training shall be carried out at a time that is mutually acceptable to the Parties hereto.  Except as provided herein, it is agreed that the out-of-
pocket costs of the development,
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production and printing of such training materials shall be borne by *****.  Each ***** shall bear ***** incurred in participating in the preparation of such
training materials.

 
6.15        Labeling.  To the extent not prohibited by law or regulation and subject to approval by the FDA, all product labels for Co-Promoted

Products shall include, in equal prominence, the names of both Aventis and ImmunoGen.
 

ARTICLE 7

LICENSES AND EXCLUSIVITY
 

7.1          ImmunoGen Grants.
 

7.1.1       Activities Under Research Program.  ImmunoGen hereby grants to Aventis and its Affiliates, subject to Section 7.1.8 below, a co-
exclusive (with ImmunoGen and its Affiliates), worldwide, royalty-free license, during the Research Program Term, with the right to grant sublicenses to
Approved Subcontractors, under the ImmunoGen Intellectual Property, to conduct the Research Program in accordance with the Annual Research Plan.

 
7.1.2       Development Licenses.  On a Lead Antibody, EDC Antibody, Licensed Antibody and Licensed TAP Antibody basis, ImmunoGen

hereby grants to Aventis and its Affiliates, subject to Section 7.1.8 below, an exclusive (even as to ImmunoGen and its Affiliates), worldwide, royalty-free
license, with the right to grant sublicenses to Approved Subcontractors, under ImmunoGen Intellectual Property, to Develop Products.

 
7.1.3       Commercialization Licenses.  ImmunoGen hereby grants to Aventis and its Affiliates, subject to Section 7.1.8 below, an exclusive

(even as to ImmunoGen and its Affiliates), worldwide, royalty-bearing license, with the right to grant sublicenses, under ImmunoGen Intellectual Property, to
Commercialize Products in the Field and in the Territory.

 
7.1.4       Manufacturing License.  ImmunoGen hereby grants to Aventis and its Affiliates, subject to Section 7.1.8 below, an exclusive (even

as to ImmunoGen and its Affiliates), worldwide, royalty-free license, with the right to grant sublicenses to any subcontractor, under ImmunoGen Intellectual
Property, to make and have made Products, including but not limited to any active pharmaceutical ingredients, Antibodies, TAP Antibodies, Effector
Molecules, Linkers and pharmaceutical dosage forms that comprise such Product as well as the finished Product.

 
7.1.5       General Research License; Commercial License.
 

(a)           ImmunoGen hereby grants to Aventis and its Affiliates a non-exclusive, worldwide, royalty-free license under the
ImmunoGen Patent Rights, to conduct research during the Research Program Term.  The foregoing license shall be ***** by ***** and its *****only upon
the ***** of *****, ***** be ***** or *****, ***** no ***** shall be
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required in order for Aventis or its Affiliates to ***** a ***** to any ***** in connection with the supply or manufacture of components or materials or the
supply or performance of services.

 
(b)           Upon written request of Aventis at any time during or after the Research Program Term, ***** shall ***** in ***** with

***** for a period of ***** (*****) ***** the ***** and ***** of a ***** pursuant to which ***** would ***** to ***** a ***** under the ***** to
enable ***** to continue to ***** for ***** and *****.  Any such ***** shall be on ***** and ***** to the ***** and ***** then ***** by ***** from
***** to whom ***** in *****.  At the request of *****, such ***** shall include a ***** on such ***** as the ***** may ***** for ***** to ***** and
***** that result from ***** of the ***** set forth in this Section 7.1.5.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall either Party be ***** to ***** into
any such ***** with the other Party.

 
7.1.6       License With Respect to *****.  ImmunoGen hereby grants to Aventis and its Affiliates, subject to Section 7.1.8 below, an

exclusive (even as to ImmunoGen and its Affiliates), worldwide, royalty-bearing license, ***** the ***** to *****, under ImmunoGen Patent Rights, to
develop, make, use and sell ***** in the Field and in the Territory.

 
7.1.7       License With Respect to ImmunoGen Technology Improvements.  ImmunoGen hereby grants to Aventis and its Affiliates a co-

exclusive perpetual, irrevocable, worldwide, fully paid, royalty free license under the ImmunoGen Technology Improvements and all Patent Rights that Cover
any ImmunoGen Technology Improvements, to research, develop and commercialize any products, and to otherwise commercially exploit such ImmunoGen
Technology Improvements and Patent Rights for any and all purposes.  The foregoing license shall be ***** by ***** and its ***** only upon the ***** of
*****, ***** be ***** or *****; ***** no ***** shall be required in order for Aventis or its Affiliates to ***** a ***** to any ***** in connection with
the supply or manufacture of components or materials or the supply or performance of services.



 
7.1.8       Limitation on Scope of License Grants.  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth in this Section 7.1, the co-exclusive

licenses granted to Aventis under Sections 7.1.1 and 7.1.7. and the exclusive licenses granted to Aventis under Sections 7.1.2, 7.1.3, 7.1.4 and 7.1.6 shall be
co-exclusive and exclusive, respectively, but shall be subject to the Limitations with respect to Limited Targets.

 
7.2          Aventis Grants.
 

7.2.1       Activities under Research Program.  Aventis hereby grants to ImmunoGen and its Affiliates a co-exclusive (with Aventis and its
Affiliates), worldwide, royalty-free license, with the right to grant sublicenses to Approved Subcontractors, during the Research Program Term, under the
Aventis Intellectual Property and the Program Intellectual Property, to conduct the Research Program in accordance with the Annual Research Plan.

 
7.2.2       Development Licenses.  On a Lead Antibody, EDC Antibody, Licensed Antibody and Licensed TAP Antibody basis, Aventis

hereby grants to ImmunoGen and its
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Affiliates a non-exclusive, non-sublicensable, royalty-free license, under the Aventis Intellectual Property and the Program Intellectual Property, to Develop
Products in the manner and to the extent such Development is assigned to ImmunoGen by the Joint Development Committee.

 
7.2.3       Co-Promotion License.  On a Co-Promoted Product-by-Co-Promoted Product basis, Aventis hereby grants to ImmunoGen and its

Affiliates a co-exclusive (with Aventis and its Affiliates), royalty-free license with the right to grant sublicenses ***** to *****, under the Aventis
Intellectual Property and the Program Intellectual Property, to co-promote Co-Promoted Products in the United States, in the manner set forth in the U.S.
Marketing Plan for such Co-Promoted Product.

 
7.2.4       Limited Research License.  Aventis hereby grants to ImmunoGen and its Affiliates a perpetual, irrevocable, worldwide, non-

exclusive, non-sublicensable, royalty-free, license, under the Program Intellectual Property to conduct research in the Field.
 
7.2.5       Exclusive License for Dropped Products.  Subject to the rights of Aventis contained in Section 3.8 Aventis hereby grants to

ImmunoGen and its Affiliates a worldwide, exclusive (even as to Aventis and its Affiliates) license under the Aventis Intellectual Property, the Program
Intellectual Property, to the extent required to research, develop, and commercialize Dropped Products.

 
7.3          Technology Transfer.  ImmunoGen hereby grants to Aventis and its Affiliates a non-exclusive, worldwide, royalty-free, perpetual,

irrevocable license under (a) any ImmunoGen Technology or ImmunoGen Materials existing as of the Effective Date and not Covered by a Valid Claim of the
ImmunoGen Patent Rights listed on Schedule 1.50, and (b) any other ImmunoGen Technology or ImmunoGen Materials not Covered by a Valid Claim of
***** existing as of the ***** of the *****, in each case to *****, ***** and ***** any *****, other than *****, ***** or in ***** or ***** with *****,
and to ***** such ***** and ***** for ***** and *****.  The foregoing license shall be ***** by ***** and ***** only upon the *****of *****, *****
shall not be ***** or *****; ***** no such ***** shall be ***** in order for ***** or ***** to ***** a ***** to any ***** in connection with the *****
or *****of ***** or ***** or the ***** or ***** of *****.  The restrictions on ***** contained in this Section 7.3 and Sections 7.1.5 and 7.1.7 above shall
not be deemed to ***** or ***** from *****, and it is understood that ***** and/or ***** may ***** into, ***** or other ***** with ***** with respect to
the *****, ***** and ***** of *****, other than *****, pursuant to which ***** or ***** may *****, but not ***** except as otherwise ***** or *****
to, (a) the ***** and/or ***** which are ***** under this Section 7.3 and/or (b) the *****  which are ***** under Section 7.1.5(a) above, and/or (c) the
***** which are ***** under Section 7.1.7 above.

 
7.4          Retained Rights.
 

7.4.1       Aventis Retained Rights.  With respect to this Agreement, any rights of Aventis not expressly granted to ImmunoGen under the
provisions of this Agreement shall be retained by Aventis.  Without limiting the foregoing, subject to the other terms of this
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Agreement, including, without limitation, Section 7.5, Aventis retains the right to use the Aventis Intellectual Property and the Program Intellectual Property
(i) to perform its work hereunder, (ii) to Develop and Commercialize Products hereunder and (iii) to research, have researched, develop, have developed,
make, have made, use, have used, sell, offer for sale, have sold, imported and have imported, for any and all purposes, both alone and together with any Third
Party, any product that is not a Product.

 
7.4.2       ImmunoGen Retained Rights.  With respect to this Agreement, any rights of ImmunoGen not expressly granted to Aventis under

the provisions of this Agreement shall be retained by ImmunoGen.  Without limiting the foregoing, subject to the other terms of this Agreement including
without limitation Section 7.5, ImmunoGen retains the right to use the ImmunoGen Intellectual Property (i) to perform its work hereunder and to manufacture
and supply Preclinical Materials, Clinical Materials and Products for Aventis, (ii) to co-promote Co-Promoted Products hereunder and (iii) to research, have
researched, develop, have developed, make, have made, use, have used, sell, offer for sale, have sold, import and have imported, for any and all purposes,
both alone and together with any Third Party, any product that is not a Product.

 
7.4.3       No Other Rights.  Except as otherwise expressly set forth in Section 7.1 and 7.2, nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as a

grant to a Party of any license or other rights with respect to any Technology (including, without limitation, any Confidential Information) or Patent Rights
Controlled (in whole or in part) by the other Party.

 
7.5          Exclusivity.
 

7.5.1       Neither Party may either, ***** or ***** a *****, ***** any *****or *****, or ***** in such *****, or any Target against which
a ***** is ***** (including without limitation the *****, ***** and *****) for any purpose other than for the performance of such Party’s obligations and
responsibilities under the relevant Annual Research Plan or this Agreement, except that (a) Aventis shall have the right to exploit, both within and outside the



Collaborative Focus Area, any such *****, subject to Sections 8.2.3 and 8.4.3 of this Agreement, if applicable, for the *****of*****, ***** and *****, and
(b) ImmunoGen shall have the right to ***** its ***** to ***** relating to ***** with respect to the *****.

 
7.5.2       During the *****, ImmunoGen shall not ***** or ***** any ***** or other ***** with a ***** such ***** to ***** (or any

portion thereof) in the *****, except for (a) (i) ***** between ***** and ***** as of the ***** relating to ***** and listed on *****, together with a *****
of the ***** of ***** so *****, and (ii) ***** between ***** and ***** with respect to ***** and ***** as of the ***** and listed on *****, and (b)
***** with *****, in addition to those described on *****, ***** into after the *****, not to ***** (*****) in  the ***** (the “*****”), that are ***** to
those ***** in ***** (*****) ***** (other than ***** to ***** and *****) that are on a ***** whereby the ***** that is the ***** of such ***** is *****
a ***** or was ***** (as between ***** and such *****) by such *****;*****, the ***** of ***** shall be ***** by ***** (*****) for each ***** that
the ***** is extended, up
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to an ***** of ***** (*****) *****.  In addition, during the *****, ***** shall not ***** any ***** and ***** in the *****, other than with a *****.

 
7.5.3       During the *****, ***** not ***** into any ***** with a ***** that ***** the ***** to such ***** of exclusive rights to *****

(or any portion thereof) with respect to an entire therapeutic indication or disease without *****; provided that, following the *****, ***** ability to *****
into any ***** shall ***** to the other ***** contained in this *****.

 
7.5.4       During the Term of this Agreement, ImmunoGen shall not, either alone or with a Third Party, develop, manufacture or

commercialize (i) any ***** or ***** that is ***** in a ***** or that is ***** a ***** (or any ***** of the ***** of any *****), or (ii) any *****, except
in each case (a) in the performance of its obligations and responsibilities under the relevant Annual Research Plan or this Agreement, (b) to the extent
included in a Dropped Product pursuant to Section 3.7 or (c) as necessary to ***** its ***** to ***** relating to the ***** with respect to *****.

 
7.5.5       During the period commencing on the Effective Date and ***** the ***** of the ***** of  ***** or ***** of the *****,

ImmunoGen shall not, either alone or with a Third Party, develop, manufacture or commercialize any TAP Antibody where the Effector Molecule of such
TAP Antibody is from the taxane class of molecules, except (i) in the performance of its obligations and responsibilities under the relevant Annual Research
Plan or this Agreement, (ii) to the extent included in a Dropped Product pursuant to Section 3.7, or (iii) as necessary to ***** its ***** to a ***** relating to
the ***** permitting such ***** to ***** to the relevant ***** or *****, as the case may be, with an ***** from the ***** of *****.

 
7.6          Section 365(n) of the Bankruptcy Code.  All rights and licenses granted under or pursuant to any Section of this Agreement are, and shall

otherwise be deemed to be, for purposes of Section 365(n) of the Bankruptcy Code, licenses of rights to “intellectual property” as defined under
Section 101(35A) of the Bankruptcy Code.  The Parties shall retain and may fully exercise all of their respective rights and elections under the Bankruptcy
Code.  Upon the bankruptcy of any Party, the non-bankrupt Party shall further be entitled to a complete duplicate of (or complete access to, as appropriate)
any such intellectual property, and such, if not already in its possession, shall be promptly delivered to the non-bankrupt Party, unless the bankrupt Party
elects to continue, and continues, to perform all of its obligations under this Agreement.

 
ARTICLE 8

 
FINANCIAL PROVISIONS

 
8.1          Upfront Research Payment.  In connection with the funding of research of Products, Aventis shall pay ImmunoGen, within three (3)

Business Days of the execution of this agreement, Twelve Million Dollars ($12,000,000), which amount shall be non-refundable and non-creditable.  For
purposes of clarity, in no event shall payments under this Section 8.1 be credited against the amounts payable under Section 2.5.3 of this Agreement.
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8.2          Payments.  As additional funding of research of Products, Aventis shall pay ImmunoGen the non-refundable and non-creditable amounts set

forth below within ***** (*****) ***** following the first occurrence of each event specified below, together with a copy of any applicable Regulatory
Approval letter in connection therewith (each, an “Event”):

 
8.2.1       Events and Payments Related to Licensed Products.
 

(a)           *****.  ***** ($*****) upon ***** of ***** of ***** for the ***** of a *****.
 
(b)           *****.  ***** ($*****) upon ***** of ***** of ***** for the ***** of a *****.
 
(c)           *****.  ***** ($*****) upon ***** of ***** of ***** for the ***** of a *****.
 
(d)           *****.  ***** ($*****) upon ***** by ***** of the ***** with the ***** with respect to a *****.
 
(e)           *****.  ***** ($*****) upon ***** of the ***** by the ***** with respect to a *****; provided that if, at the ***** of

*****, the ***** by Section ***** above was ***** to the ***** that ***** had been ***** on any ***** at the time of *****, then the ***** to be *****
by ***** under this Section 8.2.1(e) shall be ***** by ***** ($*****) for a ***** under this subsection (e) of ***** ($*****).

 
(f)            *****.  ***** ($*****) upon ***** of the ***** and ***** of a ***** in any ***** of the *****, whether by the *****

(by the ***** for ***** of ***** (*****)) in the ***** or by the ***** in the ***** of the ***** in the *****.
 
(g)           *****.  ***** ($*****) upon ***** of the ***** and ***** of a ***** in *****.
 



For purposes of clarification, (i) each of the ***** shall be ***** and upon the ***** of each ***** for each *****, ***** of the ***** of ***** of each
***** for such *****, (ii) ***** or ***** shall be ***** the ***** for purposes of this Section 8.2.1 if ***** are ***** at the *****, (iii) *****, *****,
***** or ***** for a ***** for which a ***** has been made shall not *****, (iv) in no event shall ***** under this Section 8.2.1 be ***** any *****
under Section ***** of this Agreement, and (v) “*****” with respect to a ***** shall mean the ***** the ***** is ***** with a ***** in *****.
 

8.2.2       Events and Payments Related to Collaboration Products.
 

(a)           *****.  ***** ($*****) upon the ***** by the ***** pursuant to Section ***** of a ***** as an ***** for ***** into a
*****.
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(b)           *****.  ***** ($*****) upon ***** of ***** of ***** for the ***** of a *****.
 
(c)           *****.  ***** ($*****) upon ***** of ***** of ***** for the ***** of a *****.
 
(d)           *****. ***** ($*****) upon ***** of ***** of ***** for the ***** of a *****.
 
(e)           *****.  ***** ($*****) upon ***** by ***** of the ***** with the ***** with respect to a *****.
 
(f)            *****.  ***** ($*****) upon ***** of the ***** by the ***** with respect to a *****; provided that if, at the ***** of

*****, the ***** required by Section ***** above was ***** to the ***** that ***** had been ***** on any ***** at the time of *****, then the ***** to
be ***** by ***** under this Section 8.2.2(f) shall be ***** by ***** ($*****) for a ***** under this subsection (f) of ***** ($*****).

 
(g)           *****.  ***** ($*****) upon ***** of the ***** and ***** of a ***** in any ***** of the *****, whether by the *****

(by the ***** for ***** of ***** (*****)) in the ***** or by the ***** in the ***** of the ***** in the *****.
 
(h)           *****.  ***** ($*****) upon ***** of the ***** and ***** of a ***** in *****.
 

For purposes of clarification, (i) each of the ***** shall be made ***** and upon the ***** of each ***** for each *****, ***** of the ***** of ***** of
each ***** (ii) ***** or ***** shall be *****the *****for purposes of this Section 8.2.2 if such *****are *****at the*****, (iii) *****, *****, ***** or
***** for a ***** shall not *****, (iv) in no event shall ***** under this Section 8.2.2 be ***** any ***** under Section ***** of this Agreement and (v)
“*****” with respect to a ***** shall mean the ***** the ***** is ***** with of a ***** in *****.
 

8.2.3       *****.  If (i) the ***** for such ***** constitutes ***** and is not a *****, (ii) a ***** for such ***** is ***** under this
Agreement but such ***** becomes a ***** after an ***** has been ***** with respect thereto and (iii) the ***** by ***** of such ***** would ***** a
***** under the *****, then:

 
(a)           *****.  ***** ($*****) upon ***** of  ***** of ***** for the ***** of *****.
 
(b)           *****.  ***** ($*****) upon ***** of  ***** of ***** for the ***** of *****.
 
(c)           *****.  ***** ($*****) upon the ***** in the ***** by ***** of *****.
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(d)           *****.  ***** ($*****) upon the ***** by ***** in any ***** of the ***** of *****.
 
(e)           *****.  ***** ($*****) upon the ***** by ***** in ***** of *****.
 

For purposes of clarification, (i) each of the ***** shall be made ***** and upon the ***** of each ***** for each *****, ***** of the ***** of ***** of
each *****, (ii) ***** (*****) or ***** shall be ***** the ***** for purposes of this Section 8.2.3 if such ***** are ***** at the *****, (iii) *****, *****,
***** or ***** for an ***** shall not *****, (iv) in no event shall ***** under this Section 8.2.3 be ***** any ***** under Section ***** of this
Agreement and (v) “*****” with respect to a ***** shall mean the ***** the ***** is ***** with ***** in *****.
 

8.3          Determination That Payments Are Due.  Aventis shall provide ImmunoGen with prompt written notice upon its achievement of each of
the Events set forth in Section 8.2 of this Agreement.  In the event that, notwithstanding the fact that Aventis has not given any such notice, ImmunoGen
believes any such Event has occurred, it shall so notify Aventis and the Joint Development Committee in writing, and shall provide to Aventis and the Joint
Development Committee the data and information demonstrating that the conditions for payment have been achieved.  Within ***** (*****) ***** of its
receipt of such notice, the Joint Development Committee shall review the data and information and shall certify in writing whether or not the conditions for
payment have been achieved.  Any negative determination shall be accompanied by a detailed explanation of the reasons therefor.

 
8.4          Royalties.
 

8.4.1       Licensed Products.  Subject to the provisions of this Section 8.4, Aventis shall pay the following royalties (“Licensed Product
Royalties”) on a Licensed Product-by-Licensed Product basis based on aggregate, worldwide, annual Net Sales of each Licensed Product, as follows:

 
(a)           ***** (*****) of that ***** of ***** of such ***** that is ***** than or ***** to $***** in a *****.
 
(b)           ***** (*****) of that ***** of ***** of such ***** that is ***** than $***** but ***** than or ***** to $***** in a

*****.
 



(c)           ***** (*****) of that ***** of ***** of such ***** that is ***** than $***** in a *****.
 

8.4.2       Collaboration Products.  Subject to the provisions of this Section 8.4, Aventis shall pay the following royalties (“Collaboration
Product Royalties”) on a Collaboration Product-by-Collaboration Product basis based on aggregate, worldwide, annual Net Sales of each Collaboration
Product, as follows:
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(a)           ***** (*****) of that ***** of ***** of such ***** that is ***** than or ***** to $***** in a *****.
 
(b)           ***** (*****) of that ***** of ***** of such ***** that is ***** than $***** but ***** than or ***** to $***** in a

*****.
 
(c)           ***** (*****) of that ***** of ***** of such ***** that is ***** than $***** in a *****.
 

8.4.3       *****.  Subject to the provisions of this Section 8.4.3, Aventis shall pay the following royalties (“*****” and together with the
***** and the *****, the “*****”) on a ***** - ***** based on *****, *****, ***** of each *****, as follows:

 
(a)           If (i) the ***** for such ***** constitutes ***** and is either (x) a ***** or (y) a ***** for a ***** that is ***** prior to

the ***** of an ***** with respect thereto and (ii) the ***** by ***** of such ***** would ***** a ***** under the *****, then ***** (*****) of the
***** of such *****;

 
(b)           If (i) (A) the ***** for such ***** constitutes ***** and is not a *****, (B) a ***** for such ***** is ***** and *****

under this Agreement for which ***** and ***** will be ***** under this Agreement, and (C) the ***** by ***** of such ***** would ***** a *****
under the *****, or (ii) the ***** meets the ***** set forth in Section *****, then (x) ***** (*****) of that ***** of ***** of such ***** that is *****
than or ***** to $***** in a *****, (y) ***** (*****) of that ***** of ***** of ***** that is ***** than $***** but ***** than or ***** to $***** in a
*****, and (z) ***** (*****) of that ***** of ***** of such ***** that is ***** than $***** in a *****.

 
(c)           If (i) the ***** for such ***** is brought to the ***** by ***** from a ***** and constitutes ***** of such *****, (ii)

the ***** by ***** of such ***** would ***** a ***** of a ***** of such ***** such ***** and (iii) no other ***** are due and payable pursuant to
Section ***** or ***** hereof with respect to such *****, then ***** (*****) of the ***** of such *****.
 

8.4.4       Royalty Term.
 

(a)           Subject to the provisions of Section 8.4.5 below, with respect to Products containing TAP Antibodies, Aventis shall pay to
ImmunoGen the Royalties set forth in Sections 8.4.1 and 8.4.2 on a Product-by-Product basis and a country-by-country basis for so long as there exists in
such country a Valid Claim within any ImmunoGen Patent Rights or Program Patent Rights ***** the ***** of ***** (i.e., ***** per se ***** only) of any
***** or ***** of such ***** Product, or, if longer, until the ***** (*****) ***** of the First Commercial Sale of such Product in a given country;
provided that, subject to Section 8.4.5(d), such Royalties shall be ***** by ***** (e.g. a ***** (*****) ***** shall be ***** to ***** and ***** (*****))
solely for that portion of the royalty payment term during which no such ***** exists in such *****.
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(b)           Subject to the provisions of Section 8.4.5 below, with respect to Products other than those containing TAP Antibodies,

Aventis shall pay to ImmunoGen the Royalties set forth in Sections 8.4.1 and 8.4.2 on a Product-by-Product basis and a country-by-country basis for so long
as there exists in such country a Valid Claim within any ImmunoGen Patent Rights or Program Patent Rights which ***** the *****, a ***** thereof or the
***** of ***** of such ***** in such *****, or, if *****, until the ***** (*****) ***** of the ***** of such ***** in a given country; provided that,
subject to Section 8.4.5(d), such Royalties shall be ***** by ***** (e.g. a ***** (*****) ***** shall be ***** to ***** and ***** (*****)) solely for that
portion of the royalty payment term during which no such ***** exists in such *****.

 
(c)           Subject to the provisions of Section 8.4.5 below, with respect to *****, ***** shall ***** to ***** the ***** set forth in

Section ***** on a ***** basis and a ***** basis for so long as there ***** in such ***** a ***** under the ***** (or under a ***** of a ***** in the case
of Section *****) which ***** the ***** of such ***** in such *****.

 
(d)           For purposes of clarity, Royalties are determined on a country-by-country basis such that, if Aventis is no longer obligated

to pay a Royalty in a given country with respect to a Product, ***** from the sale of such Product in such country shall not be ***** in *****, or the *****,
under Sections 8.4.1, 8.4.2 and 8.4.3 above.

 
8.4.5       Additional Royalty Reductions.  The Royalties payable hereunder shall be subject to the following additional reductions:
 

(a)           If (i) ***** is ***** to ***** a ***** under ***** of a ***** in order to ***** the ***** thereof, or other ***** of a
***** in order to ***** thereof, in either case, in connection with the*****, ***** or ***** of a ***** (other than ***** or ***** related to the ***** of
*****generally), and (ii) such ***** would be required by any company desiring to *****, ***** or ***** that incorporate the ***** related to *****,
*****or *****of *****or*****, then, subject to Section 8.4.5(c), Aventis may ***** the ***** of any *****, ***** or other ***** made to such ***** for
such *****.  Aventis shall use *****to *****any such ***** on ***** that, in ***** determination, are as ***** as then available.
 

(b)           If a ***** (other than ***** required under Section 8.4.5(a)) under ***** or other ***** of a ***** (other than ***** or
***** related to the ***** of ***** generally) is necessary to ***** or ***** a *****, then, subject to Section 8.4.5(c), ***** may ***** of the amount of
any *****, ***** or other ***** made by ***** to such ***** for such ***** from Royalties payable hereunder; provided, that (i) the foregoing reduction
shall not apply to any ***** or ***** rights ***** subject matter whose ***** is a ***** in the ***** of ***** of *****, unless ***** an ***** in such
***** of ***** for the future Development or Commercialization of the Product, in which case, if such ***** is applied to ***** of *****, other than the
Product, then such Royalty reduction shall be based on a ***** of the license to the Product; and (ii) in no event shall ***** provisions of this



Section 8.4.5(b) ***** the ***** (in each *****) hereunder by more than ***** (*****) *****.  To the extent any such ***** or other ***** (other than
*****) ***** by ***** under this Section 8.4.5(b) are not able to be ***** by ***** in the ***** in which they are ***** by *****, then ***** may
continue such ***** in ***** until such ***** or other ***** is *****.
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(c)           In no event shall all ***** provisions of Sections 8.4.4 and 8.4.5(a) and (b) ***** the ***** hereunder to ***** than

***** (*****) of *****.
 
(d)           All Royalties then in effect on a Product in a particular country shall be ***** by ***** (e.g., a ***** (*****) *****

shall be ***** to ***** and ***** (*****)) during the ***** (as defined below) in the event that a ***** sells a ***** (as defined below) in such *****. 
For purposes of this Section 8.4.5(d), a “*****” shall mean a *****, other than any ***** on the ***** as of the Effective Date, which includes an ***** or
*****, as applicable, that is ***** against the ***** as a ***** and the term “*****” shall mean the ***** during which the ***** of the ***** by such
***** in the relevant ***** are ***** to at ***** (*****) of ***** or ***** of the relevant ***** in such *****.

 
(e)           All Royalties then in effect on a Product in a particular country shall ***** on the ***** of (i) the ***** on which the

***** of ***** in such ***** are ***** to at least ***** (*****) of ***** or ***** of the relevant ***** in such *****, or (ii) the ***** on which a *****
is ***** in such country where the laws or regulations of such ***** permit ***** of ***** of a *****.  For purposes of this Section 8.4.5, a “*****” shall
mean a ***** that ***** the same ***** as a ***** (*****may vary) and is ***** to such *****.

 
(f)            If ***** reasonably and in good faith believes that a ***** is required in order to permit Aventis to Commercialize a

Product in a particular ***** with a *****, ***** may notify ***** of such belief and its basis therefor and, if such notification is made, the Parties shall
***** as ***** as ***** to discuss in good faith whether a ***** to the ***** for such ***** in such ***** is appropriate.

 
8.4.6       Development Costs.  Except as otherwise provided in this Agreement, Development costs for all Products shall be borne one

hundred percent (100%) by Aventis.
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ARTICLE 9

 
ROYALTY PAYMENTS; REPORTING; BOOKS AND RECORDS

 
9.1          Reports and Payments.
 

9.1.1       Statements and Payment.  Aventis shall deliver to ImmunoGen, within thirty (30) days after the end of each Calendar Quarter, a
report setting forth for such Calendar Quarter the following information for each Product: (i) Net Sales of such Product or *****, on a country-by-country
basis, (ii) the basis for any reductions to the Royalties payable due to the application of Sections 8.4.3 and 8.4.4, as applicable (iii) the Royalties due to
ImmunoGen on account of sales of such Product or *****, and (iv) the exchange rates used in calculating any of the foregoing.  The total Royalties due on
account of sales of Products or ***** during such Calendar Quarter, plus any amounts due as reimbursement for ***** pursuant to Section 6.6, shall be
remitted at the ***** is *****.

 
9.1.2       Taxes and Withholding.  Any payments made by Aventis to ImmunoGen under this Agreement shall be free and clear of any taxes,

duties, levies, fees or charges, and such amounts shall be reduced by the amount required to be paid or withheld pursuant to any applicable law, including, but
not limited to, United States federal, state or local tax law (“Withholding Taxes”).  Any such Withholding Taxes required by law to be paid or withheld shall
be an expense of, and borne solely by, ImmunoGen.  Aventis, as applicable, shall submit to ImmunoGen reasonable proof of payment of the Withholding
Taxes, together with an accounting of the calculations of such taxes, within ***** (*****) ***** after such Withholding Taxes are remitted to the proper
authority.  The Parties will cooperate reasonably in completing and filing documents required under the provisions of any applicable tax laws or under any
other applicable law in connection with the making of any required tax payment or withholding payment, or in connection with any claim to a refund of or
credit for any such payment.

 
9.1.3       Currency Exchange.  With respect to Net Sales invoiced or expenses incurred in U.S. dollars, the Net Sales or expense amounts and

the amounts due to ImmunoGen hereunder shall be expressed in U.S. dollars.  With respect to Net Sales invoiced or expenses incurred in a currency other
than U.S. dollars, the Net Sales or expense shall be expressed in the domestic currency of the entity making the sale or incurring the expense, together with
the U.S. dollar equivalent, calculated using the arithmetic average of the spot rates on the last Business Day of each month of the Calendar Quarter in which
the Net Sales were made or the expense was incurred.  The “closing mid-point rates” found in the “Dollar spot forward against the Dollar” table published by
The Financial Times, or any other publication as agreed to by the Parties, shall be used as the source of spot rates to calculate the average as defined in the
preceding sentence.  All payments shall be made by wire transfer in U.S. dollars to the credit of such bank account as shall be designated at least five (5)
Business Days in advance by ImmunoGen in writing to Aventis.

 
9.1.4       Maintenance of Records; Audit.  For a period of ***** (*****) *****, Aventis shall keep and maintain, and shall require its

respective Affiliates and sublicensees to
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keep and maintain, such accurate and complete books and records in connection with the sale of Products hereunder, as are necessary to allow the accurate
calculation consistent with generally accepted accounting principles of the Royalties due to ImmunoGen, including any records required to calculate any
royalty adjustments hereunder.  ***** per *****, ImmunoGen shall have the right to engage an independent certified public accounting firm of nationally
recognized standing and reasonably acceptable to Aventis, which shall have the right to examine in confidence the relevant books and records of Aventis and
its respective Affiliates and sublicensees as may be reasonably necessary to determine and/or verify the amount of Royalty payments due hereunder.  Such



examination shall be conducted, and Aventis shall make its records available, during normal business hours, after at least ***** (*****) ***** prior written
notice to Aventis, as applicable, and shall take place at the facility(ies) where such records are maintained.  Each such examination shall be limited to
pertinent books and records for any year ending not more than ***** (*****) ***** prior to the date of request; provided, that, ImmunoGen shall not be
permitted to audit the same period of time more than once.  Before permitting such independent accounting firm to have access to such books and records,
Aventis may require such independent accounting firm and its personnel involved in such audit, to sign a confidentiality agreement (in form and substance
reasonably acceptable to each of the Parties) as to any confidential information which is to be provided to such accounting firm or to which such accounting
firm will have access, while conducting the audit under this paragraph.  The ImmunoGen independent accounting firm will prepare and provide to each Party
a written report stating whether the Royalty reports submitted and Royalties paid are correct or incorrect and the specific details concerning any
discrepancies.  Such accounting firm may not reveal to ImmunoGen any information learned in the course of such audit other than the amount of any such
discrepancies.  ImmunoGen agrees to hold in strict confidence all information disclosed to it, except to the extent necessary for ImmunoGen to enforce its
rights under this Agreement or if disclosure is required by law.  In the event there was an underpayment by Aventis hereunder, Aventis shall promptly (but in
no event later than ***** (*****) ***** after such Party’s receipt of the independent auditor’s report so correctly concluding) make payment to ImmunoGen
of any shortfall.  In the event that there was an overpayment by Aventis hereunder, ImmunoGen shall promptly (but in no event later than ***** (*****)
***** after ImmunoGen’s receipt of the independent auditor’s report so correctly concluding) refund to Aventis the excess amount.  ***** shall bear the
***** of such audit unless such audit discloses an underreporting by Aventis of more than ***** (*****) of the aggregate amount of Royalties in any *****
(*****) ***** period, in which case, Aventis shall reimburse ImmunoGen for all costs incurred by ImmunoGen in connection with such examination and
audit.

 
9.1.5       Overdue Royalties. In the event that any payment for Royalties due hereunder is not made when due, the payment shall accrue

interest from the date due at a rate equal to the average one-month London Interbank Offered Rate (LIBOR) for the US Dollar, as published by The Financial
Times or any other publication as mutually agreed to by the Parties, plus one hundred (100) basis points, calculated on the number of days between the actual
date the payment is made and the date the payment was due; provided, however, that in no event shall such rate exceed the maximum annual interest rate
permitted under applicable Law.
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ARTICLE 10

 
INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY OWNERSHIP,

PROTECTION AND RELATED MATTERS
 

10.1        Aventis Intellectual Property Rights.  Aventis shall have sole and exclusive ownership of all right, title and interest on a worldwide basis
in and to any and all Aventis Intellectual Property, with full rights to license or sublicense, subject to the licenses to ImmunoGen as set forth herein and
subject to the provisions of Section 7.5.

 
10.2        ImmunoGen Intellectual Property Rights.  ImmunoGen shall have sole and exclusive ownership of all right, title and interest on a

worldwide basis in and to any and all ImmunoGen Intellectual Property, with full rights to license or sublicense, subject to the licenses to Aventis as set forth
herein and subject to the provisions of Section 7.5.

 
10.3        Program Intellectual Property Rights.  ***** shall have ***** and ***** of all *****, subject to ***** granted to ***** as set forth

herein and subject to the provisions of Section *****.
 
10.4        Prosecution and Maintenance of Patent Rights.
 

10.4.1     Aventis shall be responsible for (a) preparing, filing and prosecuting patent applications (including reissue, continuing, divisional,
and substitute applications and any foreign counterparts thereof), (b) for maintaining any Patent Rights, and (c) for managing any interference or opposition
proceedings relating to the foregoing (“Patent Prosecution”) Covering any Aventis Intellectual Property or Program Intellectual Property.  ImmunoGen shall
be responsible for Patent Prosecution for ImmunoGen Intellectual Property.  All Patent Prosecution expenses, including attorneys’ fees, incurred by a Party in
the performance of Patent Prosecution shall be borne by such Party.

 
10.4.2     Except with respect to Aventis Intellectual Property, with respect to which ImmunoGen shall not have rights under this Section, if

the prosecuting Party elects not to continue pursuing Patent Prosecution with respect to any rights within Patent Rights (and the other Party has rights under
such Patent Right), then the prosecuting Party shall notify the other Party in writing of such election at least ***** (*****) ***** prior to the last available
date for action to preserve such Patent Rights.  If such other Party elects to continue Patent Prosecution, such other Party may do so at its sole expense.  If
ImmunoGen is the Party that elects not to continue pursuing Patent Prosecution and Aventis elects to continue such Patent Prosecution, then (a) such affected
Patent Rights shall not be considered a Valid Claim hereunder and no Royalties shall be payable by Aventis to ImmunoGen hereunder with respect to the
affected Patent Rights in such country and (b) Aventis shall be entitled to offset the costs of such Patent Prosecution against Royalties, if any, due to
ImmunoGen hereunder for sales of Products in such country.  For clarity, in the event that Aventis incurs such costs of Patent Prosecution and there are not
sufficient Royalties to fully offset such costs in the ***** in which such costs are incurred, ImmunoGen shall have no obligation to make a payment to
Aventis for such costs;
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provided that, Aventis may continue such offsets in subsequent ***** until such costs are fully recovered.

 
10.5        Cooperation.  Each Party hereby agrees:
 

10.5.1     to make its employees, agents and consultants reasonably available to the other Party (or to the other Party’s authorized attorneys,
agents or representatives), to the extent reasonably necessary to enable the prosecuting Party to undertake Patent Prosecution,

 
10.5.2     to provide the other Party with copies of all material correspondence with the U.S. Patent and Trademark Office or its foreign

counterparts pertaining to Patent Prosecution for Program Patent Rights and Patent Rights Covering ImmunoGen Technology Improvements as to which such



Party has a license under this Agreement reasonably in advance of any relevant filing deadline or intended filing date for such other Party to review and
comment thereon, to incorporate, absent a substantial reason to the contrary, the non-filing Party’s comments on such filing before submitting such filing to
the relevant patent authority, and to provide the other Party a copy of all material notices received from a patent authority with respect thereto;

 
10.5.3     to cooperate, if necessary and appropriate, with the other Party in gaining patent term extensions wherever applicable to Program

Patent Rights; and
 
10.5.4     to endeavor in good faith to coordinate its efforts with the other Party to minimize or avoid interference with the Patent Prosecution

of the other Party’s patent applications.
 

10.6        Third Party Infringement.
 

10.6.1     Notice.  Each Party shall promptly provide the other Party with written notice reasonably detailing any known or alleged
infringement by a Third Party of Program Patent Rights, Aventis Patent Rights, ImmunoGen Patent Rights or Patent Rights Covering either ImmunoGen
Technology Improvements or Aventis Technology Improvements.

 
10.6.2     Products.
 

(a)           ***** shall have the first right, but not the obligation, to institute and direct legal proceedings against any Third Party
believed to be infringing the Program Patent Rights.  All costs, including attorneys’ fees, relating to such legal proceedings shall be borne by *****.

 
(b)           ***** shall have the first right, but not the obligation, to institute and direct legal proceedings against any Third Party

believed to be infringing the ImmunoGen Patent Rights or Patent Rights Covering ImmunoGen Technology Improvements.  All costs, including attorneys’
fees, relating to such legal proceedings shall be borne by *****.
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(c)           Any damages, monetary awards or other amounts recovered, whether by judgment or settlement, pursuant to any suit,

proceeding or other legal action taken under this Section 10.6.2, shall be applied as follows:
 

(i)            First, to reimburse the Parties for their respective costs and expenses (including reasonable attorneys’ fees and
costs) incurred in prosecuting such enforcement action;

 
(ii)           Second, to Aventis in reimbursement for lost sales associated with Products and to ImmunoGen in

reimbursement for lost Royalties owing hereunder based on such lost sales;
 
(iii)         Third, any amounts remaining shall be allocated as follows:  (a) if ImmunoGen is the Party bringing such suit or

proceeding or taking such other legal action, ***** (*****) to ImmunoGen, (b) if Aventis is the Party bringing such suit or proceeding or taking such other
legal action, ***** (*****) to Aventis, and (c) if the suit is brought jointly, ***** (*****) to each Party.

 
10.6.3     Cooperation In Patent Infringement Proceedings.  In the event that either Aventis or ImmunoGen takes action pursuant to this

Section 10.6, the other Party shall cooperate to the extent reasonably necessary and at the first Party’s sole expense.  Upon the reasonable request of the Party
bringing such action, such other Party shall join the suit and shall be represented in any such legal proceedings using counsel of its own choice, at the first
Party’s expense.  Neither Party shall settle any claim or proceeding relating to Program Patent Rights, ImmunoGen Patent Rights or Patent Rights Covering
ImmunoGen Technology Improvements Controlled in whole or in part by the other Party or licensed under this Agreement to the other Party without the prior
written consent of such other Party, which consent shall not be unreasonably withheld.

 
10.6.4     Back-Up Enforcement Rights.  If the Party having the first right under this Section 10.6 with respect to a Program Patent Right,

ImmunoGen Patent Right or Patent Rights Covering ImmunoGen Technology Improvements fails to institute and prosecute an action or proceeding to abate
the infringement within a period of ***** (*****) ***** after receiving written notice or otherwise having knowledge of the infringement as provided above
(or ***** (*****) ***** if such action is brought under the Hatch-Waxman Act), then the other Party shall have the right, but not the obligation, to bring and
prosecute any such action if it is licensed under such Patent Right pursuant to this Agreement, or Controls such Patent Right.  Any recovery of damages and
costs in any such action brought pursuant to this Section 10.6.4 shall be shared by the Parties equally to the extent arising out of the competitive product
infringement that gave rise to a Party’s ability to bring such action under this Section 10.6.
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10.7        Other Intellectual Property Infringement.
 

10.7.1     Notice.
 

(a)           Each Party shall notify the other in writing of any allegations it receives from a Third Party that Program Intellectual
Property, ImmunoGen Intellectual Property, Aventis Intellectual Property or any Product infringes the intellectual property rights of such Third Party.  Such
notice shall be provided promptly, but in no event after more than ***** (*****) *****, following receipt of such allegations.

 
(b)           In the event that a Party receives notice that it or any of its Affiliates have been individually named as a defendant in a

legal proceeding by a Third Party alleging infringement of a Third Party patent or other intellectual property right as a result of the manufacture, production,
use, development, sale or distribution of Program Intellectual Property, ImmunoGen Intellectual Property or any Product, such Party shall immediately notify
the other Party in writing and in no event notify them later than ***** (*****) ***** after the receipt of such notice.  Such written notice shall include a copy
of any summons or complaint (or the equivalent thereof) received regarding the foregoing.

 



(c)           Each Party shall provide to the other Party copies of any allegations of alleged patent invalidity or non-infringement of a
patent or patents with respect to Program Intellectual Property, ImmunoGen Intellectual Property or any Product pursuant to a Paragraph IV Patent
Certification or equivalent certification by a Party filing for an approval of a generic product.  Such copies shall be provided promptly, but in any event within
***** (*****) *****, of receipt of such certification.

 
(d)           Each Party shall provide to the other Party copies of any notices it receives from Third Parties regarding any patent nullity

actions, any declaratory judgment actions, any alleged infringement of Program Intellectual Property, ImmunoGen Intellectual Property or any Product.  Such
notices shall be provided promptly, but in no event after more than ***** (*****) *****, following receipt thereof.
 

10.7.2     In all cases where a claim is made by a Third Party and for which notice was given in accordance with Section 10.7.1, ***** shall
determine the appropriate course of action for such Product.

 
10.8        Marks for Products.
 

10.8.1     Aventis shall own all trademarks and service marks associated with Commercializing a Product (collectively, “Marks”).  Aventis
shall also own any domain names including any Marks.  Under no circumstances shall Aventis acquire any rights under this Section 10.8 in any trademark or
service mark including the word “ImmunoGen.”
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10.8.2     Aventis shall grant to ImmunoGen a license to such Marks solely for the purposes of performing its obligations and exercising its

rights, if any, relating to the Commercialization of a Co-Promoted Product in the Territory.
 
10.8.3     Except as expressly stated in this Agreement, ImmunoGen shall not have any right, title, interest or other license in or to any of the

Marks, and all uses of such Marks shall inure solely to the benefit of Aventis.
 
10.8.4     ImmunoGen agrees not to contest the validity of, by act or omission jeopardize, or take any action inconsistent with, Aventis’

rights or goodwill in any of its Marks in any country, including, without limitation, attempted registration of any such Mark, or use or attempted registration
of any confusingly similar names, trademarks or logos.

 
10.8.5     In the event that ImmunoGen becomes aware of any infringement of a Mark in the United States by a Third Party, it shall promptly

notify Aventis.
 

ARTICLE 11
 

CONFIDENTIALITY; NON-SOLICITATION
 

11.1        Confidential Information.  Except in connection with the activities contemplated by this Agreement, Confidential Information disclosed by
a Party to the other Party during the term of this Agreement shall not be used by the receiving Party, shall be maintained in confidence by the receiving Party
and shall not otherwise be disclosed by the receiving Party to any other person, firm, or agency, governmental or private (other than a Party’s Affiliates),
without the prior written consent of the disclosing Party, except to the extent that the Confidential Information (as determined by competent documentation):

 
11.1.1     was known or used by the receiving Party or its Affiliates prior to its date of disclosure to the receiving Party; or
 
11.1.2     either before or after the date of the disclosure to the receiving Party is lawfully disclosed to the receiving Party or its Affiliates by

sources other than the disclosing Party rightfully in possession of the Confidential Information; or
 
11.1.3     either before or after the date of the disclosure to the receiving Party or its Affiliates becomes published or generally known to the

public (including information known to the public through the sale of products in the ordinary course of business) through no fault or omission on the part of
the receiving Party, its Affiliates or its sublicensees; or

 
11.1.4     is independently developed by or for the receiving Party or its Affiliates without reference to or reliance upon the Confidential

Information.  In addition, the provisions of this Section 11.1.4 shall not preclude the receiving Party or its Affiliates from disclosing Confidential Information
to the extent such Confidential Information is required to be disclosed by the receiving Party or its Affiliates to comply with applicable laws, to defend or
prosecute
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litigation or to comply with governmental regulations, provided that the receiving Party provides prior written notice of such disclosure to the disclosing Party
and takes reasonable and lawful actions to avoid and/or minimize the degree of such disclosure.  Specific information shall not be deemed to be within any of
the foregoing exclusions merely because it is embraced by more general information falling within these exclusions.
 

11.2        Exception for Disclosure of Tax Treatment.  Notwithstanding anything else in this Agreement to the contrary, each Party hereto (and each
employee, representative, or other agent of any Party) may disclose to any and all persons, without limitation of any kind, the Federal income tax treatment
and Federal income tax structure of any and all transaction(s) contemplated herein and all materials of any kind (including opinions or other tax analyses) that
are or have been provided to any Party (or to any employee, representative, or other agent of any party) relating to such tax treatment or tax structure,
provided, however, that this authorization of disclosure shall not apply to restrictions reasonably necessary to comply with securities laws.  This authorization
of disclosure is retroactively effective immediately upon commencement of the first discussions regarding the transactions contemplated herein, and the
Parties aver and affirm that this tax disclosure authorization has been given on a date which is no later than thirty (30) days from the first day that any Party
hereto (or any employee, representative, or other agent of any party hereto) first made or provided a statement as to the potential tax consequences that may
result from the transactions contemplated hereby.

 



11.3        Employee and Advisor Obligations.  ImmunoGen and Aventis each agree that they shall provide Confidential Information received from
the other Party only to their respective employees, consultants and advisors, and to the employees, consultants and advisors of such Party’s Affiliates, who
have a need to know and have a written obligation to treat such information and materials as confidential in a substantially similar manner to that reflected in
the confidentiality obligations of the Parties contained herein.

 
11.4        Term.  All obligations of confidentiality imposed under this Article 11 shall expire ***** (*****) ***** following termination or

expiration of this Agreement.
 
11.5        Publications.  Each Party shall consult with the other Party prior to the submission of any manuscript for publication if the publication will

contain any Confidential Information of the other Party, unless the applicable laws and regulations prohibit such consultation.  Such consultation shall include
providing a copy of the proposed manuscript to the other Party at least ***** (*****) ***** prior to the proposed date of submission to a publisher,
incorporating appropriate changes proposed by the other Party regarding its Confidential Information into the manuscript submission and deleting all
Confidential Information of the other Party as it may request; provided however, that the other Party’s review hereunder shall be deemed to be completed at
the end of such ***** (*****) ***** period.  The review period shall be extended for an additional ***** (*****) ***** in the event the non-publishing
Party can demonstrate a reasonable need for such extension including, but not limited to, the preparation and filing of patent applications.  Each Party shall
provide to the other Party the opportunity to review any proposed abstracts, manuscripts or summaries of presentations which cover the
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results of the Research Program or of the Development of a Product.  Each Party shall designate a person who shall be principally responsible for approving
such publications.
 

11.6        Prohibition on Solicitation.  Without the written consent of the other Party, neither Party nor its Affiliates shall, during the Research
Program Term and for a period of one year following the expiration or termination of the Research Program Term, solicit (directly or indirectly) any person
who was employed by the other Party or its Affiliates at any time during the Research Program Term and was primarily dedicated to the Research Program to
terminate his or her employment with such Party or its Affiliates and become employed by such other Party.  This provision shall not restrict either Party or
its Affiliates from advertising employment opportunities in any manner that does not directly target the other Party or its Affiliates.
 

ARTICLE 12
 

TERM AND TERMINATION
 

12.1        Term.
 

12.1.1     This Agreement shall become effective as of the Effective Date and, unless earlier terminated by mutual agreement of the Parties
or as set forth in this Article 12, this Agreement will continue in full force and effect on a country-by-country and product-by-product basis until the
obligation to pay royalties with respect to the sale of such product in such country expires or is earlier terminated in accordance with the terms hereof.

 
12.1.2     On a country-by-country basis and on a Product-by-Product basis and a ***** -by- ***** basis, upon the scheduled expiration (as

contemplated in Section 8.4.4) of Aventis’ obligation to pay Royalties with respect to the sale of such Product or ***** in such country, the licenses granted
under Section 7.1, with respect to a given Product or ***** shall become fully paid up, royalty-free, perpetual and irrevocable.

 
12.1.3     On a country-by-country basis and on a Dropped Product-by-Dropped Product basis, upon the scheduled expiration (as

contemplated in Section 3.8.5) of ImmunoGen’s obligation to pay royalties with respect to the sale of such product in such country, the licenses granted under
Section 7.2.5 shall become fully paid up, royalty-free, perpetual and irrevocable.

 
12.2        Material Breach; Termination.
 

12.2.1     Material Breach.  If either Party believes that the other Party (the “Breaching Party”) is in material breach of this Agreement
(including without limitation any material breach of a representation or warranty made in this Agreement), then the non-breaching Party may deliver notice to
the Breaching Party specifying the material breach.  For all breaches other than a failure to make a payment set forth in Article 8, the allegedly Breaching
Party shall have ***** (*****) ***** to either cure such breach or, if cure cannot be reasonably effected within such ***** (*****) ***** period, to deliver
to the other Party a plan for curing such breach that is reasonably sufficient to effect a cure within ***** (*****) *****.  Such a plan

 
61

 
shall set forth a program for achieving cure as rapidly as practicable.  Following delivery of such plan, the Breaching Party shall use diligent efforts to carry
out the plan and cure the breach.  For any breach arising from a failure to make a payment set forth in Article 8 hereof, the allegedly Breaching Party shall
have ***** (*****) ***** to cure such breach.  If any material breach is not cured as specified above, then the provisions of Sections 12.2.2, 12.2.3, 12.2.4
and 12.2.5 shall apply.

 
12.2.2     Consequences of Material Breach by Aventis Relating to the Research Program.  If a material breach of Aventis relates to the

Research Program and is not cured in accordance with Section 12.2.1, then ImmunoGen shall have the right to terminate the Research Program.  Upon such
termination, this Agreement shall continue in full force and effect with respect to Aventis’ further Development and Commercialization of any Product then
existing at a ***** or ***** (including the payment of Royalties and Event based payments).  For purposes of clarity, if ImmunoGen terminates the Research
Program:

 
(a)           the licenses granted under Sections *****, *****, ***** and ***** shall terminate;
 
(b)           the provisions of the ***** only of Section ***** shall apply; and
 



(c)           ImmunoGen will have no further obligations to perform activities under the Research Program or at the direction of the
Joint Development Committee and Aventis will have no further funding obligations for the Research Program.

 
12.2.3     Consequences of Material Breach by ImmunoGen Relating to the Research Program.  If a material breach of ImmunoGen relates

to the Research Program and is not cured in accordance with Section 12.2.1, then Aventis shall have the right at its option to reduce or terminate
ImmunoGen’s participation in the Research Program by ***** the ***** to ***** the ***** of ***** (which ***** may be to *****) to be utilized in the
Research Program and the obligation of Aventis to ***** a ***** of ***** shall terminate.

 
12.2.4     Consequences of Material Breach by Aventis Relating to a Product.  If the material breach of Aventis relates to the Development or

Commercialization of a Product and is not cured in accordance with the provisions of Section 12.2.1, then:
 

(a)           such Product shall be deemed a Dropped Product;
 
(b)           ImmunoGen shall have the rights thereto as set forth in Section 3.7; provided that Aventis shall not have the right to

receive the royalty set forth in Section 3.8.5 and shall not have the right of first negotiation with respect to such Product as set forth in Sections 3.8.1 through
3.8.4;

 
(c)           if the Product is then being Commercialized, the Parties will take reasonable steps necessary to ensure that ImmunoGen

has sufficient commercial supplies of such Product for a period of ***** (*****) ***** from the effective date of such termination; and
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(d)           upon ImmunoGen’s request, Aventis shall grant to ImmunoGen an exclusive, worldwide license to utilize any of the

Marks which were used exclusively to market the affected Product in ***** for a ***** from ***** to ***** to be ***** in ***** by the Parties not to
***** a ***** of ***** (*****) of ***** of such Products ***** by ImmunoGen or any of its Affiliates, licenses or sublicenses using any of such Marks.

 
12.2.5     Consequences of Material Breach by ImmunoGen Relating to a Co-Promoted Product.  If the material breach by ImmunoGen

relates to the Commercialization of a Co-Promoted Product and is not cured in accordance with the provisions of Section 12.2.1, then the license set forth in
Section 7.2.3 shall terminate with respect to that Co-Promoted Product and ImmunoGen shall have no further right to co-promote that Co-Promoted Product.

 
12.2.6     Exclusive Remedy.  The rights of the non-breaching Party set forth in Sections 12.2.2 through 12.2.4 shall be the exclusive legal

remedy to a Party arising from a material breach other than the failure to make a payment; provided, however, that (i) in addition to the above described legal
remedy, the Parties may seek any and all equitable remedies, including without limitation declarative and injunctive relief in accordance with applicable law
and (ii) this restriction shall not prevent either Party from seeking indemnification pursuant to Article 15.

 
12.2.7     Rights of Aventis Upon *****.  At any time during Research Program Term, Aventis may at its option terminate this Agreement in

its entirety or terminate the Research Program upon ***** (*****) ***** prior written notice to ImmunoGen in the event that the Joint Research Committee,
the Joint Development Committee or the Joint Steering Committee determines that ***** and ***** that could reasonably result from the Research Program
would be, ***** on *****, ***** to ***** such that no ***** could ***** be ***** to *****.  If this Agreement or the Research Program is terminated by
Aventis pursuant to this Section 12.2.7, then on or before the effective date of such termination, ***** shall ***** to *****, in ***** an ***** to the *****
for ***** specified to be ***** to the ***** under the then ***** for the ***** (*****) ***** the delivery of Aventis’ written notice to ImmunoGen and
Aventis shall have ***** for the Research Program and (b) all ***** of ImmunoGen set forth in Sections *****  and ***** of this Agreement shall
immediately terminate.  Alternatively, Aventis shall have the option to ***** the ***** to ***** the ***** on ***** other than ***** and to ***** the
***** of ***** to be ***** in the ***** to a number appropriate in light of the ***** to be ***** under such *****, in which case the obligation of Aventis
to ***** a ***** of *****.

 
12.3        Certain Rights Upon Scheduled Expiration of the Research Program Term.  Upon the scheduled expiration of the Research Program

Term:
 

12.3.1     All Antibody Targets that have not been designated as Program Targets and all Program Targets against which no Antibodies or
TAP Antibodies have been generated as of the expiration of the Research Program Term shall be deemed to be Dropped Targets and the Parties shall have the
rights to such Targets as set forth in Section 2.8.5.  With respect to any such Targets that are ***** by *****, ***** shall have the ***** to ***** that *****
in *****

 
63

 
for a period of ***** (*****) ***** the ***** and ***** of a ***** with respect to such *****.  The consideration for any ***** such ***** shall be as
agreed to in such ***** and the ***** and ***** contained herein shall not be ***** with respect thereto.

 
12.3.2     All *****, all ***** against which such ***** are ***** and all ***** in the ***** of such ***** shall remain subject to the

restrictions contained in Section *****, and available to Aventis for ***** and ***** under this Agreement.
 

12.4        Residual Rights; Survival.  Upon expiration or termination of this Agreement, except as specifically provided herein to the contrary, all
rights and obligations of the Parties under this Agreement shall cease, except as follows:

 
12.4.1     Obligations to pay amounts accruing hereunder up to the date of expiration or termination;
 
12.4.2     The obligations regarding confidentiality as set forth in Article 11;
 
12.4.3     All obligations for record keeping and accounting reports;
 
12.4.4     The Parties’ right to inspect books and records of each other as set forth in Section 9.1.4;



 
12.4.5     The Parties’ rights with respect to the ownership of intellectual property as set forth in Article 10;
 
12.4.6     Obligations of defense and indemnity, which obligations shall continue in full force and effect for an unlimited period;
 
12.4.7     In addition to the provisions of Sections 12.1.2 and 12.1.3, the licenses granted pursuant to Sections *****, *****, *****, *****,

*****, *****, *****, ***** and ***** shall survive.
 

ARTICLE 13
 

JOINT STEERING COMMITTEE
 

13.1        Joint Steering Committee.
 

13.1.1     As soon as practicable after the Effective Date, Aventis and ImmunoGen shall establish a Joint Steering Committee comprised of at
least three (3) senior executives of Aventis and at least three (3) senior executives of ImmunoGen.

 
13.1.2     The Joint Steering Committee shall meet at least two (2) times annually to review the efforts of the Parties in the conduct of the

Research Program and Development and Commercialization activities.
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13.1.3     The location of such meetings of the Joint Steering Committee shall be as agreed by the Parties.  The Joint Steering Committee

may also meet by means of a telephone conference call or by videoconference.
 
13.1.4     Each Party may change any one or more of its representatives to the Joint Steering Committee at any time upon written notice to

the other Party.
 
13.1.5     Each Party shall use commercially reasonable efforts to cause its representatives to attend the meetings of the Joint Steering

Committee.  If a representative of a Party is unable to attend a meeting, such Party may designate an alternative to attend such meeting in place of the absent
representative, and such alternate shall have full voting power at such meeting.

 
13.1.6     In addition, each Party may, at its discretion, invite non-voting employees, and, with the consent of the other Party, consultants or

scientific advisors, to attend meetings of the Joint Steering Committee.
 
13.1.7     Decisions of the Joint Steering Committee shall be made by unanimous consent of Aventis and ImmunoGen, with each Party

having one vote, through written consent, through any other mutually agreed upon affirmative electronic form of consent, or at a regularly scheduled meeting
or any other meeting held for such purpose.  If the Joint Steering Committee is unable to reach unanimous agreement within ***** (*****) ***** following
the date the matter was first put to a vote, then ***** have the ***** to ***** the *****.  Either Party may convene a special meeting of the Joint Steering
Committee for the purpose of resolving disputes.

 
13.2        Chairperson of the Joint Steering Committee.  The chairperson of the Joint Steering Committee shall be a representative of ***** and

shall be responsible for calling meetings of the Joint Steering Committee and for leading the meetings.
 

ARTICLE 14
 

REPRESENTATIONS, WARRANTIES AND COVENANTS
 

14.1        Representation of Authority; Consents.  ImmunoGen and Aventis each represent and warrant to the other Party that as of the Effective
Date (a) it is a corporation duly organized and validly existing under the laws of its jurisdiction of incorporation, (b) it has full right, power and authority to
enter into this Agreement, (c) this Agreement has been duly executed by such Party and constitutes a legal, valid and binding obligation of such Party,
enforceable in accordance with its terms, and all necessary consents, approvals and authorizations of all government authorities and other persons required to
be obtained by such Party in connection with the execution, delivery and performance of this Agreement have been and shall be obtained, and (d) it has the
full right, power and authority to grant the licenses granted to the other under Section 7 hereof.
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14.2        No Conflict.  Each Party represents to the other Party, as of the Effective Date, that the execution and delivery of this Agreement and the

performance of such Party’s obligations hereunder (a) do not conflict with or violate such Party’s corporate charter and bylaws or any requirement of
applicable laws of regulations, and (b) do not and shall not in any material respect conflict with, violate or breach or constitute a default or require any
consent under, any contractual obligation of such Party provided, that ImmunoGen makes no representations or warranties under this Section 14.2(b) with
respect to Limited Targets and Burdened Technology, which matters are the subject to Section 14.4.

 
14.3        Knowledge of Pending or Threatened Litigation.  Each Party represents and warrants to the other Party that there is no claim,

investigation, suit, action or proceeding pending or, to such Party’s knowledge, expressly threatened, against such Party before or by any governmental entity
or arbitrator that, individually or in the aggregate, could reasonably be expected to (i) materially impair the ability of such Party to perform any obligation
under this Agreement or (ii) prevent or materially delay or alter the consummation of any or all of the transactions contemplated hereby.

 
14.4        Disclosure of Certain Agreements.  ImmunoGen represents that ***** is true, complete and correct in all material respects.
 
14.5        Disclaimer of Warranty.  NEITHER PARTY MAKES ANY EXPRESS OR IMPLIED WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY,

FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR USE OR PURPOSE, QUALITY OR USEFULNESS OF ANY TARGET, PROGRAM ANTIBODY, LEAD



ANTIBODY, EDC ANTIBODY, LICENSED PRODUCT OR COLLABORATION PRODUCT.  EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE PROVIDED HEREIN,
ALL IMMUNOGEN MATERIALS ARE PROVIDED “AS IS,” AND IMMUNOGEN MAKES NO EXPRESS OR IMPLIED WARRANTY OF
MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR USE OR PURPOSE, QUALITY OR USEFULNESS OF ANY IMMUNOGEN
TECHNOLOGY OR IMMUNOGEN MATERIALS.  EXCEPT AS OTHERWISE PROVIDED HEREIN, ALL AVENTIS MATERIALS ARE
PROVIDED “AS IS,” AND AVENTIS MAKES NO EXPRESS OR IMPLIED WARRANTY OF MERCHANTABILITY, FITNESS FOR A
PARTICULAR USE OR PURPOSE, QUALITY OR USEFULNESS OF ANY AVENTIS TECHNOLOGY OR AVENTIS MATERIALS.

 
14.6        Additional ImmunoGen Representations, Warranties and Covenants.  ImmunoGen represents, warrants and covenants to Aventis that:
 

14.6.1     all Patent Rights included within the ImmunoGen Patent Rights listed on Schedule 1.50 are existing and, to its best knowledge, are
not invalid or unenforceable, in whole or in part;

 
14.6.2     as of the Effective Date, ImmunoGen has the right to (i) use and license the ImmunoGen Intellectual Property as is necessary to

fulfill its obligations under this
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Agreement and to grant the licenses to Aventis pursuant to this Agreement, and (ii) except as set forth on Schedule 14.6.2, enforce all Patent Rights listed on
Schedule 1.50.
 

14.6.3     (i) all inventors of any inventions included within the ImmunoGen Patent Rights listed on Schedule 1.50 have assigned their entire
right, title and interest in and to such inventions and the corresponding Patent Rights to ImmunoGen and (ii) to the best knowledge of ImmunoGen, no
Person, other than those Persons named as inventors on any patent or patent application included within such ImmunoGen Patent Rights, is an inventor of the
invention(s) claimed in such patent or patent application;

 
14.6.4     as of the Effective Date, there are no claims, judgments or settlements against ImmunoGen pending or, to its best knowledge,

threatened, seeking to invalidate the ImmunoGen Patent Rights listed on Schedule 1.50 and during the term of this Agreement, ImmunoGen shall promptly
notify Aventis in writing upon learning of any actual or threatened claim, judgment or settlement with respect to the ImmunoGen Patent Rights; and

 
14.6.5     as of the Effective Date, to the best of its knowledge, (a) the *****, ***** or ***** the ***** as ***** will not ***** a ***** of

any ***** in ***** as of the *****; provided that ***** is made as to the ***** of ***** by ***** to ***** in writing during ***** to the *****, and (b)
no ***** is ***** the *****.

 
ARTICLE 15

 
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

 
15.1        Indemnification.
 

15.1.1     Aventis.  Aventis agrees to defend ImmunoGen and its Affiliates at Aventis’ cost and expense, and will indemnify and hold
ImmunoGen and its Affiliates and their respective directors, officers, employees and agents (the “ImmunoGen Indemnified Parties”) harmless from and
against any losses, costs, damages, fees or expenses arising out of any Third Party claim relating to (i) any material breach by Aventis of any of its
representations, warranties or obligations pursuant to this Agreement, (ii) the gross negligence or willful misconduct of Aventis, or (iii) injuries resulting from
the development, manufacture, use, sale or other disposition by Aventis of any Product or ***** (other than as set forth in Section 15.1.2(iii) below).  In the
event of any such claim against the ImmunoGen Indemnified Parties by any Third Party, ImmunoGen shall promptly notify Aventis in writing of the claim
and Aventis shall manage and control, at its sole expense, the defense of the claim and its settlement.  The ImmunoGen Indemnified Parties shall cooperate
with Aventis and may, at their option and expense, be represented in any such action or proceeding.  Aventis shall not be liable for any litigation costs or
expenses incurred by the ImmunoGen Indemnified Parties without Aventis’ prior written authorization.  In addition, Aventis shall not be responsible for the
indemnification or defense of any ImmunoGen Indemnified Party arising from any negligent or intentional acts by any ImmunoGen Indemnified Party or the
breach by ImmunoGen of any obligation or

 
67

 
warranty under this Agreement, or any claims compromised or settled without its prior written consent.

 
15.1.2     ImmunoGen.  ImmunoGen agrees to defend Aventis and its Affiliates at ImmunoGen’s cost, and will indemnify and hold Aventis

and its Affiliates and their respective directors, officers, employees and agents (the “Aventis Indemnified Parties”) harmless from and against any losses,
costs, damages, fees or expenses arising out of any Third Party claim relating to (i) any material breach by ImmunoGen of any of its representations,
warranties or obligations pursuant to this Agreement, (ii) the gross negligence or willful misconduct of ImmunoGen, (iii) any act or omission by ImmunoGen
in the performance of its activities under the Research Program or with respect to Co-Promoted Products or Dropped Products except those Dropped Products
with respect to which Aventis has entered into a Commercialization Agreement with ImmunoGen, or (iv) Aventis’ use of Burdened Technology or Limited
Targets, or any Burdened Technology Obligations, to the extent any of the foregoing were not properly disclosed by ImmunoGen to Aventis pursuant to
Sections 2.2.2 and 2.8.2.  In the event of any claim against the Aventis Indemnified Parties by any Third Party, Aventis, shall promptly notify ImmunoGen in
writing of the claim and ImmunoGen shall manage and control, at its sole expense, the defense of the claim and its settlement.  The Aventis Indemnified
Parties shall cooperate with ImmunoGen and may, at their option and expense, be represented in any such action or proceeding.  ImmunoGen shall not be
liable for any litigation costs or expenses incurred by the Aventis Indemnified Parties without ImmunoGen’s prior written authorization.  In addition,
ImmunoGen shall not be responsible for the indemnification or defense of any Aventis Indemnified Party arising from any negligent or intentional acts by any
Aventis Indemnified Party, or the breach by Aventis of any obligation or warranty under this Agreement, or any claims compromised or settled without its
prior written consent.

 
15.1.3     Insurance Proceeds.  Any indemnification hereunder shall be made net of any insurance proceeds recovered by the Indemnified

Party; provided, however, that if, following the payment to the Indemnified Party of any amount under this Article 15, such Indemnified Party recovers any



insurance proceeds in respect of the claim for which such indemnification payment was made, the Indemnified Party shall promptly pay an amount equal to
the amount of such proceeds (but not exceeding the amount of such indemnification payment) to the Indemnifying Party.

 
15.2        Insurance.  Each Party shall use all commercially reasonable efforts to maintain insurance, including product liability insurance, with

respect to its activities hereunder.
 

15.2.1     Such insurance shall be in such amounts and subject to such deductibles as the Parties may agree based upon standards prevailing
in the industry at the time.

 
15.2.2     Either Party may satisfy its obligations under this Section through self-insurance to the same extent.
 

15.3        Governing Law.  This Agreement shall be governed and the respective rights of the Parties determined according to the substantive laws of
the State of Delaware without giving
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effect to any choice of law principles that would require the application of the laws of a different state.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, any dispute,
controversy or claim relating to the scope, validity, enforceability or infringement of any Patent Rights or other intellectual property rights shall be submitted
to a court of competent jurisdiction in the territory in which such Patent Rights or other intellectual property rights were granted or arose.

 
15.4        Assignment.  Neither ImmunoGen nor Aventis may assign this Agreement in whole or in part without the consent of the other, except

(subject in the case of ImmunoGen to Section 15.6) if such assignment occurs in connection with the sale or transfer (by merger or otherwise) of all or
substantially all of the business and assets of ImmunoGen or Aventis to which the subject matter of this Agreement pertains, provided that the acquirer
confirms to the other Party in writing its agreement to be bound by all of the terms and conditions of this Agreement.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, either
Party may assign this Agreement to an Affiliate, provided that such Party shall guarantee the performance of such Affiliate.

 
15.5        Amendments.  This Agreement and the Exhibits and Schedules referred to in this Agreement constitute the entire agreement between the

Parties with respect to the subject matter hereof, and supersede all previous arrangements with respect to the subject matter hereof, whether written or oral. 
The Parties acknowledge that the Exhibits and Schedules referred to in this Agreement are being simultaneously delivered by the Parties on or before the
Effective Date.  Any amendment or modification to this Agreement shall be made in writing signed by both Parties.

 
15.6        ***** of ***** of *****.  If ***** into or ***** to ***** into a ***** which will ***** in a ***** of ***** during the ***** of this

Agreement, ***** shall notify ***** of such ***** and the ***** of the ***** to such ***** and such notice may be given at any time ***** to ***** into,
or ***** the ***** of, such *****.  Within ***** (*****) ***** of such notice, ***** may, at its *****, ***** to ***** in the ***** (including *****
with respect thereto) and/or ***** any then ***** and ***** of ***** pursuant to Section ***** by written notice to *****.  If ***** to ***** in the
*****, the ***** pursuant to Sections ***** and ***** shall *****.  If ***** to ***** the *****, the ***** pursuant to Section ***** shall *****.  If
***** does not ***** its ***** to ***** in the ***** and/or such ***** and ***** pursuant to this Section *****, ***** shall have no ***** under this
Section 15.6 with respect to the ***** in such *****, provided that such ***** is ***** or ***** to the ***** of the ***** of ***** to ***** hereunder.

 
15.7        Notices.  Notices to ImmunoGen shall be addressed to:

 
ImmunoGen, Inc.
128 Sidney Street
Cambridge, Massachusetts 02139
Attention:  Chief Executive Officer
Facsimile No.:  (617) 995-2510
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with a copy to:
 
Mintz, Levin, Cohn, Ferris, Glovsky and Popeo, P.C.
One Financial Center
Boston, Massachusetts 02111
Attention:  *****
Facsimile No.:  (*****) *****
 
Notices to Aventis shall be addressed to:
 
Aventis Pharmaceuticals Inc.
Vice President, Legal Corporate Development
200 Crossing Boulevard
Bridgewater, New Jersey  08807-0890
Attention:  *****
Facsimile No.:  (*****) *****
 
with a copy to:
 
Morgan, Lewis & Bockius, LLP
502 Carnegie Center
Princeton, New Jersey  08540
Attention:  *****



Facsimile No.:  (*****) *****
 

Either Party may change its address to which notices shall be sent by giving notice to the other Party in the manner herein provided.  Any notice required or
provided for by the terms of this Agreement shall be in writing and shall be (a) sent by registered or certified mail, return receipt requested, postage prepaid,
(b) sent via a reputable overnight courier service, or (c) sent by facsimile transmission, in each case properly addressed in accordance with the paragraph
above.  The effective date of notice shall be the actual date of receipt by the Party receiving the same.
 

15.8        Force Majeure.  No failure or omission by either Party in the performance of any obligation of this Agreement shall be deemed a breach of
this Agreement or create any liability if the same shall arise from any cause or causes beyond the control of such Party, including, but not limited to, the
following:  acts of gods; acts or omissions of any government; any rules, regulations or orders issued by any governmental authority or by any officer,
department, agency or instrumentality thereof; fire; storm; flood; earthquake; accident; war; rebellion; insurrection; riot; terrorist attack and invasion;
provided that such failure or omission resulting from one of the above causes is cured as soon as is practicable after the occurrence of one or more of the
above mentioned causes.
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15.9        Compliance with Export Regulations.  Neither Party shall export any technology licensed to it by the other Party under this Agreement

except in compliance with U.S. export laws and regulations.
 
15.10      Public Announcements.  On the Effective Date, the Parties shall issue one or more press releases in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B,

the timing of which shall be mutually agreed.  Any announcements or similar publicity with respect to the execution of this Agreement shall be agreed upon
between the Parties in advance of such announcement.  The Parties agree that any such announcement will not contain confidential business or technical
information and, if disclosure of confidential business or technical information is required by law or regulation, will make commercially reasonable efforts to
minimize such disclosure and obtain confidential treatment for any such information which is disclosed to a governmental agency or group.  Each Party
agrees to provide to the other Party a copy of any public announcement as soon as reasonably practicable under the circumstances prior to its scheduled
release.  Except under extraordinary circumstances, each Party shall provide the other with an advance copy of any press release at least five (5) Business
Days prior to the scheduled disclosure.  Each Party shall have the right to expeditiously review and recommend changes to any announcement regarding this
Agreement or the subject matter of this Agreement.  Except as otherwise required by law, the Party whose press release has been reviewed shall remove any
information the reviewing Party reasonably deems to be inappropriate for disclosure.  The contents of any such announcement or similar publicity which has
been reviewed and approved by the reviewing Party can be re-released by either Party without a requirement for re-approval.  Furthermore, each Party shall
give the other Party a reasonable opportunity to review all filings with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission describing the terms of this
Agreement prior to submission of such filings, and shall give due consideration to any reasonable comments by the non-filing Party relating to such filing,
including without limitation the provisions of this Agreement for which confidential treatment should be sought.

 
15.11      Independent Contractors.  It is understood and agreed that the relationship between the Parties is that of independent contractors and that

nothing in this Agreement shall be construed as authorization for either ImmunoGen or Aventis to act as agent for the other.  Members of the Joint Steering
Committee, the Joint Research Committee, the Joint Development Committee, the U.S. Commercialization Team and any subcommittees thereof shall be, and
shall remain, employees of ImmunoGen or Aventis, as the case may be.  No Party shall incur any liability for any act or failure to act by members of the Joint
Steering Committee, the Joint Research Committee, the Joint Development Committee, the U.S. Commercialization Team and any subcommittees thereof
who are employees of the other Party.

 
15.12      No Strict Construction.  This Agreement has been prepared jointly and shall not be strictly construed against either Party.
 
15.13      Headings.  The captions or headings of the sections or other subdivisions hereof are inserted only as a matter of convenience or for

reference and shall have no effect on the meaning of the provisions hereof.
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15.14      No Implied Waivers; Rights Cumulative.  No failure on the part of ImmunoGen or Aventis to exercise, and no delay in exercising, any

right, power, remedy or privilege under this Agreement, or provided by statute or at law or in equity or otherwise, shall impair, prejudice or constitute a
waiver of any such right, power, remedy or privilege or be construed as a waiver of any breach of this Agreement or as an acquiescence therein, nor shall any
single or partial exercise of any such right, power, remedy or privilege preclude any other or further exercise thereof or the exercise of any other right, power,
remedy or privilege.

 
15.15      Severability.  If any provision hereof is held invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect in any jurisdiction, the Parties shall substitute,

by mutual consent, valid provisions for such invalid, illegal or unenforceable provisions which valid provisions in their economic effect are sufficiently
similar to the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provisions that it can be reasonably assumed that the Parties would have entered into this Agreement with such
valid provisions.  In case such valid provisions cannot be agreed upon, the invalid, illegal or unenforceable of one or several provisions of this Agreement
shall not affect the validity of this Agreement as a whole, unless the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provisions are of such essential importance to this
Agreement that it is to be reasonably assumed that the Parties would not have entered into this Agreement without the invalid, illegal or unenforceable
provisions.

 
15.16      Execution in Counterparts.  This Agreement may be executed in counterparts, each of which counterparts, when so executed and

delivered, shall be deemed to be an original, and all of which counterparts, taken together, shall constitute one and the same instrument.
 
15.17      No Third Party Beneficiaries.  No person or entity other than Aventis, ImmunoGen and their respective Affiliates and permitted assignees

hereunder shall be deemed an intended beneficiary hereunder or have any right to enforce any obligation of this Agreement.
 
15.18      No Consequential Damages.  NEITHER PARTY HERETO WILL BE LIABLE FOR SPECIAL, INCIDENTAL OR

CONSEQUENTIAL DAMAGES ARISING OUT OF THIS AGREEMENT OR THE EXERCISE OF ITS RIGHTS HEREUNDER, INCLUDING
WITHOUT LIMITATION LOST PROFITS ARISING FROM OR RELATING TO ANY BREACH OF THIS AGREEMENT, REGARDLESS OF



ANY NOTICE OF SUCH DAMAGES.  NOTHING IN THIS SECTION 15.18 IS INTENDED TO LIMIT OR RESTRICT THE
INDEMNIFICATION RIGHTS OR OBLIGATIONS OF EITHER PARTY WITH RESPECT TO THIRD PARTY CLAIMS.
 
 

[Signature Page Follows]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement as of the Effective Date.

 
 

 

IMMUNOGEN, INC.
  
  
 

By:
  

  

Mitchel Sayare, Ph.D.
  

President and Chief Executive Officer
  
  
 

AVENTIS PHARMACEUTICALS INC.
  
  
 

By:
  

  
 

Frank L. Douglas, M.D.
   

Executive Vice President
   

Drug Innovation & Approval
Aventis Authorized Signatory
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EXHIBIT A

 
ANNUAL RESEARCH PLAN

 
 

 
Exhibit B

 
PRESS RELEASE

 
 

[See Attached]
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Corinne Hoff

 

Kara Smith
Aventis Global Media Relations

 

DI&A Communications
Tel.: +33 (0)3 88 99 19 16

 

Tel.: +1 908 231 4490
Corinne.Hoff@Aventis.com

 

Kara.Smith@Aventis.com
 
 
Aventis and ImmunoGen Sign Collaboration Agreement
to Discover, Develop, and Commercialize Novel Anti-cancer Therapeutics
 
Collaboration Pairs Aventis’ Strength in the Global Development and Commercialization of Novel Anti-cancer Products with ImmunoGen’s Antibody
Expertise
 
Strasbourg, France, July 31, 2003 –  Aventis and ImmunoGen announced today the signing of a collaboration agreement to discover, develop, and
commercialize novel antibody-based anti-cancer products.  The agreement combines the strength of Aventis in oncology product development and
commercialization with ImmunoGen’s antibody expertise.
 



Aventis will acquire the worldwide commercialization rights to the new product candidates created by the collaboration as well as worldwide
commercialization rights to three early-stage product candidates in ImmunoGen’s research pipeline: a potential new treatment for the blood cancer, acute
myeloid leukemia; a potential new treatment for a number of solid tumors, including breast, lung and prostate cancers; and a potential new treatment for
certain B-cell blood cancers including non-Hodgkin’s lymphoma.
 
Aventis and ImmunoGen will collaborate to create antibody-based anti-cancer products using targets provided by both companies.  Aventis is responsible for
product development, manufacturing, and commercialization, and will cover all associated costs.  ImmunoGen has an option to certain co-promotion rights in
the United States on a product-by-product basis.
 
“Fully in line with our strategy to reinforce our leadership position in oncology, this alliance provides Aventis with a foothold in the expanding field of
monoclonal antibodies.  ImmunoGen’s antibody expertise, including their immunoconjugate technology, is highly complementary to our established oncology
expertise.  We are very pleased to work with ImmunoGen to develop additional potential treatments to combat cancer,” said Frank L. Douglas, Executive Vice
President of Drug Innovation & Approval and a member of the Management Board of Aventis.
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Mitchel Sayare, Ph.D., ImmunoGen Chairman and CEO, commented, “We are delighted to enter into a collaboration with Aventis, a leading pharmaceutical
company and a global powerhouse in oncology.  This partnership is an important milestone for ImmunoGen – it enables us to develop more products, faster,
and at lower cost, than would be possible on our own and it provides us with a global commercialization partner for the collaboration products.  We now are
able to expand our efforts in the development of naked antibody therapeutics, enhance our effector molecule program for Tumor-Activated Prodrug (TAP)
immunoconjugate products, and significantly increase our product development programs overall.”
 
Under the terms of the agreement, ImmunoGen will receive an upfront payment of $12 million and more than $50 million in committed research funding over
a three-year period.  Aventis has an option to extend the research collaboration for one to two years.  An extension of the collaboration could bring the total
committed funding to ImmunoGen up to $99 million.  Additionally, for each product candidate, ImmunoGen can receive milestone payments of between $20
million and $30 million based on development and regulatory achievements as well as royalties on commercial sales.  Aventis is responsible for and pays for
the manufacturing of clinical and commercial materials.  Additional financial terms were not disclosed.
 
Aventis is a world leader in oncology.  Its oncology product portfolio includes TaxotereÒ, one of the most widely used chemotherapeutics in the world.  In
2002, Taxotere sales worldwide exceeded €1 billion.
 
In addition to Taxotere, Aventis markets CamptoÒ (irinotecan), a reference treatment for advanced colorectal cancer, in countries other than Japan and North
America, and AnzemetÒ (dolasetron mesylate), a 5HT3 inhibitor for the treatment of chemotherapy induced nausea and vomiting that is marketed in North
America.
 
Aventis also has a rich pipeline of investigational oncology compounds, including AVE-8062, a unique antivascular agent; flavopiridol, a novel cell cycle
inhibitor; new taxoids, that may offer benefits over available taxanes; and the ALVAC cancer vaccines being developed through the vaccines business of
Aventis.
 
In 2002, Aventis entered a global agreement with Genta Inc. to jointly develop and commercialize GenasenseÔ, an antisense compound designed to decrease
the synthesis of Bcl-2, a protein which prevents apoptosis.  Genasense, currently in late-stage development, may enhance the effectiveness of current anti-
cancer treatments.
 
ImmunoGen has comprehensive capabilities in the creation of antibody-based anti-cancer therapeutics, including expertise and intellectual property related to
the identification and validation of biological targets for cancer treatments, the development and humanization of monoclonal antibodies, and the creation of
potent cell-killing agents designed for antibody delivery to cancer cells.  ImmunoGen’s proprietary Tumor-Activated Prodrug (TAP) technology provides the
company with the flexibility to develop a product candidate as either an
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immunoconjugate (products that use the antibody to deliver a potent cell-killing agent to the cancer cell) or as a naked antibody (products in which the
antibody alone inhibits or kills the cancer cell) depending on the target.
 
About Aventis
Aventis is dedicated to treating and preventing disease by discovering and developing innovative prescription drugs and human vaccines.  In 2002, Aventis
generated sales of € 17.6 billion, invested € 3.1 billion in research and development and employed approximately 71,000 people in its core business.  Aventis
corporate headquarters are in Strasbourg, France.  For more information, please visit: www.aventis.com
 
About ImmunoGen, Inc.
ImmunoGen, Inc. develops targeted anti-cancer therapeutics.  The Company has extensive expertise and intellectual property related to identification of
biological targets for cancer treatments, development and humanization of monoclonal antibodies, and creation of potent cell-killing agents designed for
antibody delivery to cancer cells.  The Company’s TAP technology uses tumor-targeting antibodies to deliver a highly potent, cell-killing agent specifically to
cancer cells.  Two ImmunoGen-developed TAP products have begun clinical evaluation: cantuzumab mertansine and huN901-DM1/BB-10901; the latter is
licensed to British Biotech in certain territories.  Several companies are developing products using TAP technology licensed from ImmunoGen: Millennium
Pharmaceuticals (MLN2704), Boehringer Ingelheim (bivatuzumab mertansine), and Genentech (Trastuzumab-DM1).  For more information, visit
ImmunoGen’s website at www.ImmunoGen.com.
 
Statements in this news release other than historical information are forward-looking statement subject to risks and uncertainties.  Actual results could differ
materially depending on factors such as the availability of resources, the timing and effects of regulatory actions, the strength of competition, the outcome of
litigation and the effectiveness of patent protection.  Additional information regarding risks and uncertainties is set forth in the current Annual Report on
Form 20-F of Aventis on file with the Securities and Exchange Commission.
 



ImmunoGen Contacts:
 
Carol Hausner (Investors)

 

Peter Holmberg (Media)
Senior Director, Investor Relations and
Corporate Communications

 

Rx Communications Group, LLC

Tel: +1 617 995 2500
 

Tel: +1 917 322 2164
info@ImmunoGen.com

 

pholmberg@rxir.com
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Schedule 1.8

 
Approved Subcontractors

 
Related to Production of GMP Grade Materials
 
Subcontractor

 
Address

 
Service Provided

*****
 

*****
 

*****
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EXHIBIT 31.1
 

CERTIFICATIONS
 

I, Mitchel Sayare, certify that:
 

1.  I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of ImmunoGen, Inc.;
 

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 

4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
 

a)  designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to
ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;
 

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

c) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent
fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and
 

5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 

a)  all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably
likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 

b)  any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting.
 
Date: November 14, 2003
 
/s/ MITCHEL SAYARE

 

Mitchel Sayare
 
Chairman of the Board of Directors, Chief Executive Officer and President

 



EXHIBIT 31.2
 

CERTIFICATIONS
I, Gregg D. Beloff, certify that:
 
1.  I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of ImmunoGen, Inc.;
 
2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the

statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;
 
3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the

financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;
 
4.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in

Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the registrant and have:
 
a)  designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to

ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

 
b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the

effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 
c) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent

fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the
registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

 
5.  The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to

the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):
 
a)  all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably

likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
 
b)  any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal control

over financial reporting.
 

Date: November 14, 2003
 
/s/ GREGG D. BELOFF

 

Gregg D. Beloff
Chief Financial Officer and Vice President, Finance

 



EXHIBIT 32
 

Certification
 

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002
 

(Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code)
 
 
Pursuant to section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of section 1350, chapter 63 of title 18, United States Code), each

of the undersigned officers of ImmunoGen, Inc., a Massachusetts corporation (the “Company”), does hereby certify, to such officer’s knowledge, that:
 
The Quarterly Report for the period ended September 30, 2003 (the “Form 10-Q”) of the Company fully complies with the requirements of Section

13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, and the information contained in the Form 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and results of operations of the Company.

 
Dated: November 14, 2003 /s/ MITCHEL SAYARE

 

  
 

Mitchel Sayare
 

Chairman of the Board of Directors, Chief Executive
Officer and President

  
  

Dated: November 14, 2003 /s/ GREGG D. BELOFF
 

  
 

Gregg D. Beloff
 

Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
 


